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Aruitoxt provided by Eic:

The subcommitiees met, ursaant to
Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. Robert Stafford (chairman of
the Senate Subcommittee on Education, Arts and Humanities) pre-

v STUDENT LOAN CONS()LII’)ATI()N P

WEDNESDAY, MAY 25, 1983
Housk 01‘ REPRESENTATIVES, SUBCOMMITTEE ON POSTSEC-
ONDARY EbpucaTion, ComMmiTTEE ON EDUCATION AND
L.aBoR, JoINT WITH SENATE SUBCOMMITTEE ON Ebpuca-
TION, ARTS AND HUMANITIES OF THE SENATE'CoMMIT-
TEE ON LABOR AND HuMAN RESOGRCES,

. Washington, D.C.
call, at 2 p.m,, in room 2175,

siding.

ing

I will enter my statement in the record® We have some time

Members present: Senator Stafford, Representatives Simon,
Harrison, Jeffords, and Petri. J :

Mr. SiMoN [presiding]. The Subcommittee
secondary Education and Senate Subcommittee on Education, hold-

a joint hearing on student loan consolidation..

problems here. -

[Opening statements of Chairman Simon and Chairman Stafford

follow:] : 4

OrENING STATEMENT OF Hon. Paul SiMoN, A REPRESENTATIVE IN CONGRESS From
THE STATE OF ILLINOIS, AND CHAIRMAN, SUBCOMMITTEE ON POSTSECONDARY EDUCA-

.

TION

Today the Subcommittee on Postéecondary Education and t
ted on Education hold a joing"Arts and Humanities hearing o
dation. By law only the Student Loan Marketing Associati
authorily to consolidate student loans and that authority is ¢
August 1, 1983, Stale guarantee agencies have req
consolidate loans.

The Education Amendments of 1980 (Public Law 96-374) granted loan consolida-
tion authority exclusively to Sallie Mae. Over the last two years the Association has «
used that authority to consolidate over $100 million in Guaranteed Student Loans
(GSL's) and National Direct Student Loans (NDSI's). During consideration of the
Student Financial Assistance Technical Amendments of 1982, state guarantee agen-

Y

report on its findings to Congress

The report language accompanying Public Law 97-301 specifically directed GAO

Flowin;,r issues in regard to consolidation: The need for legisla-
tive change in the current authority under which Sallie Mae consolidates loans, spe-
cifically addressing whether or got Sallié Mae has the capabilily when consolidating
loans, to average varying interest rates of three percent and five percent; the capa-
bility of state lonn guarantee agencies to consolidate student loans and the capabil-
ity of state agencies to average varying interest rates of such loans which may in-

to investigate the fo

%

h

» . o .

‘(’)f the House on Post-

3

Senate Subcommit:
sﬁudent loan consoli-
(Sallie Mae) has the
eduled to expire on
uested lh‘e statutory authority to

- cies requested the authority to consolidate student loans. At that time, the Congress
was unsure of the implications of such an extension on Federal costs and had not as
yet reviewed the activities of Sallie Mae in their cofsolidation program. The confer-
ees decided that before any further legislation was enacted regarding consolidation.
the General Accounting Office should review the loan consolidation program and

-

N
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rates of three to (ive percent; the potential sav-
ings to the Federal (;overnmenexpunding consohidation authority to state guar-
antee agencies; and the need for 3minimum aggregate loan size under consolidation
provisions and what limits would pe appropriate.
The Subcommittees also requested that GAO provide general cost estimates on
how .much loan consolidation costs the Fieral Government as it is presently car-
ried out by Sallie Mae and how much it wolld cost if state guarantec agencics were
also allowed to consolidate loans. GAQ has fgw completed the requested study and
are here today to report on their findings. AtNhe same time that the Congress re-
quested the stady, it_also provided that Sallie Mae's authority to consolidate loans , .
would lapse on August 1, 1953 without further legislative action. However, the Gon-
gress made it clear that they did not intend for the authority to expire but that they
did feel 1t was neces8ary to review the existing law arfd potentially réwrite the stat-
ute.
Based on the information we receive here today our Subcommittees will be meet-
g to discuss what direction we want to take in providing for future consolidation
authority. Along with GAO we will also be hearing from Dr. Edward Elmendor{, the
€ Assistant Secrethry for Postsecondary Education, on the Department of Education’s
pusition on lean consolidation . - .
At this time I would tike to welcome Senator Stafford and the Subcommittee on
Education, Arts and Humanities and ask Scnator Stafford for any opening remarks
- he would like to make. ;

clude NDSL loans carrying int

>

.

“OpPENING STATEMENT OF [loN. Ropert T Starrorp, A U.S. SENATOR FROM THE STATE -
oF VERMONT AND CHAIRMAN, SENATE SUBCOMMITTEE ON EBI -"ATION, A{th AND
HumaNites ‘ . : — .o

Fam pleased to join with wmy good friend and colleague, Paul Simon, to conduct
this joint heaYing/on the findings of the General Accounting Office with respect to
\ the consgolidation of student loans. !

In order to provide some background to this study, I would like to review the his-
tory of loan consolidation. In the Education” Amendments of 1980, Congress author-
azed the Student Loan Mdrketing Association (Sallie Mae) to consolidate the loans of
Students with multiple loans’ exceeding $5,000, or with a single loan exceeding '
“B7.500. in order to afford students with high indebtedness the opportunity to reduce
‘their monthly payments by extending thé repayment period, Congress in 1980 glear-
ly intended loan consolidation as a mechanism for preventing defaults. N

In considering last year's higher education technical amendments, the Senate

\ heard testimony from certain State loan guarantee agencies indicating that they
could consohdate loans op the same basis as Sallie Mae, at lower cost to. Federal
Government. and that they should be afforded €an opportunity to compete in the
consolidation magket with Sallie Mae. The provisions of the Senate version of the
technical amendment, S. 2852, included such authority by the States. In conference,
however. it became clear that there would be no final agreement between the House

" and Senate as to'consolidation, since it was difficult to gauge the costs of consolida-
tign under Sallic Mae. and would equally be difficult to assess the prospective costs
of ‘consolidation under a'State agency-managed programn.

Therefore, in an cffort to achieve compromise, the conferces agreed tg suspend
Sallie Mae’s comsolidation authority as of August 1, 1983 and to direct GAO to con- -
duct a study of consolidation, its current and projected costs, and the capability of
.the States to consolidate loans on the same basis as Sallic Mae. I do not believe%hal__
the conferees intended to allow loan consolidation to lapsg absolutely—we clearly
itended that the GAQ report provide us with accurate information so that an_ade-
quate program of consolidation could be authorized by C,ﬂ;ress in advance ol the
Adgust | deadline. .

We are pleased to have Mr. Morton Henig of GAQ with us today to discuss the

N findings of the study My good friend Dr. Edward Illmendorf of the Department of -
Iiducation will be our second witness. We look forward to your testimony and your T

help in our efforts to come up with a strong program of consolidation.

Mr. Simon. Senator Stafford will be here shortly. I am, going teo O
turn-the chair over to my colleague from Vermont—thts may be an . '
all Vermont day here very shortly—temporarily until Senator Staf-
ford gets here, and theén we will hear from the witnesses.

l | 8
ERIC - ) b ‘ o
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My apologies to the w1tnesses You have been around here long

enough to understand. .
Mr. Jerrorps. Fine. ‘
¥ Mr. Henig, why don’t you proceed'? .

STATEMENT OF MORTON HENIG, SENIOR ASSOCIATE DIRECTOR,
HUMAN RESOURCES DIVISION, GENERAL ACCOUNTING
QFFICE, ACCOMPANIED BY ALBERT B. JOJOKIAN, GROUP DI-
RECTOR, HUMAN RESOURCES DIVISION; WILLIAM A, SCHHMIDT,

¢ PROJECT MANAGER, HUMAN RESOURCES DIVISION; DONNA
BEILVIN; AND JOAN DENOME

Mr. HENiG. Thank you, Mr. Jeffords.

I would like to introduce other members of the General Account-
ing Office who are here with me today. My name is Morton Henig.
I am a senior associate director for the General Accounting Office.
On my’left 1s Mr. Al Jojokian, group director with the Human Re-

.sources Division, GAO. On my right is Bill Schmidt. He is the pro-

gram manager, project ‘manager for this particular assignment. I
also’have behind me Donna Beilvin and Joan Denome, who. worked
on the assignment.

I have a stiatement for the record which has been submitted. 1
will try and summarize that a little bit, take a little less time.

We are pleased to be here today to discuss ‘the information you
requested us to develop concerning the Student Loan Marketing
Association’s [Sallie Mae’s] loan consolidation program. Specifical-
‘ly, we were requested to develop information on program costs and
the program’s impact on defaultd, and on potential legislative
modifications affecting program expansion, Interest rates, mini-
mum Joan amounts, ahd interest sybsidies. -

The loan consolidation program is intended to reduce a borrow-
er's repayment burden by providing extended repayment periods
and lcwer monthly payments on relatively high student loan in-
..debtednéss. Repayment terms-jointly developed by Sallie Mae and
the Department of Education can vary from 10 years for loans of
* up to $7,500 to 20 years for loans totaling more than $16,000.

Sallie Mae began consolidating student loans in November 1981, -
and by December 31, 1982, had consolidated 10,648 loans totaling
$66.9 million from 5,473 borrowers. About 70 percent of the consoli-
dated lbans exceeded $10,000. By Apnl 1983, the consohdated loans
had reached $107 million. N

~Sallie Mae offers three repayment options to borrowers partlcl-_
pating in the loan consolidation program—a straight line, or con-
stant, monthly repayment schedur and two types of graduated re-
payment schedul The repayment periods for consolidated loans
are generall e%r than for the original loans and monthly pay-
ments are o ten substantlally less' than those for the original loans.

Sallie Mae estimates that the consolidation program will cgst the
Federal Government an additional $2 million, or 5 percent, for
every $100 million of loans consolidated. The additional costs would
be spread over the life of the consolidated loans, which currently
averages about 13 years. The estimated cost increase is based on
the expectation that the added special allowance payments result-
ing from extended repayment periods will exceed savings resulting

2 ot !
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from fewer defaults. The cost estimates can change with variations

5 in a number of factors affecting special allowances including Treas-

ury bill yields that are the basis for setting special allowances:

Volume of consolidated NDSL’s, that is, national direct student
loans, -which are not eligible for special allowances until they are
consolidated; and

Aggregate borrower indebtedness which affects the length of the -
repayment periods and thus special allowance payments.

Because the program has been operating for only about 1 year, it
1s too early to assess-the program’s impact o# loan defaults. The

+ annual default ratefor the GSL program is 10 percent of the out-

standing loan value and for the NDSL program, it is 11 percent.

Department of Education and State student loan program offi~
cials expect the consolidaticn program to reduce defaults.

We reviewed the potential legislative modifications to Sallie
Mae’s loan consolidation program in terms of four issues; )

One, extending loan consolidation authority to States; two, deter-
mining individual loan interest rates by averaging the rates of the
loans being consolidated; three, revising or eliminating the aggre-
gate qualifying loan balance requirements; and four, limiting spe-
cial allowance payments to thg consolidated loans that were eligi-
ble for the allowance prior to consolidation. -

*We identified 33 programs within the States with sccondary
market or direct’student loan authority. These programs would be
the most likely to participate in loan consolidations. We contacted
officials of the 33 programs, and 20 indicated that their programs
would participate in the loan consolidation program if authority
was extended to the States. We visited 8 of the 20 ptograms to
obtain additional information on theiy interest and on their capa-
bility to administer consbdlidated loans.

Six had issued tax-exempt bonds to fund thejr secondary market
and direct loan programs. One was considering issuing such bonds.
and the other used State pension funds to finance its operatiors
but had authority to issue bonds.)Recent bond issues by the pro-
grams have ranged from $92 mpihon, te~$140 million, and in early
1983 the outstanding bonds totaled about $300 million.

- -A preliminary estimate provided by Sallie Mae indicates a poten-
tial nationwide market for loan consolidations of between $300 mil-
lion and $500 1aillion, and $300 million in new consolidations annu-
ally after a few ygqrs. . . i

Using the assumption that demand for loan consolidation would
~ be related to outstanding GSL's, we computed each Staté’s percent-
¥ age share of total outstanding GSL’s at September 30, 1982. We es-

- timate that potential consolidations for the eight States would

range_from abott $3 million to $51 million and total about $14(

million.

Because these ranges are well within the ranges of recent bond
issues by the State programs we visited, it appears the programs
could raise the funds needed to consolidate loans. ’

All of the State programs we visited used automated systems to
service student loans, and according to officials of the programs,
their functions for servicing, purchasing, and making student loans
are similar to those required to consolidate loans. Any modifica-

10
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tions to allpw for extended repaynl(rn;;',?pf.qods could be readily im-

plemented.

None of the State programs offer borrowers graduated repay-

ment schedules—optiens that have been selected by about 75 per-
cent .of those who obtained consolidated loans from Sallie Mae.

However, each of the programs expressed the opinien that the tech-
nical expertise to develop annd implement such optiong is available.

Whether the functions involved in the State secondary market or
direct loan activities are similar to those required for loan consoli-
dation is, according to Sallie Mae, questionable. In any event, on
the basis of gur discussions with the State programs and Sallie

Mae, it would seem that the program

tive z}nd technical capability to oper
gram} -

We attempted to estimate the pot

costs of extending laan consolidation

« unable to come wp with-anything ne

the difficulty in obtaifing reliable i

s could obtain the administra-
‘ate a loan consolidation pro-

ential net impact on Federal
authority té States. We were
ar a precise figure because of
nformation on several of the

elements needed to compute relative costs. There is a cost factor
that would need to be addressed, however, if consolidation author-

ity is extended to the States; that is,
ance on GSL’s that would be paid to
the Department of eEducation. Since

the original loans, the desirability of

the administrative cost allow-
the Stite guaranty agency by

the Federal (Government has’
already paid the l-percent ‘administrative cost on the face value of

haying the Government pay a
g

“second fee for the consolidation of these same loans is something

©  the Congress may wish to consider.
. State program officials agreed tha

t if consolidation authority is

extended, criteria should be established to insure borrowers full
access to consolidations and to limit repayment periods based on

aggregate loan amounts.

According to officials of three of the State programs we visited, if
consolidation authority is extended some- State guaranty agencies

may be unwilling to insure loans of

fered for consolidation which

. were originally insured by another gaarantor because they did no

receive insurance fees on the original

loans.

- v . . 4
- Officials gfall the programs indicated that requirements shoul
be established to insure that borrowers are able to consolidate al

cligible loans with a participating

program. In those instances

‘when a guaranty agency is unwilling to insure all of a borrower’s
eligible loans, the Department of -Education could offer to insure

the loans directly as it now does with

Sallie Mac.

" With regard to loan repayment periods’ according to Sallie Mae
and Department of Education officials such limits are needed to

prevent unreasonable increases in

special  allowance payments

which could result if borrowers with relatively Iow loan amoun g
-could extend repayment periods up to the 20-year maximum. State

program officials agreed.
Both Sallic Mae and officials of m

ost State programs we visited

*

indicated that their programs have or could acquire the capability"
to determine consglidated loan interest rates by averaging, ¢n a
weighted basis, the interest rates of the underlying loans. However,
Sallie Mae and Department of Education officials stated that such

a modilication would cause administ

]

T
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, cial allowance billing process and limit the Department’s ability to
assure itself that lenders’ billings are accurate. -
According to Sallie Mae, 93~percent of their consolidated loans
through December 1982 'were, GSL’s and 7 percent were NDSL's.
The average weighted interest rate was 6.7 percent. At this rate,
Federal costs on a consolidated loan volume of $100 million would
increase by about $300,0%0: or about 4 percent, in the first year,
and by $2.9 million, or about 5 percent, over the life of the loans.
The modification would be likely to induce more borrowers to con-
soliddte NDSL'’s, but we cannot estimate how much. )
Determining consolidated n interest rates by averaging the
original loan rates would decrease special allowances associate
with 9 percent\GSL’s because these loans are now consolidated at 7- .
percent. Sallie Mae and the Department of Education favor a
change to prevent borrowers from receiving windfall interest rate
reductions by consolidating 9 percent' loans at 7 percent. - .
To qualify for consolidated loan borrowers must have loans total-
"ing more than $5,000 from more than one lender, or totaling more
than $7,500 from one lender. While borrowers with ‘more than
$7,500 can choose extended repayment periods, those with less are
limited to thﬁ same 10-year maximum—as-provided for GSL's. How-
ever, the mohthly payments to Sallie Mae by a borrower with less
. than ‘3&500 will usually be lower than they would have been with-
n out consolidation because, due to lean servicing costs, each of the
origirtal lenders would usually require at least the $50 m'{.nimum
pa{‘ment provided for GSL'’s. -
he $5,000 yualifying level is* approximately consistent with the
current GSL requirements that provide for a minimum monthly-re-
payment of $50 and a maximum term of 10 years. Providing more’
liberal repayment terms to lower jndebtedness, borrowers by elimi-
nating or reducing the qualifying ‘amounts would increase %‘ederal
special allowance payments. -
Officials at most of the eighg State programs we vigited agréed
that minimum qualifying criteria is needed to prevent)excessive in-
creases in special alldwance payments. i
Because the total monthly payments of borrowers with multible
loans who dg not gualify for consolidation can be inordinately high
because of lehders’ minimum payment requirements, several States
had established procedures to alleviate the burden.
I would like to point out that relatively few borrowers with lower
?debtedness levels have chosen to consolidate their loans. Of the
onsolidated loans made through December 1982, about, 13 percent
- %veor((a)oloess than $8,000, and about T} percent were greater than
We do not believe the current qualifying loan amounts are un-
reasondble.- If the specific levels are eliminated, one way to limit
Federal costs would be to require a minimum monthly payment
similar to that in the GSL program.
The last point we were to deal ‘with was limiting special allow-
ances on consolidation loans. While lending institutions are not eli-
ible for Federal special allowances on the original NDSL'’s, Sallie
ae receives such\g'llowances when the loans are consolidated.
Sallie Mae estimates that by eliminating Federal special allow- -
ances on.the NDSL portion .of consalidated loans, the allowances
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paid on a $100 million consolidated loan portfolio would decrease
™ by $500,000 in the first year and by $4.3 million over the life of the
loans. : I :
According to Sallie Mae and Department of Educatioh officials,
. there are certain benefits to the Federal Government of consolidat-
i ing NDSL’s which should be.considered when assessing the equity
" of paying special allowances on these loan amounts, including prob-
able redyction of NDSL defaults and reduced Federal contributions
needed to replenish college revolving funds as a result of early re-
payment of NDSL's. ‘

While paying special allowances on the NDSL portion of consoli-
dated loans may be inequitable to the Federal ‘Government, offi-
cials of the eight State programs we visited indicated that eliminat-
ing such payments would give State programs little incentive to -
consolidate these loans. The officials pointed out that the cest of
money and operating expenses agsociated with consolidating
NDSL's would probably exceed borrower interest payments, in
which case they would not be willing to accept the loans.

Thus, if special allowances are eliminated on the NDSL portion
of consolidated loans and borrower interest rates are not increased
to compensate for the lost Federal payments, borrowers may be

“-‘unable to consolidate all of their loans. Of the 5,473 borrowers who
consolidated their loans through December 1982, 1,601 included
NDSL loans totaling $5 million. If NDSL’s were not eligible for
consolidation, 442 of these borrowers would not have qualified for
loan consolidation. , ‘

Messrs. Chairmen, this concludes my statement. We will be
happy to answer any questions you or members of your subcommit-
.tees may have. ’

[Prepared statemént of Morton E. Henig follows:]

Preraren STATEMENT oF MorTON E. HENIG, SENIOR ASSOCIATE DireCTOR, HUMAN
. ) Rmognu-;s- DivisioN, US. GENERAL ACCOUNTING OFFICE

Messrs. Chairmen and members of the subcommittee, we are pleased to be here
today to discuss the information you requested us to develop concerning the Stuilent
Loan Marketing Association’s (Sallie Mae’s) loan consolidation program. Speci
ly. we were requested to develop information on program cost§ and the progra
impact on defaults, and on potential legislative modifications affecting progr

S pansion, interest rates, minimum loan amounts, and intefest subsidies?
@

- BACKGROUND

Sallie Mae is authorized by the Education Amendments of 1980 to make new
loans and extend the repayment terms of Guaranteed Student Loans (GSL’s) and
National Direct Student Loans tNDSL’s) Lg borrowers whose aggregate indebtedness
exceeds $5.000 from more than one lende}, loan program, or guarantor, or exceeds
$7,500 from one lender. The act sets the interest rate on consolidatle loans at 7 per-
cent. Sallie Mae is paid a special allowance by the Federal Government on the full
amount of the loans to compensate for the difference between market and consoli-
dated loan interest rates. ‘ ' .

The loan consolidation program is intended to reduce a borrower’s repayment
burden by providing extended repayment periods and lower monthiy payments on
relatively high student Joan indebtedness. Repayment terms jointly developed by
Sallie Mae and the Department of Educatior can vary from 10 years for loans of up
Lo $7.500 to 20 years for loans totaling more than $16,000. Under the act, only Sallie
Mae can provide consolidated loans to student loan borrowers. Sallie Mae is a pri-
vate for-profit L;g{'poration created in 1972 to provide liquidity for student loans by

N providing a secohdary market and related activities [or lenders participating in in-
sured student loan programs. . :

+
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Salhie Mae began consolidating student loans in November 1981, and by December

31, 1982, had consolidated 10,648 loans totaling $66.9 million from 5,473 borrowers.

Of these loans, 8.624 totaling $61.9 million were GSL's and 2,024 totaling $5 nnllion
were NDSL's. The consolidated loans averaged $12,232. ThesGSL's that were consoli-
dated averaged 37,179 and the NDSL.'s averaged $2,488. About 70 percent of the con-
solidated loans- exceeded $10,000. By April 1983, loans consolidated by Sallic Mae
had reached $107 million. .

Sallie Mae offers three repayment options to horrowers participating in the loan
consolidation program --a straight line, or constant, monthly repayment schedule,
and two types of graduated repayimnent schedules where by initial monthly payments
are significantly lower than the straight line option but increase every 24 nonths.
However, while repayment periods depend on the aggregate loan amount, the repay-
ment periods for consolidated loans are generally longer than for the original loans
and monthly payments are often substantially less than those for the original loans.
For example, borrowers with aggregate indebtedness between $11,000-and $16,000
can elect to repay the loan over a period up to 16 years, rather than the 10 year
maximum permitted by the GSL and NDSL programs. Typically, a borrower in this
range would pay $166 monthly under the original loans and $96 monthly if the
loans are consolidated —an average monthly reduction of $70.

COSTS O CONSOLIDATED LOAN I'ROGRAM AND 1TS IMPACT ON DEFAULTS

Sallic Mae estimates that the consolidation program will cost the Federal Govern-
nient an additional $2 million, or 5 percent, for ¢very $100 million of loans consoli-
dated. The additional costs would be spread over the life of the consolidated loans,
which currently averages about 13 years.

The estimated increase in costs is based on several assumptions. Sallie Mae's esti-
mate assumes that investors incur no expenses associated with the purchases of
Sallie Mae gecurities which are to provide funds for consolidated loans, and there-
fore pay Federal income taxes on the full amount of interest earned. To the extent
that investors’ expenses reduce taxable income, Sallie Mae's estimate ofg Federal
costs for the program would increase. The estimated cost increase is also based on
the expectation that the added special allowance payments resulting from extended
repayment periods will exceed savings resulting from fewei*delaults. Sallie Mae
used a 2 percent default rate for consolidated loans in. its estimate of tqtal program
costs, a figure they believe is conservative. The cost estimates can changé with vari-
ations in a nuinber of factors affecting special allowances including, Treasury Bill
yields that are the basis for setting special allowances which rise or fall with-
changes in the yields; volume of consolidated NDSLs which are not eligible for spe-
cial allowances until they are consolidated; and aggregate borrower indebtedness
which affects the length of the repayment periods and thus special allowance pay-
ments. ’ g

With respect to Sallie Mae’s default experience, as of December 1982, three con-
solidated loans totalling about $32,000 went into default—Iless that one-tenth of one
percent of Sallie Mae's consolidated loan portfolio of about $66.9 million at that
time. However, because the program has been operating for only about one year, it
18 too earlqy to assess the program’s impact on loan defaults. The annual default rate
for the GSL program is 10 percent of the outstanding loan value and for the NDSL
program it is 11 percent. N

Department of Education and State student loan program officials expect the con-*
solidation program to reduce defaults. However, a Department official indicated it
would be misleading to compare consolidation default rates with GSL and NDSL de-
faull rates because default rates tend to decline as the level of borrower indebted-
ness increases. According to a 1982 study prepared for the National Commission on
Student Financial Assistance, borrowers with cumulative GSls debts of over $9,000—
the cumulative debt of most borrowers at the time of repayment is less than
$3,000—default less often than borrowers with smaller loan amounts.

ASSESSMENT OF PROGRAM ALTERNATIVES

We received the potential legislative modifications to Sallie Mae’s loan consolida-
tion program in terms of four issues: (1) extending loan consolidation authority to
g) determining individual loan interest rates by averaging the rates of the
loans being consolidated, (3) revising or eliminating the aggregate gualifying loan
balance requirements, and (4) limiting special allowance payments to the consolidat-
ed loans that were eligible for the allowance prior to consolidation.
We developed informatjon on the administrative and financial capability of State
programs to administer.loan consolidations, the administrative and financial capa-
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bility of Sallie Mac and State programs to administer consolidations with the poten-
tial legislative modifications, and the impact of the potential legislative modifica-
tions on Federal costs.

. . : . . . . By
Extending loan consolidation authority to State programs

With the assistance of the Nationah Council of Higher Education Loan Programs,
Inc., we identified 33 programs with the States with sccondary market or direct stu-
dent loan authorjty. According to a council offigial, these programs would be the
most likely to participate in loan consolidations because they have established fund-
mg mechamsms and the authority to buy, sell, and/or make student loans. We con-
tacted officials of the 33 programs by phone to determine their interest in partici-
pating in the student loan consolidation program. QOfficials from 20 of the State pro-
grams indicated that their programs would partiaipate in the loan consolidation pro-
gram 1f authorily was extended to the States. We visited 8 of the 20 State programs
to obtain additional information on their interest in the consolidation program and
on their programs’ administrative and financial capability to adn‘zinister consolidat-
ed loang. These BPrograms provide a balance in terms of loan volume, funding
levels. and geographic locat tons.

We sent letters to the rdmainingd 12 programs requesting similar information, and
received responses from four. Because the information they provided was more gen-
¢ral than we were able to obtain through personal discussions, their response are
not mcluded in our analysis. However, they generally agreed with the views ex-
pressed by officials of the 8 programs we visited.

Six of the eight programs visited had issued tax-exempt bonds to fund their sec--
ondary market and direct loan programs. Of the remaining two, one was ronsider-
g issuing such bonds to fund a secondary market program which had been author”
1ized but not yet implemented, and the other used state pension fungs to finance its
operations but had huthowty to issue bonds i’?ncce&any to met funding require-
ments. Recent bond issues by the programs have ranged from $92 million to $140
miullion, and in early 1983 the outstanding bonds totalled about $800 million. Offi-
cials from each of the programs we visited believed that necessary funds ¢puld be
raised to meet demand for loan consolidations. '

According to Department of Education and State program officials, adequate in-
formation s not readily available to identify borrowers who are eligible for loan
consolidation in order to develop adcurate estimates of the potential volume of loans
that would be consolidated. However, a preliminary estimate provided by Sallie Mae
mndicates a potential nationwide market for loan consolidations of betwden $300 mil-
lion and $500 million, and $300 million in new consolidations annually after a few
years. .

Using the assumption that demand for loan consolidation would be related to out-
standing GSL's because they comprised over 90 percent of the consolidations, we
computed each State's percentage share of togal outstanding GSL's at September 30,
1982, By applying the percentages to the preliminary market estimates, we estimate
that potential consalidations for the eight States, based on Sallie Mac's lower na-
tionwide estimate of $300 million, range from about $3 million to about $31 million
and total about $84 million. At Sallic Mac's higher estimate of $500 million. the
range would be abeut $4 million to $31 million and total $140 million.

Because these ranges are well within the ranges of recent bond issues by the
State programs we visited, it appears that—as State officials indicated—thé pro-
grams could raise the funds needed 1o consolidate loans. In any event, borrowers
encountering unanticipated funding limitations at the State progratns could consoli-
date their loans with Sallic Mae. . ' :

All of the State programs we visited nsed automated systems to service student
loans. Four had developed their own systems and four contracted with organizations-
that had student loan processing systems available to interested servicers. These"
systems maintain demographie and loan history data, provide for merging multiple
loans to estabiish single monthly payments over terms based on loan amounts. gen-
erate monthly billings, account for collections, initiate delinquency followup actions,

© and produce information needed to prepare special allowance billffigs to the Depart-
-

ment of Education. .

Of the eight State programs we visited: four operated secondary maskets whereby
they purchased student loans from lendsrs to improve lender liquidity; two operated
dircet Joan programs under which loans were made to students who otherwise could
not obtain them; one operated both a secondary market and direct loan program;
and once had the suthority to operate a secondary market but had not exercised it.
In addition to servicing the loans in their portfdlios, Tour of these programs had con-
tracis to service GSL's in Sallie Mae's secondary market portfolio.

JAruiToxt Provided by ERIC
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According to officials of the eight State programs, their program functions for
servicing, purchasing, and making student loang are sinfilar to those required to
consolidate loans, and any modifications to allow for extended repayment periods
could be readily implemented’ The officials pointed out that: Their practice of merg-
ing borrowers' multiple loans (many students receive more than one loan during
their education) to provide a single monthly repayment over periods which vary
with loan amounts is a form of consolidation simnilar to that-practiced by Sallie Mae;
and their seccondary market and direct loan activities involve procedures similar Lo
those nceded to consohidate loans whereby foan payblf amounts are obtained, checks
are prepared and forwarded to lenders {o repay student loans, and new loans are
cstablished. = * -

None of the State programs offer borrowers graduated repayment schedules-—-op-
lions that have been selected by about 75 percent of those who obtained consolidat-
ed loans from Sallie Mae. However, each of the. programs cxpressed the opinion that s
the technical expertise to develop ard implemeny, such options is available. On the
other hand, an official obscrved that if states d9ld not offer graduated repayment
schedules—which would generally increase borrower interest costs and Federal spe-
cial allowance payments--—-students wanting graduated repayments could obtain con-
solidated loans from Sailic Mae.

Whether the functions involved in the State secondary market or direct loan ac-
tivities are sitmlar to those required for loan consolidation is, according to Salhe
Mae, questionable. In any event, on the basis of our discussions with the State pro-
grams and Sallie Mae, it would seem that the programs could obtain the adminis-
trative and technical capability to operate a loan consolidation program.

We attempted to estimate {he potential net impact on Federal costs of extending
loan consolidation authority to States. We were unable to come up with anything
nesdr a precise figure because of the difficulty in obtaining reliable information on
several of the elements needed to compute relative costs. There i1s a cost factor that
would need to be addressed, however, if consolidation authority is extended to the
States; that is. the administrative cost allowance on GSl.'s that would be paid to the
State guaranty agency by the Department of Education. Since the Federal Govern-
ment has already paid the 1 percent.administrative cost on the face value of the
original loans, the desirability of having the Government pay a second fee for the
consolidation of these same loans is something the Congress may wish to consider.

State program officials agreed that il consolidation authority is extended, criteria
should be established to ensure borrowers full access to consolidations and to hmit
repayment periods based on aggregate loan amounts. !

According to officials of three of the State programs we visited, if consolidation
authority 15 extended some State guaranty agencies may be unwilling to insure
loans offerqd for consolidation which were originally insured by another guarantor
because they did not receive insurance fees on the original loans. Of the $66.9 mil-
lion of loans consolidated by Sallie Mae through December 1982, $33.4 million (49.9
percent) were made with borrowers consolidating multiple loans insured by more
than one gilarantor. .

Officials of all the programs indicated that requirements should be established to
ensure that borrowers are able ty consolidate all eligible loans with a participating
program. An official of onc program suggested that participating programs offer
consolidation only to those borrowers who obtained at least one of the onginal lbans

- in that program’s jurisdiction. In those instances when a guaranty agency is unwill-
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'ing to insure all of a borrower’s eligible loans. the Department of Kducation could
offer to insure the loans directly as 1t now does with Sallie Mae. .
With regard to loan repayment periods based on aggregate loan amounts, accord-
ing to Sallic Mae and Department &f Education officials such limits are needed to
revent unreasonable increases in special allowance payments which could result if
ﬁorrowers with relatively low loan amounts could extend repayment periods up to
the 20-year maximum. State program officials agreed with this.

Averaging interest rates

Because all consolidated loans made by Sallic Mae currently carry a T-percent in-
terest rate, borrowers who consolidate NDSL loans made at 3, 4, or 5 percent experi-
ence an interest rate increase, while those who consolidate 9-percent GSI. loans ex-
perience a decrease.

Both Sallie Mae and officials of most State programs we visited indicated that
their programs havé or could acquire the capability to determine consolidated loan
interest rates by averaging, on a weighted basis, the interest rates of the underlying
loans. However, Sallie Mae and Department of Education officials stated that such a
modification would cadse administrative problems with the special allowance billing

-
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process and limit the Departient’s ability to assure itself that lenders’ billings are
accurate. Billings for special allowances are submitted to the Department quarterly
for verification and payment. The loans are summanized by the statutory interest
rates, and the categories would have to be expanded if consolidated loans are
gxouped by the average interest rates. .

According to Sallie Mae, 93 percent of their consolidated loans through December
1982 were GSL’s and 7 percent were NDSL's. The average weighted interest rate of
the GSL's and NDSL’s was 6.7 percent. At this rate, Federal costs on a consolidated
loan volume of $100 miltion would increase by about .$300,000--o0r about 4 percent-
in the first year because special allowances will increase to make up for reduced
mterest payments by borrowers. Sallie Mae estimates that special allowance pay-
ments on such a portfolioc would increase by $2.9 million-or about % percent-—over
the life of the loans. 'The modification would be likely to induce more borrowers to
consolidate NDSL’s, but we cannot edtimate how much. ) ‘

Determining consolidated loan interest rates by averaging the original loan rates
would decrease specjal allowances associated with 9 percent GSL's because these
loans are now consolidated at 7 percent. Sallie Mae and the Department of Educa-
tion favor a chagyge to preyent borrowers fromn recerving “windfall” interest rate re-
ductions by consolidating 9 percent loans at 7 percent. P

In addition to GSL’s and NDSL's, the law authorizes Auxiliary Loans to Assist
Students and Health Education Assistance Loans. which carry higher interest rates
than GS5L’s; to be consolidated. While these lozyls do not now participate in the con-
solidation program, their consolidation would “affeet the weighted average, ipierost
rate of loans being consolidated and thus special allowance Baymenls.

.

. . , .
Revising qualifving loan amourits . .

As I mentioned earlier, to qualify for a consolidated loan borrowers must have
loans totaling more than $5,000 from more than one lender, or totaling more than
$7,500 frrom one lender. While borrowers with more than $7,500 tan choose extended
repayment periods, those with less are limited to the same 10 year maximum as
provided for GSL's. However, the monthly payments to Salliec Mae by a borrower
with iess than $7.500 will usually be lower than they would have been without con-
solidation because —due to loan servicing costs—each of the original lenders would
usually require at least the $50 minimum payment provided for GSL's.

The $5.000 qualifying level is approximately consistent with the current GSL re-
quirements that provide for a minimum monthly repayment of $50 and a maximum
term of 10 years. For cxample, a borrower would have to have loans of about $4,300
in order to pay off the principal and interest over 10 years at $50 a month. Provid-
ing more liberal repayment terms to lower indebtedness borrowers b climinating
or reducing the qualifying amounts would increase Federal special allowanée pay-
ments. For example, the special allowance payments on a $4.000 consolidated loan
with a l0-year repayment period would be about 14 percent greater than the allow-
ances paid on a similar loan with a required minimum monthly repayment of $50
which would limit the repayment period to 9 years. Similarly, special allowance
payments on a $3,000 consolidated loan with a 10 year repayment period would be
about 84 percent greater than special allowances paid on a similar loan that would
be puid off in 6 years under a minimum monthly payment requirement of $50.

Officials at most of the eight State programs we visited agreed that minimum
qualifying criteria is needed to prevent cxcessive increases in special allowance pay-
ments. Officials of six programs indicated that the current $5,000 level is reasona-
ble. and the other two believed the specific criteria should be dropped but that mini-
mum loan requirements should be consistent with the repayment requirements of
the GSL program of $50 per month.

Because the total monthly payments of borrowers with multiple loans who do not
qualify for consolidation can be inordinately high because of lenders’ minimum pay-
ment requirements, several States had established procedures to alleviate the
burden. Two State programs generally require borrowers to obtain all of their loans
from the same lender, which enables the lender to merge the loans at the beginning
of the repayment period to provide for a single monthly repgyment, Because loan
servicing costs are relatively constant regardless of loan amounts, the resulting
monthly payment will usually be lower than the total of the payments which would
have been required by multiple lenders. Similarily, four State programs have becn
successful in encouraging lenders td buy loans from one another so that all of a bor-
rower’s loans are held by one lender. .

While Sallie Mae accepts all eligible loans of borrowers who meet the qualifying
levels, relatively few. bgrrowers with lower indebtedness levels have chosen to con.
solidate their loans. Of the consolidated loans made to 5,173 borrowers through De-
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cember 1982, 729 ~or a})oul 13 percent—were less than $3.000, and 3,901--or about
71 percent--were greater than $10,000. a

We do not believe the current qaualify’ng loan amounts are unreasonable, and

! some State programs have demonstrated that means otker than reducing the levels

can be developed to prevent high payment burdens of borrowers with low indebted-

ness obtained from multiple lenders. If the specific levels are eliminated, one way to

limit Federal costs would be to require a minimum monthly payment similar to that
in the GS1. program » )

Limuting special allowances on conselidation loans

NDSI, loans are made by cducational institutions #nd-arc funded in part by the
institution (10 percent) and in part by the Department of “Eedtication (9¢ percent).
The interest rate on these loans was 3 percent prior to 198044 percent in 1980, and

~is currently 5 percent. While lending institutions are not eligible for Federal special

-

allowayces on the original NDSLs, Sallk;Mae receives such allowances when the
loans are comsolidated. o .

Buased on past experience, Sallic Mae estimates that by eliminating Federal spe-
cial allowances on the NDSL. portion of consolidated loans, the allowances paid on a
$100 million consolidated loan portfolio would decrease by $500,000 in the first year
and by $13 million aver the life of the loans. If original loan interest rates were
avernged and special allowances on the NDSL portion were climinated, the savings
would be about $200.000 in the first year and about $1.6 million over the life of the
loans. . -

According to Sallie Mac and Department of Education officials, there are certaiix
benefits to the Federal Government of consolidating NIDSL’s which should be consid-
ered when assessing the equity of paying special allowancds on these loan amounts,
including probable reduction of, NDSL. defaults aif réduced Federal contributions
needed to replenish college revolving funds ds a result of carly #epayment of
NDSL's. . - '

While paying special allowances on the NDSL portion of consolidated loans may
be inequitable to the Federal Government. officials of the‘eight State prggrams we
visited Indicated that eliminating such payments would give State programs little
incentive to consolidate thése loans. The officials pointed out that the cost of money

xand operating expenses associated with consoliditing NDSL's would probably exceed
;)orr()wer interest payments, in which case they would not be willing to accept the
ouns. :

Thus. if spectal allowances are eliminated on the NDSL portion of consolidated
loans and borrower interest rates are not increased to compensate for the lost FFed-
eral payments. borrowers may be unable to consolidate all of their. loans. Of the
5.474 borrowers who consolidated their loans through December 1982, 1,601 included
NDSL. loans totaling 5 million. 1f NDSL.’s were not cligible for consolidation, 442 of

“. these borrowers would not have 3ualiﬁed for loan consolidation.

Messrs. Chairmen, this concludes my statement. We will be happy to answer any
questions you or, members of your Subcommittecs may have.

Mr. Jerrorns. Thank you, Mr. Henig. Excellent statement. I
know, you have provided us with much valuable information. I am
going to have the very rare opportunity, and, probably one I may
never have again. That is to now provide the distinguished Senator
from my State the opportunity to ask some questions. I appreciate
this chance. I am very excited.

Senator Starrorp. Thank you very much, Congressman Jeffords.

Since this is a joint hearing of the Senate Subcommittee on Edu-
catfon, Arts and Humanities and House Postsecondary Education
Subcommittee, it gives me the opportunity to return to the side of
the House where I started almost 23 years ago. I spent 10 years on
this side of the Capitol, much of it jn hearing rooms like this one,

_occupied by the House Armed Services Committee. So it is a pleas-

Q

ant opportunity to return to a former scene and very pleasant
mernories. : ,

Mr. Henig, we appreciate the work you have put into the report
you have prepared for us. As the chairman S‘ai(‘f it is very helpful
to us in understanding the problems involved in consolidation of
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student loans. I might ask you at the outset, should consolidation
be authorized beyond the present limit for Sallie Mae, is.there any-
thing which would compel students who have loans at 3, 4, or 5
percent rates, to go into consolidation and thereby be bumped up to
a T-percent rate? . -

Mr. HEN1G. We found nothing which would compel a student to
do so. That is up to the student, himself, to make that determina-
tion.. : .

Senator Starrorn. Well, I concur in that conclusion. But I appre-
ciate your making that statement. The obvious situation probably
would be’that students who have 9-percent loans might wish to
consolidate at the present time in view of the fact a T-percent rate
is currently the Sallie Mae rate of ipterest. Are we on the same
track again? . Vo ’

Mr. HeNiG. Yes; I would think that would be very natural if a
student had a lot of 9-percent loans, he would try and consolidate.
That hasn’t happened to any large extent yet. [ understand both
the Department and Sallie Mae, as I said, are in favor of changing
that situation, so that there wouldn’t be that kind of a windfall.

Senator Starrorp. Right. Is there any reason to expect that the
number of students choosing to consohdate their loans would in-
crease substantially if States were allowed to consolidate on the
same terms as Sallie Mae? :

Mr. HeNiG. There is nothing that we found that would indicate a
large increase, because State agencies had the same authority
Sallie Mae did. Sallie Mae made an estimate of what the probable
market would be. That would be the same market whether .the
State agencies were involved, or just Sallie Mae. .

Senator STAFFORD. Is there any reason to expect that Federal
costs would be increased as a result of extending consolidation au-
thority to State agencies?

Mr. HENIG. Senator, that is where we had our big problem of

“trying to figure out what the additional costs, or what the compara-

tive costs would be. The State agenciés would not get the full spe-

cial allowance payment, so that would be a saving to the Govern-
ment. By the same token the States now use tax-free bonds to fi-
nance their programs. That is a loss to the Government to the
extent that money is money that might otherwise be invested in
taxable-type information. But because we could not really get a
good handle on what the additional amounts that would be bor-
rowed by the States would be, it would be hard to estimate what
the additional loss to the Treasury would be.

Senator STAFFORD. After reviewing the current consolidation pro-
gram, what would be the elements in your mind of a cost effective

- program of loan consolidation, assuming you have some thoughts .

on it? -

Mr. HEniG. Well, the existing program according to Sallie Mae
would not, as Sallig) Mae operates it would not be that terribly
costly to the Goverl‘lse ent if the default rates are reduced to where
Sallie -Mae believes they would be. I indicated earlier Sallie Mae
figures the program would cost about $2 million over the life of the
program for each $100,000 in a portfolio. Their estimadte is based on

a default rate going down to about 2 percent. Their present default
i
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(‘}}:pf‘l ienge is very much lowex than’ that, considerably lower thdI’
that ‘

But as I said, it is toosearly to tell. Whether that default rate will
go down or stay that low under a long-term basis, that is a‘ques-
tionable thing. It is hard for us to forecast. If you add spme of the
other features we discussed in my testimony, they wouldadd costs
to the present program. Some things would decrease costs. Sq 1
can't say what the best type of a program is. I think that would
have. to be based on an assessment of all the information we have
developed. There are other factors besides cost which would gener-
ate interest in chas¥ring the program.

Sertator Starrorp. THank you very much, Mr- lenig. 1 think
before 1 yield to the microphone that I would just like to nate for
the record that in a sense this joint hearing of the House-Senate
Committees on Education is unusual in the fact that both commit-
tecs temporarily at least are headed by‘representatives from the
State of Vermont and not only {from .the State of Vermont but from
the same hometown and who grew up maybe a couple hundred
yards apart from each other.

‘Mr. Jegrrorps. That is a good trend I hope we can keep 1t up.

Mr. Harrison.

Mr. HarrisoN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. I think Vermont has a
majority of those present.

Mr. IIemg, I guess just to summarizé, if 1 understand what you

“said to Senator Stafford, it really isn’t possible to estimate what

would be the loss in revenues to the Federal Government if the
States were allowed to consolidate. Is that a fair summary?

"Mr. HeNiG. Yes; part of our dilemma is'this. The States presently
have qomethmg over $4 billion in tax-free bonds out, something
like $4.5 billion, perhaps. There is only about $2.5 billion as far as
our present data show of loans purchased with that money. So
there is about a $2 billion float out there that hasn’t been used to
purchase student loans under their existing programs. That would
seem to be plenty of money to use for consolidations, so if you don’t
flqat any more bonds, you are hurting no more.

But if the States do go out and float some more tax-free bonds,
then the Treasury is hurt to some extent. Another factor is, how
much of that money would come from existing inyestors who invest
in tax-free bonds. How much of that money would come from inves-
tors switching from taxable to tax-free bonds? Those are figures we

can’t get,any real good information on, so it is hard to figure out
what the additional cost would be. That is our dilemma.

Mr. HARRISON. Thexe seems tgbe a similar difficulty in the sense
that you anticipate that consgfdation would lead to a saving by re-
ducing the default rat ou are not able to pin that down very
precisely, either.

Mr. HeniG. No. Sallie Mae's estimate of 2 percent may be pretty
good. It may be a lot lower than that. At this point it is orily an
estimate and we don’t have any experience under a consolidation
program that bears that out. We do know the larger the loan the
less likely it is for default. The default rates are higher as the loan
amoynt is smaller. And Sallie Mae is dealing with larger loan
amounts, so it would tend to have a lower default nate anyhow.

Mr. HarrisoN. Very good. Thank you, sir. ‘
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Mr. Jerrorps. Senator Stafford. : &

Senator Starrorp. Thank you. I wouyld ask unanimous consent,.\f’,
Mr. Chairman, that an opening statemént that I had intended to
deliver haqd the vote on MX not forced me to be arriving here

- slightly tardily, be placed in the record along with that of Chair-
man Paul Simon at the opening of the hearing.

Mr. Jrrrorps. Without objection so ordered.

Mr. Petri.

Mr. PErri. Thank you.

I would like to thank you for your report. I guess, trying to sum-
marize in a sentence or two what you have found, tell me if this is
accurate or inaccurate. The program costs are really moderate. It

helps on defaults, rather than hurting on defaults; which is a plus.
Ang there is a problem on interest rates being changed so as to
avoid a windfall. One thing I am curious about, if you can specu-
late at all, and maybe you can’t, is that asyl understand it, current-
ly about™W percent of the people who con}olidate are opting for a
graduated repgyment option, and is there any reason for that?

Mr. HrniG. ¥ would speculate, I suppose you could ask the ques-
tion to Mr. Fox when he testifies in a 'few weeks, he may have
better information, but I would think that the lower the repayment
period—or the lower amount of repayment in the early years,
scems to fit well with most people’s earnings capacity.-You usually,
coming out of school, earn a lot less in the first couple of years
than you will later on, so that most peoge would seem to opt for
that type of a repayment schedule.

It is the same thing with a lot of mortgages which were made
available several years ago when interest rates wete very high in
order to induce people to buy homes, the banks were using a grad-
uated rate which got people in at the early years. \

Mr. Perri. If you could offer an opinion, would ‘you think it
might be feasible 10 set up some sort of an income sensitive system
of repayment directly,,sogou could go up and down on the individ-
ual payment rather than having——

Mr. HeniG. I think you are asking me to speculate on something
which is beyond the scope of this job. I could prgbably give you a
personal opinion, but I would prefer not to. .

Mr. PeTr1. OK. ‘

Mr. Jerrorps. Did you have any evidence which wvould indicate
that those that are consolidating are those that probably would not
be likely to default, anyway? °
- Mr. HenNiG. The only evidence ‘we have that this is likely is th
fact that the loan default rate is less as the amount of %Ze indebt-

[S2 BN
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" edness is higher. There seems to be a relationship betweeh defsaults
and the amount of the indebtedness. So to the extent that Sallie
Mae is consolidating loans which average over $10,000, and if
$10,000 has a lower default rate than say %3,000 or $4,000, yes, the
default rate will come down. .

Mr. Jerrorps. Whatever conclusions you could draw from that.

Mr. HeniG. Pardon!

Mr. JerrForps. | said whatever conclusions you could draw from
that. Thank you. . . :

i+ Did you make any effort to ascertain whether the existence of -
the loan consolidation program encouraged any students who con-

-
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solidate from going on to gra{iuate schools? Did you have any infor-
<mation on that?

Mr. HeniG. No, sir, we don’t. We did not interview any students
or that type of thing.

Mr. JerFrorps. Is there any information statistically available
which would tell the number of students who consolidated for the
purpose of going on to graduate school, or immediately thereafter?

Mr. HeniG. No; we don't have any information like that, Mr. Jef-
fords.

Mr. Jerrorbs. Presently, many observers are concerned that
GSL'’s are not always available to borrowers either seeking a small
GSL or who have enrolled in short-term educational programs. Do
you believe extending loan consolidation authority will encourage
them to make small GSL's available in that their average portfolio
size wuld increase?

Mr. Henic. I can’t venture an opinion on that. It would be specu-
lation on my part to assume what a bank, would do if, or State
guaranty agency or lending agency might do.

r. JEFFORDS. You didn’t see any evidence?

Mr. HeNiG. No, sir. .

Mr. JEFFORDS. Any other questions?

Mr. HagrrisoN. Mr. Chairman, I just have onc.

Mr. Jerrorps. Cerfainly, Mr. Harrison.

Mr. HarrisoN. Mr. Henig, if the Congress were to extend the
loan consolidation authority from August 1, 1983, where it is at
now, to say August 1, 1985, and if we were to permit the States and
other commercial lenders, as well as Sallie Mae, to consolidate stu-
dent loans, do you think -as a result of that GAO would be in a
better position to answer some of the cost questions?

Mr. Henic. Oh, yes. We would have some better experience to
analyze at the end of a 2-, 3-year period than we have now.

Mr. HarRISON. Very good Thank you, su' !

Mr. Jerrorps. Thank you very much.®Very, very worthwhlle
study and it will be very valuable to the corylmlttee I-appreciate
your efforts. : ) ~ f

Mr. Henig. Thank you, sir. Tk e o

Mr. Jerrorps. Next in order, to compk}te the Vermont scenario,
we have heré—Senator, I want to ask as our next witness Hon.
Edward Elmendorf, Assistant Secretary for‘Postsecondary Educa-
tion, to come forward.

He came down here from Vermont in order to get thmgs under
control, and I understand has done a super job in doing that.

It -is a pleasure to have you here to give us some further Ver-
mont flavor to our testimony today.

STATEMENT OF EDWARD ELMENDORF, ASSISTANT SECRETARY

FOR POSTSECONDARY EDUCATION, DEPARTMENT OF EDUCA-
. TION, ACCOMPANIED BY DAVID C. BAYER, CHIEF; GUARAN--
v TASTEED.STUDENT LOAN BRANCH, OFFICE’ OF QTUDENT FINAN- |

)

| CMAL ASSISTANCE .

. Mr. ELMENDORF. Thank youy Mr. Chalrman
Mr. Jerrorbs.-Please proceed.
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I would add to tf;at, of course, Vermont I think has more postsec-

ondary students per capita than any other State, so here is some

reason why we have a rather deep and abiding ihterest in the col-
lege educations. It is a pleasure having you here. ™

Mr. ELMENDORF. Thank}you, Mr. Chairman. Would you take my
statement for the record?”* ,

Mr. Jerrorps. Certainly will.

Mr. ELMENDORF. Fine, I will try to summarize in about 5 or 6
ininutes. ’

Let me first begin by saying that T do enjoy the opportunity to be
here, especidlly when I have two colleague Vermonters to address

some of these concerns to, because I know they are concerns that

students have, as well as the ¥ederal Government, particularly as
it relates to cost. In the area of loan consolidation I think it would
be helpful to cite the purpose of the program. It is a very simple
statement. It is to help students who have Jarge loan debts to try, to
reduce the monthly payments and try to avoid defaults that might
result as a consequence.

We believe, however, that this can be done without further subsi-
dizing interest costs. That is one of our major points today. Our
aim 1s that we, another way to say it, we do not object to loan con-
solidation. I would like to repeat that, we do not object to loan con-
solidation. But we do oppose the proposal now written and before
the committee primarily because of the unwarranted increases in
Federal interest subsidy costs for educational loans. I would like to
get into that as part of my statement.

It is our understanding that in the conference report of the Sallie
Mae technical amendments of 1982 there was a requirement that a
(GAO report be delivered and discussed, and that is what we have
just heard. I would be happy to have Mr. Bayer, who, on my left, is
the Chief of the Guaranteed Student Lo&n Branch for the Depart-
ment of Education, Office of Student Financial Aid.

We would like to respond to the comments we have just heard,
but I would also like to add some other information from our

sources that we think might help the committees. The concluding
summary statement I would make is that we do plan to develop a.

loan consolidation authority proposal and submit it to the Congress
for consideration before the expiration of the current law.

Specifically, as relates to my testimony, I would like to talk
about two problems, and they are major problems. One is a prob-
lem with administration of the program, and the other focuses on
some of the cost issues. Within the Department, we see as a major
problem the interest rate confusion aspects of the proposal, Under
the law, there is a 7-percent maximum which is fixed, but the stat-
ute that we live with also refers to the possibility of an 8-percent
loan in certain cases where you have the consolidation of two 9-per-
cent loans. That inconsistency essentially allows for an 8-percent,
for the” consolidation of two 9-percent loans, at the same time an-
other provision gllows for two higher interest loans like the PLUS
loan, which is currently 14 percent, and the HEAL loan, which
could run as high as 17 or lé) percent, to be consolidated but at 7
percent. So there is that inconsistency that I think needs to be ad-
dressed. '
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T« impact, of course, leaving that in there in its current state,
is to significantly increase the special allowance cost that in some
cases aren’t even being previously paid. Senator Stafford men-
tioned that NDSL pragram does not now have¢gny subsidy. The
GAQ report also confirmed that. But we also note with some en-
thusiasm that there isn't a reason for a person with a 5-percent
loan to want to consolidate at 7 percent. Still, that is left in the law
at the current time. :

n page 4 of the testimony we, T think, haye addressed ourselves -
to an inequity that exists in the current law. Right now the cur-
rent law, and it applics only to Sallie Mae, allows the use of a
weighted average interest rate if one or more of the loans to be
consolidated is a HEAL loan. This authority is not included in the
proposed legislation. Undess that is changed, any extension of the
authority to guarantee agencies or others would not<include that
provision for a weighted average.

On page 4 we try to deal with, some of the technical problems
that we think exist, one of whichsconcerns us is the fact that a loan
check given to a student and requiring the-student’s endorsement
would not be traced by us back to what we consider to be the origi-
nal purpose for making the loan, and that is paying off the under-
lying loans that have been consolidated. But giving the check di-
rectly to the student, letting them take that loan and gndorse it,
there is no assurance we have that the money is being used to pay
back the original obligation.

Finally, in the area of departmental problems we think
cited on page 5 some of the open-endedness in the propgsal that
allows for ambiguities to appear. One example I could cite is there
apparently is no real authority that would disallow someone from
extending the repayment beyond the 20-year possible, or to use bal-
loon payments, or to use a schedule of graduated payment, or
income centingent payment. We think that is not intended, and
can be corrected with some legislative drafting.

Our second issue is the more serious one and relates to the cost
issue.

Mr. JEFForps. Mr. Secretary, I have to interrupt you. I haye to
worry about another Vermont problem. We have important votes
in agriculture involving the dairy industry now, and I have to get
back and rescue our cows. I would just like to say, before I leave
and turn this hearing over to Senator Stafford, that I am deeply
concerned about your statement as to when your proposal will be
ready. I would just like to urge you il at all possible to have the
proposal from the-administration ready before mid-June, as I an-
ticipate this subcommittee will be marking up legislation prior to

“that time. I would not want to put you on notice that if it comes up
as you indicated, it might be nice to look at it, but it might beﬁtoo
late. ) :
»Mr. ELMENDORF. I think it is possible. We would like to have-the
benefit of not only the GAO report but deliberations here, and any
“counsel we can get from Congress on it. We do have some issues

- that need to be'decided in order for a proposal to be developed.

Your counsel on that would be certainly helpful.

Mr. Jerrorps. I appreciate that. Please proceed.
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Mr. ELMENDORF. The second issue, as I mentioned before, is a
much more serious one to us and it deals with some of the cost
issues or problems in extending the authority. As GAO found, we,
top, found 1t alrmost impossible to make any definite cost estimate
-due to the broad ambiguous language of the amendment as well as
the substantial agency discretion that 1s allowed in the proposal.
For example, in setting repayment terms, or other cost areas that

A may affect the Federal Government outlay. We have prepared
some tables and charts in response to a letter from Congressman
~—"Simon that I believe is en route, and will lay out not costs for the
program using current volume but will give examples of not only
individual loans, consolidated versus nonconsolidated, but also as-
sumed volumes and assumed percent showing the difference not
only in the early years but the out-years as relates to the payouts

by the Goverhment. . ) -, '

In the area of the cost issues the extension part of fhe proposal
will expose the Government to increased costs on the existing port-
folio which is about $25 billion in total right now. That exposure
comes from lengthening the repayment period from having a delay
in the decline of the repayment, by adding to the GSL portfolio
some non-GSL loans like NDSL'’s, which I mentioned, and there is
a $5 billion portfolio out there in the national direct student loan,
and also increasing the cost to the Government vis-a-vis the allow-
ance for an administrative cost to guaranty agencies which is not
paid currently to Sallie Mae.

There 1s oy the other side of that some offset from default reduc-
tion. To answer Mr. Harrison’s questions, we, too, find it very diffi-
cult to understand what the reduction in default might be from the
availability of an options program. The average consolidation is
about $12,300, and we have about $97 million in consolidated loans
under the Sallie Mae program, almost 8,000 loans. And that is
since the program began over a year ago. The exacerbated cost
issue | think is created also by the fact that there is really in the
proposal too much agency discretion which further complicates the
GSL program by putting more of it outside the control of either the
guaranty agency or the Government.

There is an arm’s-length problem, I think, in that the law, pro-
posed language, allows both the lender to be a lender and a guar-
antor at the same time. That | think is something that if we can
avoid in building the legislation we ought to, so that we don’t have
built in potential conflict of interest.

Finally, on the revenue loss, GAO mentioned this, fiscal year
1983 Treasury estimated in communique to the Department that
they assumed they had about $2.5 billion in outstanding paper and

it was costing about $155 million as a result of that outstanding
issue. v

Later, they came back, in March 1983, with an exact estimate of
$4.1 billion 1n outstanding tax-exempt paper. We can only assume
that the revenue loss on that would be between $200 and $300 mil-
lion. That is a very significant tax loss, and in our ¢pinion, one
at I think has to be addressed in any proposal that is brought
ard through Congress. ‘
] point I would make is that I think that the legislation is
d in the sense that it has concerned: itself primarily with
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borrower liability, but it is not sufficiently afdressed what 1 think

are some burdens that will be created on the Government from

this proposal. So with that, Mr. Chairman, I conclude my summary

statement and would be happy to accept your questions. :
[Prepared statement of Edward Elmendorf follows:]

Cad
PREPARED STATEMENT oF Dir. EDWARD ELMENDORF, ASSISTANT SECRETARY FOR
PostsecoNDARY EbUcATION

Mr. Chairman and members of the subcommittee; We are delighted to have the
opportunity to tedtify today on various aspects relating to the loan consolitlation
1s5ue. :

The Education Amendments of 1980 authorized'the Student Loan Marketing As-
sociation (Sallic Mae) to make consolidation lbans to students holding louns under
the Guaranteed Student Loan (GSL), National Direct Student Loan (NDSL). Health
Education Assistance Loan (HEAL) and PLUS progrifams if o student has loans total- « -
ing $5.000 under two or more programs or lenders or where the borrower's outstarfd-
ing debt with a single lender under the GSL. NDSL. or PLUS programs is $7.500 or
more. Sallic Mae has implemented this program. called OPTIONS, with the Depart-
ment of Fducation serving as the insure? for these loans. Through March 31, 1982,
Sallie Mae has made 7.870 OPTIONS loans in the amount of $97.460,197 with the

average loan being $12.384.
Under current law. Sallic Mae has the authority to offer students repayment pegf
ods of up to 20 vears (10 years is the maximum under other Title 1V student 1dan.
programs) and provide borrowers with the option of equal or graduated repayment
plans. The maxighyn interest rate under current law is 7 percent. We believe that
this interest limz’ul n s the major problem with the current law and the proposal.
yMaking a new a 7-pegcent loah to a borrower whose underlying loans have signifi-
cantly higher interest\rates is not loan consohdation. it is an unwarrented increase

A Federal interest subsidies. : ’

‘he busic purpose belnd loan consolidation is to help students with large loan
v deffis 1o reduce their mondhly payments and thus avoid default. We believe that this

car} be accomplished by extending the repayment period without further subsidizing
intqrest ¢gosts. .

Lé %, the Senate considered S. 2852, which, among other provisions, would
have e Jed the authority to make consolidation loans to guaraniee ageucies,
State Ands chrtain private non-profit lenders. The Administration objected to this
provigion. diJe to cost considerations. The extension of the loan consolidation author-
ity § Additional lenders and guarantee agencies was not enacted However. as

a way of assuring that the 1ssue would be taken up this year. the Stpdent Financial
. Assissqnee Tdchnicgd Amendments Act of 1982 terminates Sallic Mae's authority to
make cdysphdation loans on August 1, 1983. The conference report accompanying
this legislition also makes clear the intent of the Congress to consider comprehen-
sive student loan consolidation legislation prior to that time. taking into account the
recommendations of a requested GAQO study. The conference report also states that
the conferees felt it important to discuss this information before expanding the au-
thority of the States or continuing Salliec Mae's authority to make consolidation
loans We wish to contribute to that discussion, and we are preparing to submit the
Admimstration’s recommendations on loan comsolidation to the Cungress very soon.

. . PROBLEMS WITH CURRENT 1AW

¢ We have identified a number of problems with section 43%10) of the Higher Educa-
tion Act which provides Sallie Mace with the authority to make consolidation loans.
As previously indicated. we are still very concerned about the increase in the in-
terest subsidies allowed under current legistation. The current legislation specifies
that if a borrower has two or more 9 percent loans and the applicable interest rate
for new GSL lvans is 8 percent, the interest rate on the consolidation loan may not
exveed ¥ percent. These interest rate limitations in current law create the following
anomalous sttuations: A student that has a single Y percent loah would end up
paying 7 percent. A student who had a 9 percent and 7 percent loan would pay 7
pereent. A student who had both a 9 percent GSL and a 12 pescent I’LUS loan
waould pay 7 percent. However, a student with¥wo 9 percent GSL.'s would qualify for
an ¥ percent consolidation loan. . ) R
Thus. the amount of special allowance paid will increase as a result of the ex-
tended repayment period. In addition, subsidies will be increased as special allow-
ance paid increases for regular GSL and PLUS loans, and a new commitment will

-
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be made to start paying a special allowance on NDSL’s where no subsidies had been
paid.

Sallie Mae’s authority to make consolidation loans was altered by the Omnibus
Budget Reconcxlmtxon Act of <1981 which specifies that, if one or more HEAL loans
is included in the consolidation loan, the interest on the consolidation loan must be
a weighted average interest rate. However, this weighted interest rate does not
apply to a student who might have a 12 percent PLLUS loan and thus end up with a
T percent congolidation loan under current law. Furthermore, this provision %overm
ing Sallie Mae's consolidation of HEAL loans is not included in the proposed legisla-
tion which would extend the ‘authority to make consolidation loans to guarantee
agencies and other lenders. -

Section 43%(0) of the Act now provides that section 427 of the Act governs the
terms of conselidation loans with two exceptions. Consolidation loans are exempt
from both the 10 year repayment peripod and the fifteen year life of the loan limita-
tions which apply to most guaranteed student loans. However, there are a number
of other provisions in section 427 which establishes the terms of loans under the

Federal Insured Student Loan Program, which are of questionable value or applica-

bility to the loan consolidation program, but which would, as written, apply to Yhe
existing Sallie Mae loan consolidation program, and under S. 2852, to the Guarantee

‘Agency Consolidation Programs.

Section 427 creates further problems by requmng that the loan check be made
payable to the student and requiring the student’s endorsement. There is no way to
mnsure that the proceeds from consolidation loans are used to retire prior debts
unless the check 1s made payable to and sent to the holder of underlying loans.

Another provision of the current law which especially causes us some concern
qmtes ©
~ “Notwithstanding any other provision of this part, the Associatibn, with the
agreement of the borrower, may establish such repayment terms as it determines
will promote the objectives of this subsection including, but not limited to, the estab-
lishment of graduated, income sensitive repayment schedules.”

This language appears to be overly broad and would appear to authorize -the.
lender (Sallie Mae) to disregard the statutory provisions relating to the repayment
terms, such as the maximum 20 year repayment provision. We assume, the intent
was to authorize flexibility within the statutory prohibitions. While there has been
ng indication that there are problems with Sallie Mae regarding this provision, if
the program i$ extended to a significant number of new lenders, this:could present
significant problems, especially with regard to increased costs to the Federal Gov-
ernment for special allowance payments. For example, it appears lenders could
begin authorizing repayment periods longer than 20 years or authorize limited ;\)erl-
odic payments with a “balloon’” payment at the end of the repayment period.

EXTENDING CONSOLIDATION A

We are concerned about the proposal to extend loan consolidation authority to the
guarantee agencies and other ‘direct lefiding authorities as it will further expose the
Federal Government to increased costs on the existing portfolio.

In .gencral, loan congolidation increases Federal sugbsxdy costs by lengthening the
epayment period, delaying the decline of the borrower’s balance, and adding to the
GSL outstanding portfolio the potentially large amount of currently non- -GSL loans.

(There is approximately $5 billion dutstanding in the NDSL program alone.) In addi-
tion, in the Senate proposal, loan consolidation also would reduce formerly 8 per-
cent GSL’s and 9 percent GSL's as well as potentially 12 and 14 percent PLUS loans
and market rate HEAL loans to a 7 percent interest rate. Although NDSL loans
already bear low interest (3, 4 or 5 percent) they do not require Federal interest
subsidy appropriations and extending their repayment period could still lower a bor-
rowers monthly payment even at a higher interest rate. Also the proposal creates
higher “new” loan volumes under guarantee agency guarantees. This "“new’” consoli-
dated volume would be the basis for increased guarantee agency Administrative
Cost Allowances wliuch requires further Federal outlays. :

All of the above lactors tend to increase direct Government costs. Reduced default
rates due to consolidation/refinancing would be expected to off-set these increased
costs to a limited extent. However, long term net default costs are extremely hard
to estimate, and the impact of these new consolidation authorities on such costs are -
very hard to identify. We would especially like to stress the fact that the consider-
able agency discretion (in setting borrower repayment periods and other areas) pro-
vided in the proposed expansion amendments would place the GSLs liabilities even
further out of Government control.
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The Senate hill specifies that loans made by a guarantee agency under this new
authority would also be insured by that guarantee agency. The lack of an “arms-
length™ relationship between the lender and the guarantor could present some prob-
lems, especially in the enforcement of due diligence in collection reguirements. As a
matter of fiscal Prudence, we belicve it more reasonable if the guarantor and the
lender are not one and the same.

Finally, there is one more Federal cost <issue which needs to be addressed. Sallie
Mae obtains its funds in the marketplace and pays Federal income taxes. The inter-
est earned by investors in Sallie Mae's obligations is taxable. However, as the pro-
posed legislation is drafted, it would appear that many of the agencies that would be
extended the authority to make consolidation loans would obtain their fundy
through the issuance of tax exempt obligations. The net affect would be that student
loans made from the proceeds of taxable obligations would be refinanced with funds
obtained from non-taxable obligations. There is major concern within the Adminis-
tration about the loss of Treasury revenue resulting from tax exempt obligations
issaed for student loans and,other purposes.

In summary, the Administration opposes the proposals now before the Committee
to extend and expand the loan consolidation authority (currently limited to Sallie
Mae) because they provide unwarranted increases in the Federal interest subsidy
for education loans. These proposals open the door to major abuse of these programs
operation and their original congressional intent. As proposed, these loan consolida-
tion bills are not as much focused on consolidation as. they are focused on reducing
the interest liabilitics of the borrower. We have not yet estimated the full cost of
these proposals but they are substantial because any one with a 9, i2, 14 percent or
market rate loan will not hesitate to consolidate them into a 7 percent loan as soon
as they are able. The potential increase in interest subsidies paid by the Federal
Government would be huge.

We do not object to loan consolidation. We plan to develop a loan consolidation
authority that does not increase Federal interest costs and submit it to you in time
for your consideration prior to the expiration of current law.

I am happy to have had this opportunity to appear before you today. 1 shall be
happy to answer any questions that you may have. -

Senator Starrorp. Thank you very much, Dr. Elmendorf. I en-
Joyed listening to your testimony. I think you have pointed out
some issues both sides of the Capitol need to address in considering

the consolidation of loans for Sallie Mae and extending that to
State agencies.

I would like to reinforce what Congressman Jeffords said earlier .

about the timeliness of getting the administration proposals up on
the Hill. T expect the Senate is going to be in session through July
according to all the tea leaves I can read at the present time, and
the House also. But the August recess is now coming up on us
fairly rapidly. The sooner we could have any administration pro-
posals, the better, both for the administration and for us here on
Capitol Hill:

Last year during the conference on the higher education techni-
cal amendmehts bill, the administration suggested that extending

- consolidation to-States would cost, as I recall it, about $250 million.

I wonder, Mr. Secretary, if you could tell us how the Department
ayfived at that figure, and whether or not that is still a legitimate
estimate of the increased costs that might be involved.

Mr. HeniG. Mr. Chairman, I would like to turn this over to Mr.

Bayer, who has some tables available to him that can, for an indi-

vidual loan, show you essentially what the difference would be.
Senator; STarrorD. All right. : p
Mr. ELMENDORF. I must state though, again, in trying to put to-

“gether any. proposal, the combination of variables'you have to

decide on up front really do create the difference between consoli-
dated and nonconsolidated loan packages. In most of the proposals
we tried to cost out, I will say we used the 7- and 8-percent interest

Aruitoxt provided by Eric 5
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rate. We tried to use a typical loan amount as being $6,000 or
$7,500” We used the repayment periods that were either under cur-
rent law 10 years or extended out to 15.

Finally, in trying to determine the special allowances really
where the burden of the Federal Government is most directly felt,
we assumed that there would be guaranty agency involvement in
terms of our costing, and we mixed both the current Sallie Mae fi-
nancing with half special allowance financing.

So considering just those variables, Mr. Bayer has got some num-
bers I think he can share relative to individual loans and some
bulk loans. .

Mr. Baver. I might point out some of the problems in trying to
come up with cost estimates is to try and make the assumption as
to read the proposed legislation literally, or the way we assumed
you meant it to read. For example, in the legislation as drafted
right now the cost to the Federal Government would be very mini-
mal because if the program were extended to guaranty agency pro-
grams, the law would not permit us to pay any special allowance to
consolidation loans made by guaranty agencies. S

- lam not sure that was intended. So therefore we assumed that
there would be guaranty agency special allowance consolidation
loan costs. On a T-percent consolidation .loan, again, one of the
problers is the fact that all loans must be 7 percent loans under
current law, on a T-percent loan, assuming an average loan of
$7,500, repaid over a 15-year life of the loan, the costs of a consoli-
dated loan would be about $649 more to the Federal Government
than for a nonconsolidated loan paid over a 10-year period, which
is the current statutory maximum repayment life of the loan.

Senator STAFFORD. go you have tﬁe figures with you that sub-
stantiates that statement? i .

Mr. BAYER. Yes, sir.

Senator Starrorp. I wonder if there would be any objection to us
putting those figures in the record of this hearing so both of our
subcommittees could have them.

Mr. Baver. We will be happy to provide these four tables of sta-
tistical tables for the record.

Senator Starrorp. The statement has been made there is a loss
of Federal income if State agencies were allowed consolidation, and
I have a’little trouble with that@because I accept the fact that
Sallie Mae goes to the marketplace for borrowing funds to imple-
ment their programs, which is true. But States may get tax-free
revenues from bonds, from selling bonds. They are doing that
anyway. So I wonder’if you could explain to me why there would
be a loss of Federal tax dollars if the States were allowed consoli-
dated loans of students. , : ,

Mr. ErMENDORF. If, Mr. Chairman, we assume Sallie Mae's pro-
jections of a $500 million loan consolidation portfolio under the op-
tions program, realistic, we take that over a 3-year period of time
and look at what has happened just since tax exempts have been
made available, just for this program we find that there_has been
almost a doubling/it the amount of tax-exempt paper in the last 2
years,#rom $2.1 billign now to $4.2 billion.

If the ratio of climb is—without the options program full in
effect, is $2 billion, and the interest rates or revenue loss that
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would be paid to Treasury on that is anywhere near the $150 to
$300 million, I think what we are talking about is the Treasury of
the United States not having $300 million it might otherwise have
if we could work a different way to consolidate these loans and
extend the authority. _

Senator STAFFORD. I guess my difficulty, Doctor, is I don’t really
understand the difference between the States consolidating loans,
and borréowing tax-free money to do it, and making the loans with-
out consolidation, then borrowing tax-free money to do that. That
is the difficulty I have with that particular argument at this point.

Mr. ELMENDORF. I would have a question aboutgrhere we are get-
ting the tax-free money to borrow under the current program, be-
cause we are looking at $180 billion deficit that we are trying to
make every effort to reduce. We would like to get that down to a
zero sometime in the future. :

Senator STArrorD. I presume, Mr. Secretary, you may not be
able to be in a position to answer this question, but let me ask it
anyway. Does the administration, to your knowledge, favor loan
consolidation as a matter of prudent Federal policy?

Mr. ELMENDORF. As a matter of?

Senator StarrorD. Prudent Federal policy.

Mr. EuMENDORF. We have stated in our testimony that we do
support the concept of loan consolidation, yes, sir.

Senator STAFFORD. If so, and maybe this is a premature question
in view of the fact you are going to have some legislation up to us
for consideration, how would you devise a cost-effective program of
loan consolidation? ~ )

Mr. ELMENDORF. 1 knew you were going to ask that question. I
would first.of all safeguard the Federal Government from alt of the
inherent weaknesses I have cited thus far. And I would go to some
issues I think need to be addressed. If  might just cite four of them
I think should be tackled by at least us, and we hope by Congress
as well. .

Senator STarrorp. Certainly.

- Mr. ELMeENDORF. We think a serious issue is what source of cap-
ital is there for consolidated loans. This addresses itself to your
concern about using tax exempt, my concern, and other funds that
may be avaiiable. A second concern we have deals essentially with
whether that authority under 2852—S. 2852 should be extended to
guaranty agencies and to certain nonprofit lenders. There is a
series of issues relating to that. ‘

We are certainly supportive of any competitive system. and if we
can work out more competition, I am sure Sallie Mae in their testi-
mony supported the notion that they do ‘not intend to be monopo-
listic in their practice of being the only agent right now for the
consolidation program. o

The third issue I think is the interest rate. I have cited what 1
think some of the inequities are with that. I would like to see us
deal straight up with the issue of the 7 percent, and the contradic-
tions in the law that deal with the weighted average, and come up
with an acceptable interést rate formula.

I think we also have to talk about the types of loans to be con-

- solidated and whether or not we want to include just GSL, or GSL
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and NDSL, or PLUS loan, or HEAL loan, or all the other loans out
there that students are currently eligible to receive.

There is a fourth issue that deals with a loan fee of some sort.
Right now, Sallie Mae consolidates and does it on the basis of a

dollar per loan, and they pay the dollar. Under the proposed law, I .

cited that we would have an administrative cost allowance, and
that could run quite—be quite an expensive outlay if it were under
current law paid out to guaranty agencies. At least those four

issues, with various options under each of those issues, I think,

need to be addressed, and addressed rather prom

Senator StarFrorp. Thank you very much, Mr. gecretary

Mr. Harrison.

Mr. HarrisoN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. It seems like you and
I keep meeting at hearings. I was testifying before the Senator yes-
tg(rlday, and we are sitting up here together on something else
today. .

Mr. Secretary, I think in your testimony you mentioned a com-
munication which you received from the Treasury Department.

Would you have any objection to making that available for the-

record?

"Mr. ELMENDORF. No, sir. .

Mr. HarrisoN. Second, I think in your last answer to Senator
Stafford, you emphasized again the not-for-profit nature of most of
the lenders. I guess the question that occurs to me is, do you think
there would be any cost differential if we were to'include for-profit
lenders, banking institutions, as well as not-for-profit lenders in the
program? -

Mr. ELMENDORF. As I said, it is one of those major issues that I
think needs to be addressed. If you were to open it up to commer-

cial lenders for profit, fyou certainly would have on the plus side

the reduction of some of the outlays that would normally go only to
State guaranty agencies. Qn the other hand, you would want to
have some agssurance of a sufficient rtfolio there to underwrite
-thege loans. So I think a formula with some criteria attached to it
would be appropriate to answer that response.

Mr. HARRISON. Very good. Lastly, 1 tgonk you heard the gentle-
man from the GAO in response to a question I asked him, I guess I
would like to get ypur reaction. What would be your reaction to an
extension of the loan consolidation authority to, let us say, August
1, 1985, permitting the States, other commercial lenders, and Sallie

Mae to consolidate? Do you think that that timeframe for further
study would be helpful?

Mr. ELMENDORF. I would like to answer that two ways. No. 1,
given the fact that we would oppose the way the law 1s written
now, which includes in an opé¢n-ended way all of thé other possible
authorltles I would say we would probably oppose that unilateral
extension. ‘At this point, however, since we have the agreement
with Sallie Mae which orlgmated ‘the options program I don’t be-
lieve we wauld have any objections to the continuation of the op-

tions opportunity as it is now construed into the outyears in order -

to study the problem further,
But we have taken seriously the concept of loan consolidation,

- and the concept that, if there is good reason for there to be other.

authorities, then those authorities ought to havé the ability to com-
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pete for this type of program. And that is why we are anxious to -
develop loan consolidation legislation that takes some of the bugs
out that we think are in there, and opens the door to others.

-Mr. HARrRISON. In that event, then, can I just, from this side of
the table, emphasize again what Mr. Jeffords and Senator Stafford
have said, and that is that if the administration has a proposal, I
guess the sooner it gets up here the better.

Mr. ELMENDORF. | can certainly speak for the Assistant Secreta-
ry for Postsecondary Education on his part for getting that propos-

al out. .

Mr. HarrisoN. Thank you, Mr. Secretary. Good to see you up
herk again. ,

Senator Starrorn. Thank you, Mr. Harrison.

Mr. Petri.

Mr. Perri. Thank you, Sengtor. 1 guess 1'do have a couple of
questions. Am I right to say that you are not against the principles,
or the idea of consolidation,.but you are worried that it not be a
device for increasing government expenditures without thinking it
through carefully? ; :

Mr. ELmeNDORF. That is correct. The concept is certainly accepta-
ble, theyroposal as it is now construed leaves too many open doors
through’which we think fraud, waste, and abuse kind of opportuni-
ties can enter. , '

Mr. Perr1. Now, one question I had, and I don’t know if you have
thought of it or people have figured it out, in all the talk about the

. possible costs to the government of consolidation, have you calcu-
lated the possible savings to individuals and financial institutions
and so on from consolidation? I don’t know how much they figure a
check costs and postage and everything else. There is certainly a
big saving just from consolidation. We really shouldn’t be looking
at it purely from the point- of view of the U.S. Government, but °*
from the point of view of the whole society in calculating that.

_ There is some cost to the government, but there is greater sav-
ings to individuals and financial institutions and so on in paper—§ .
work and overhead. That &t least is a good argument for h
some small costs on the government side of the ledger. :

Mr. ELMENDORF. That is a good question.-And the part of it that
deals with the commercial lenders or Sallie Mae, they have had ex-
perience with the program. And in their testimony I believe I read
a number of citations that deal with what they consider to have
been a return on profit, or in this case they like to use ‘return on
assets, which is in the corporate world a good measure of an invest-
ment. /

In this particular case’if you were to include in what they have
done with this portfolio as they have configured it, with average
loans of $12,300, there is a return on that investment that is satis-

_ factory to,keep them in the program. ’
From the other perspective, unless you are able td"get a good
grip on how many defaults which potentially would ha\% occurred
if the program hadn’t been in place, you don’t get a good fix on a

. halance between the Federal cost to continue against the actual
T ' savin%s' by bringing someone into repayment.

- Sallie Mae has a rule which I think is a rather good one that

: someone has to be in repayment for at least three consecutive pay-
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ments before they can be eligible for the options program. That
sort of says that we don't want people that are not in repayment to
suddenly find this to be an easyWay out of paying what is due the
government. I think provisions like that thought out for Sallie Mae
and other authorities are really what we need to seriously address.

Mr. Perri. But absent everything else, I mean I as someone who

-graduated from school and had several loans would be much hap-

pier, if everything else were even, just paying one-check rather
than three or four to different pooplc,btcaube of the paperwork and
postage. Banks chalge 25 cents to $1.50 a check these days, and so
on. I assume that is because it costs them. So if you just can reduce
all that, that has to be a social benefit of some considerable size, if
enough people do that.

Ermenporr. Maybe Mr. Bayer would like to respond to the

latter half of your question.

Mr. Bayer. I think your point is well taken, Mr. Petri. The stu-
dent certainfly-does save an awful lot of administrative headaches

and nightmares to make sure they don’t forget a payment and put '

all the various checks in the mail they have to with multiple loans./
Especially today with borrowers frequently having loans from more
than one lender through more than one guaranty ageacy program,
through more than one program itself with conflicting repayment

terms and conflicting repayment requirements, it does certainty

provide incentive for the borrower to have a single place to pay
loans.

Finance companies for years have been making their bread and
butter by arguing just this point, for making consolidation loans to
consumers who have loans from a wide variety of creditors. Lend-

s=======—gr§vertainly would save collection costs and other costs by having ™

Q

'the loans converted into a single consolidation loan. To the extent

you consider all the costs incurred by all the various lenders in-
volved. Schools participating in the national direct student loan
program would get their capital back a lot faster, thus able to lend
it again, thus reducing the demand or need for additional Federal
capital contributions.

Iéhmk there are a great many benefits of this sort that could be
cite

Mr. PeETri. Sometimes consolidation result in extending the

period of repayment, and therefore, under current practices, in-
creasing the subsidy. Have you considered having somefsprt of an
end to that extended subsidy? That might invove havmg the con-
golidated loan balloon at the end, and the person get no subsidy or
pay market rates at the end of the current subs1d1zed period. For
example, the losm might go from 7 years to 9 years repayment, but
the last 2 years would be profitable, or at least income neutral to
the Government, rather than 2 more years of subsidy.

Mr. ELMENDORF. Yes. Not only that but the income. contingent
factor is also a part of what is already in the propogal. Under the
current operation, you heard stated that 75 to 80 percent of the
volume that Sallie Mae underwrites is ‘written under a graduated
payment schedule, rather than in equal payments. I am sure there
is good reason fpr that on behalf of both the borrower and the
lender. So I think those financial as well ‘as convenient opportuni-

_ties are potentlal ‘and should be looked at.

.
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Mr. Petr1. 1 have to ask one or two more questions here. Sallie
Mae presently offers loan consolidation to students at a T-percent
interest rate. Do you believe raising this interest rate to 9 percent
would discourage students needing loan consolidation Jfrom consoli-
dating their loans?

Mr. ELMENDORF. I really would prefer not to answer that ques-
tion on the basis that I couldn’t answer it any better for 9 percent,
than I could for 12, or even 7. I have only got data on 7, and the
hypothetical 8 that is in the current law. We have not done a
matrix with a whole set of different interest rates and costed them

out. Just what we have done between 7 and 8 from our initial table"

does not show a very high increase in the Federal Government of
the program. But I don’t know that that would be the case with a 7
to 9 jump. So I would really want to cost that out.

Mr. Bayer. It should be pointed out it is less of an advantage to
a student who currently has four or five NDSL loans if the rate
were changed from 7 to 9 percent. I am not sure it would be con-
strued as an awful disadvantage to the student who has a market
HEAL rate if changes from 7 to 9 or a person with-a PLUS loan of
14 percent if that rate were changed to 7 or 9. That would still be a
decrease if the rate were changed for the borrower. -
~Mr. Perri. One point made at the hearing yesterday was that

consolidations could discourage banks from making small GSL's.

The concern expressed was that types of loans that would be con-
solidated, the larger loan portfolios, would be transferred to Sallie
Mae, thus reducing the average portfolio size at the lending institu-
tions and placing further pressure on the lender not to make small
loans. " e

Do you agree with that analysis, or havﬁbanycgm&ent on that

testimony? :

Mr. ErmeENDORF. No; I really couldn’t say that I agree with it.
But I don’t have enough data to disagree with it at this point. We
have not had direct consumer complaints from those that have
been excluded from the program because of the insufficient size of
the loan, or the inability of the lender to give small loans. There
have been a lot of allegations around that this is keeping people
" out of the program. But my sense is that, as secondary markets
become more experienced with buying portfolios and servicing
them, they are learning for themselves what is profitable in terms
of a cumulative number of loans that they can buy from a bank.

I think that analogy can also be applied to the cumulative
number of dollars that would be advisable for a guaranty agency
loan consolidation authority to want to get into. One way it may
help them, by having that minimum that is now $7,500 for one
source, or $5,000 for-two sources, be reduced essentially.

Mr. Perri. One final question. You are very patient. You did
refer in your testimony I think to a whole series of miscellaneous,
different loan programs, and that there should be some systematic
examination o wi;t should be eligible for consolidation, or what
should not. I assume that is one of the things you hoped to cover in
this proposed legislation. - _

Mr. ELMENDORF. Yes, sir.

34
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Mr. Perri. But in that connection, do you believe that health
education assistance loans should be eligible for loan consolidation?
Why, or why not? I guess maybe that is a litmus test. Are you
going to be leaning in the direction of making more loans eligible
for consolidation, or trying to reduce the loans that are eligible?

Mr. ELMENDORF. Well, we haven't really come to any kind of con-
sensus on that, but my sense is that-a prior question has to be ad-
dressed. That is the question about the interest rate and how it is
determined. If it is a fixed rate, I might answer the question one
way. If it is a weighted average I might answer it an entirely dif-
ferent way. And the HEAL loan benefits from the weighted aver-
age- approach. We would in the Government not be advantaged if
we had a fixed rate and those HEAL loans were in our scope of
consolidation, because the special allowance difference that we had
to pay out would be significant, and the costs would escalate. So I
would answer that differently depending upon the answer to the
prior question about which interest rate formula we would propose
using in any new loan consolidation authority.

Mr. Perri. So if I réad you right, what you are saying is if you
were not extending the subsidy, then it might be a good idea to
broaden the consolidation because of the general convenience. But
if you are somehow increasing the costs to the Government, then
'you would be very reluctant to bring more of these loans——

Mr. ELMENDORF. That is a good principle.

_Mr. Petri. Is that the one——

‘e
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Mr. ELMENDORF. That is the one we are follow?ng, yes, sir.

Mr. PETRI. So you are saying if we keep the interest rate low;

then you wouldn’t mind havirig consolidation, but then you
wouldn’t like that low-interest rate to apply to the other loans that
were brought in. They would have to be at a higher rate?

Mr. ELMENDORF. You can afford to be more magnanimous if you
know that the Federal Governmentjis not paying the cost in terms
of the numbers of loans that are you allowed to be consolidated.
But if your subsidy costs shoot up diréctly, you are going to be
more in a mode of trying to confine that upward cost to the Gov-
ernment as much as possible. _

Mr. Petr1. I think it would be useful, at least if you wonld think
about it, figuring ‘out some sort of cost savings to the society in gen-
eral that could occur from cénsolidation even if there were no sub-
sidy. In trying to sell something like that, I think everyone would

~

agree it would be better to have cqnsolidation as broad as possible -

just from the point of view of convenience for the citizenry and sav-
ings in paperwork and-costs. You could nonetheless sell this as a
break for people, even if it is not a direct Treasury subsidy.

Mr. ELMENDORF. I think that is a good approach.

Senator STarrForD. Thank you very much, Mr. Petri.

Mr. Secretary, we are grateful to yoW for appearing in front of
this joint meeting today with us and with your colleague. We again
urge you to get whatever legislation the administration has to us
as soon as possible, certainly before the Fourth of July recess of the
-two Houses, which will give us the month of July to digest them.
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I guess if there is no further testimony, this joint meeting of the
Senate Subcommittee on Education, Arts and Humanities and
House Subcommittee on Postsecondary Education is adJourned sub-
ject to call of the jo gt Chairs. .

[Whereupon, at 8
reconvene subject to the call of the Chairs.]

8 p.m., the subcommlttees were adJourned to
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STUDENT LOAN CONSOLIDATION

. WEDNESDAY, JUNE 8, 1983

. HOUSE OF REPRESENTATIVES,
SUBCOMMITTEE ON P0OSTSECONDARY EDUCATION,
: CoMMITTEE ON EDUCATION AND LABOR,
Washington, D.C.

The subcommittee met, pursuant to call, at 9:35 a.m., in room
2261, Rayburn House Office Building, Hon. Paul Simon (chairman
of the su%committee) presiding. '
Members present: Representatives Simon, Andrews, Penny, Cole-
man, Gunderson, Petri, and Packard,
-, Staff present: William A. Blakey, majority counsel; John Dean, -
dssistant minority counsel; Patricia Morrissey, minority legislative

associate; and Betsy Brand, minority legislative associate. :
~ Mr. SimoN. Good morning. The Subcommittee on Postsecondary -
Education today continues its hearings/ on student loan consolida-

tion. Last year during congressional consideration of the student fi-

nancial assistance technical amendments of 1982, the authority of
the Student Lodn Marketing Association, better known as “Sallie
Mae,” to continue consolidation of stl]ldent loans was terminated,

effective August 1, 1983. )

Congress authorized a study of the c,l)sts and policy implication of
expanding loan consolidation authority to State guarantee agen-
cies. Recently, the General Accounting Office reported, and I am
quoting now: e

We attempted to estimate the potential net impact on Federal costs of extending -
loan consolidation authority to States. We were unable to come up with anything.
near a precise figure because of the difficulty in obtaining reliable information on
several of the elements negded to compute relative costs.

State program officials agreed that if consolidation authority is extended, criteria

should be established, to insure borrowers full access to consolidations and to limit
repayment periods based on aggregate loan amounts.

End of the quote’ i '

~Many of questions related to the cost of extending loan consolida-
tion authority to State agencies and other lenders remain ungn-
swered. I am especially concerned about the revenue implications
of using tax-exempt student loan bonds to provide loan consolida-
tion capital. _ o

. T.am also concerned that a uniform set of terms and conditions
be utilized by all who engage in loan consolidation in order to
avoid any additional complexity in the current student loan system
and a loan congplidation mage among the States. Finally, while I
believe some form of loan consolidation is essential—that’s too
strong a word—let’s make it desirable, creating additional costs in
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the student loan programs at this time is not advisable. The Feder-
al respongjbility to provide access and some measure of choice in
postsecondary education for low- and middle-income students ex-
tends to students while they are students. r

The principal argument supporting loan consolidation was that it
would reduce defaults. In fact, loan consolidation has had a negligi-
ble impact on reducing student loan defaults. The available evi-
dence suggests that those persons most likely to consolidate their
loans are those who are best able to repay. their indebtedness
anyway. R

his means that the objective originally sought is not necessarily

being achieved and the Government’s costs are increasing due to
extended repayment period accorded those who use Sallie l&np’s
services.

I believe we should concentrate limited Federal higher education-

dollars on students seeking access to a quality higher' education
and that, less attention should be directed to former students who
have already benefited from these programs.

I am anxious these concerns and others expressed by our wit-
nesses today.

We have another member who has joined us. You may have to
take over here in a little while because we have some conflicts
going on today. _ ‘ X

Do the others have any opening comments here?

Mr. Packarp. No, thank you. o ,

Mr. SiMon. Our first witness is Edward A. Fox, president of
Sallie Mag, who is getting to be a regular here-these days.

STATEMENT OF EDWARD A. FOX, PRESIDENT, STUDENT LOAN
MARKETING ASSOCIATION (SALLIE MAE)

Mr. Fox. Thank you, Mr. Chairman. '

Your opening remarks indicate a pretty substantive knowledge of
the issues so I will give you my testimony for the record apd will
just highlight one or two things. ’ ’

Mr. Simon. OK. Your full statement will be entered in the
record.

Mr. Fox. Thank you very much.

[Prepared statement of Edward A. Fox follows:]

. . .
PREPARED STATEMENT oF EpwARD A. Fox;"PRESIDANT AND CHIEF EXECUTIVE OFFICER,
STUDENT LoAN MARKETING A IATION (SALLIE MAE)

Mr. Chairman, I appreciate the opportunity to testify before this Subcommittee on
student loan consolidation and on g:; lie Mae’s OPTIONS Program. In my testimony
I will review the creation of the OPTIONS: Program, the complexity of the process
of consolidating a student’s indebtedness, the General Accounting Office (GAO)
study recently submitted to the Subcommittee, and the concerns of the Department
of Education that have been expressed to this Subcommittee. ,

The Education Amendments of 1980 authorized Sallie Mae to make consolidation
loans to borrowers with federally insured or guaranteed student loans where the %

egate indebtedness from 2 or more lenders or programs exceeds $5,000, or $7,
rom a single lender, with maximum repayment periods not to exceed 20 years.
Under this authority Sallie Mae has created the OPTIONS Program.

Sallie Mae’s OPTIONS Program is a” workable, successful concept representing
substantial investment of our resources for program design and for originating an
servicing capacity. We want to continue to offer this program. We leave to the Con-
gress the policy determinations as to how many programs of loan consolidation
should exist. Vge will endeavor to provide loan consolidation consistent with any
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program you authorize. However, our greatest concern is that the structure of any
program of loan consolidation you authorize take into account the complexity of the
process. Sallie Mae currently provides a pationally uniform system, making the stu-
dent’s choices clear and understandable, and providing secure servicing capacity for
these extended and graduated repayment loans. We cannot stress top strongly the
- advantages to the student and to the program of a uniform set Vo(?consolidation
standards and uniform originating and servicing requirements” for consolidated
loans.

Students who receive loans under the Guaranteed Student Loan Program (GSLP)
or the National Direct Student Loan (NDSL) Program may be eligible to consolidate
monthly payments on several loans into one payment and to extend the length of
repayment beyond the ten-year term allowable under the current GSL or NDSL
Progtams. Consolidated loans are guaranteed under the terms of the GSLP. Consist-
ent with this legislative intent, Sallie Mae provides sound debt management-for stu-
dents through a nationwide, readily available program of loan refinancing for bor-
rowers. ) .

Rapidly increasing tuition and fees have dramatically increased the dependency
of students on loans to finance a significant portion of postsecondary ceducation

«costs. While the GSLP is the largest single source of educational loan capital, stu-
dents often borrow under other programs in addition to the GSLP. Likewise, stu-

dents may borrow from different GSLD lenders depending on the number of schools ]

attended, residency, and availability of funds. In autharizing loan consolidation,
Congress recognized that student borrowers could'be faced with severe debt manage-
ment problems due to the mulgiplicity of loans and the requirement of simultaneous
repayment of thesapdebts. Re%\ancing or consolidation of loans establishes initial
repayment burdens more evenly with the borrower’s current ability to repay, there-
by reducing the potentia} for default.

Sallic Mae was designated to implement loan consolidation because of its ability
to apply sound credit and lending principles to this program and because of its capa-
bility to deliver service on a nationwide basis. Development of any financial service
requires a significant investment of time, money, anl expertise without assurance
that the product will be successful. Such an investment is justified by the potential
benefits to the GSLP and to student borrowers of a sound program of loan consolida-
tion. Further, Sallic Mae ‘has the financial resources to invest in this program with-
out diverting resources from primary loan availability because Sallie Mae is not a
primary lender in the GSLP. As the largest holder of sfudent loans; it has the proce-
dural and systems support which assures the integrity of this program.

. Immediately after the passage of the Education Amendments of 1980, Sallie Mae
began the process of designing a workable loan consolidation system and negotiating
such a system with the Department of Education which had agreed to insure the
consolidated loans. This process was time consuming and complicated, but through
it we were able to establish a uniform national grogram with terms that the Depart-
ment assured were consistent with federal law and policy. .

Considerable research was undertaken to deter ine the number ofstudents eligi-
ble for the program because of the lack of an inledyated data base. In point of fact,
Mr. Chairman, we cannot tell you todaysghow many students qualify for 1oan consoli-

' dation. We simply do not know. : > .

The process, procedures, controls, and documentation had to be created for a prod-
uct that nevge existed before. An entirely new originating and servicing system was
developeél. By October of 1981, the necessary systems, controls, and procedures were
in place and the approval of the Secretary of Education was secured.

Sallie Mae's loan consolidation process has been designed to meet the broad set of
objectives we believe intended by the federal statute. Sallie Mae’s investment in a
computer system and in analyses of the complexities of the process has been sub-
stantial.

The automated system which supports Sallie Mae’s program was developed at sig-

- mificant cost. One of the dominant design ghjectives was to achieve consistent treat-
ment of the many unusual conditions wl1i31 give rise to the need for a consolidation
loan. For this reason, the computer system is on-line and maintains a very large
deta base for each borrower. Further, Sallie Mae has made a major investment in
documentation of all procedures and in establishing a thorough consumer lending
training program.

An important advantage of the OPTIONS Program is in the graduated repayment
feature. The graduated repayment module of SalliesMae's program cffers two repay-
ment alternatives and is designed to automatically interface with the complex re-
quirements needed to amortize a loan with graduated repayment.
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Program volume . . ... ... e T
Borrowers ... 93280
Average balance . $12,500.0
Average term selecled (monlhs) e 171
Prggrag mix

NDSL.. ... ... . e e e 1 $8.200.,000
Distnbulion of indebtedness
e 8500010 87,000 e e 10

$7.000 to $9.000.. . .. . e e 14

S?.OUO lo $15,000 52

$15,000 and above .. 24
Opl@ [ selecled.

I (extended term, fixed payment) . e SR 25

1| (gradualed repayment) ... e e et et e 70

I, (accelerated, graduated repaymenl) e e e e 5
Delinquency.

30 to 60 days . R 123 .

61 to 120 days .. S e 17 . .
Defaulls. Claims in process . .. . . .. . . L T - 13
S
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Sallie Mae’s automated systemn hso provides fm a significant amoynpt of data on
the demographics of borrowers who apply for cansolidation. Tkis sy&m capability
was included in recognition of the need to provide adequate program reporting to
federal agencies and Congressional committees having interest in the OPTIONS use.

The extensive investment by Sallie Mae in the system and the processing controls
surrounding it have produced a timely, full compliance, and consumer oriented ap-
proach to the legislative intent of the program. The shortcuts others have suggested
may come about only at the sacrifice of campliance with the statute’s provisions, or
by reducing the amount of relief accorded the borrbwer, or ﬁnally, at the expense of
traditional bdnkmg practices for loan originntion.

Sallie Mae’s knowledge of loan consolidation has come after a very concentrated
effort to design and administer the best possible program. Should the number of
participants in the consolidation program be increased, the same measure of care
and diligence in design and implementation must be achieved. Otherwise the con-
cepts envisioned by the original statute and confirmed by the GAQ audit as provid-
ed by Sallie Mae will be lost through hastily constructeg programs with widely dif-
ferent procedures and interpretations of compliance.

Our goal was to provide maximum participagn for the borrower in selecting pay-
ment terms, both fixed repayment and gradﬁd repayment, which could be effec-
tively serviced hut which did not present th rrower with a bewildering array of
decisions. We believe we have succeeded in that effort. I have appended to my state-
ment a copy of the information provided to the student on OPTIONS as well as
other documentation which is necessary to complete the consolidation process.

We believe the experience in the Sallic Mae OPTIONS Program shows the useful-
ness of the concept of consolidation.

LOAN CONSOLIDATION STATISTICS THROUGH APR. 30, 1983

Percenl

-

The loan consolidation process appears straight foward and simple:

A borrower is made aware of the program through: a Sallie Mae msiling; a finan-
cial institution mailing; a school mailing or exit interview; a guarantor mailing; or
national advertising.

‘The applicant contacts his/her school creditor, and/or Sallie Mae to request fur-
ther infbrmation. .

Sallie Mae mails an application package including the required certification form
to the borrower. The certificates are used to verify that the underlying loans are
NDSL, &SL, and/or, FISL.

The borrower comp\etes the application and borrower portion of the certificate.
The completed forms are returned to Sallie Mae. 3

The application and certificate are reviewed by éhllie Mae and. pay-off date (60
days it the future) is assigned.
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Certificates are mailed to the creditors.

The creditors complete and sign the certificates which provide account informa-
tion, quote and required payofl as of the date projected above, and certify the infor-
mation. The form is then returned to Sailie Mae.

Sallie Mace prepares a promissory note, which includes the repayment schedule
selected by the borrower, and maild the note to the borrower for signature.

The borrgwer reviews the promissory note, signs it: and returns it to Sallie Mae.

The note is reviewed and payoff checks are mailed td the original ¢reditors. ™~

A coupon book is then sent to the borrower. Repayment begins in 60 days.

(Note: Creditors are expected to return obligatory documentation to the borrower
based on their standard operating procedures.)

However, because the program (1) requires signed documentation, (2) is supported
through the mail, and (3) requires input from both borrower and multiple creditors,
it 18 much more complex than would otherwise be obvious:

When borrowers receive an application, they often do not complete it right away.
Borrowers procrastinate because: The application termindlogy is, unfamiliar, they d);)
not want_to lose their grace period, they are out of town when the application ar-
rives, they have questions about the product, or it takes time to gather the informa-
tion necessary for completion.

If a borrower does not complete the application on a timely basis, he/she can miss
the opportunity to enter loan repayment under the GPTIONS Program. This causes
creditor dissatisfaction because conversion i the most costly phase of student loan
processing.

The product coircept is simple. The product benefits become complex. Borrowers
do not understand: Who qualifies, what the terms of the loan will be, how to choose
which Option is right for them, or the intricacies of the decision-inaking process in-
volved in deciding financial alternatives with which they must live for up to ‘20
years. -

In fact, we find borrowers do not understand many fnancial details vis-a-vis stu-
dent loan indebtedness.

They don’t know who their creditors are while in grace.

They don’t understand reassignment, ie., the purchase program
~ They don’t know il thier loans are GSL, NDSL, or FISL,. -

This results in calls to the consolidation center. Three-fourths of those who consol-
idate will call the consolidation center with questions sometime during the consoli-
dations process. ‘ ’

Each caller, on average, calls twice.

Each call last five minutes.

In many cases, we are asked to play the role of financial advisor; for example, we
are asked to advise about which Option and term the borrower should choose.

Due to the transient nature of the borrower population, certain borrowers do not
receive the application after it i1s mailed. This causes: Phone calls to Sallie Mae to
request a new application, and the process of mailing applications must be repepted.

Since the legislation authorizes OPTIONS to payoff only principal and accrued in-
terest, the payoff has to 6ccur on the prescheduled date. This causes the application
process Lo be time sensitive and delays caused by incomplete or incorrect informa-
tion become problematic. :

Critical information, such as creditor name and address, is required to process the
application. Lack of information: Necessjlates a phone call or letter to the borrower,
which usually takes two tries; when reached, the phone call nverag'e\s'\\eqn minutes.

Often there is borrower confusion over the $5,000 and $7.500 debt leveld.

We thus get applications from those who don't qualify because of the misunder-
standing of single vs. multiple debt, and/or the inclusion of interest.

Those on the border of qualifying in the grace period are forced to wait until re-
payment to apply (so they will qualify), which causes phone calls or letters to
answer questions.

The process is mail oriented. All paperwork must be signed. The characteristics of
the population are trunsient and mail forwarding causes delays which create proc-
ess hold-ups and redundancies. -

Each problem that arises causes a phone call between the borrower and Sallie
Mae. This results ip the use of a considerable amount of customer service time and
causes delays whié{: affect product delivery on the scheduled date. This affects the
amount required to pay the underlying debt in full.

Certificates are returned with the borrower portion incomplete. Because OP-
TIONS is a GSL loan and the OPTIONS documentation supports the validity of the
underlying loan, in the event of a future tlaim the application cannot Re processed
without a signed certificate. ‘
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We must call the borrower or creditor to obtain the information (creditor name,
address, and borroyer balance). .

“Each call on avdfage lasts 15 minutes and requires 2 tries.
~ Creditors often delay Teturning certificates to Sallie Mae.

We must send a letter to the borrower advising of the delay and the potential
effect it will have on the closing schedule.

.Delays cause pay-off datestohe missed. .. ...,
R The delay causes additional interest accruals, and makes certificate updates nec-
essary. ‘

Delays require calls to creditors and/or borrowers.

Some creditors~have trouble completing the certificate or confuse the program
with a loan purchase program.

Creditors confuse grace, deferred, delinquent,and default statuses, and report
them in error. .

They will call the consolidation center for help.

They will refuse to verify the certificate because it is viewed as competitor request
as opposed to a client request.

Letters to follow-up these delays are often met with resistance, creating additional
follow-ups and delays.

When borrowers are notified that their creditors have not returned the certifi-
cates, and are urged to contact the creditor to remedy the situation, they call Sallie
Mae to ask help in getting the institution to cooperate in the consolidation process.

This requires additional phone conversation with the borrower, and requires a
call to the bank, school, or guarantor.

When all of the borrowers certificates are returned, the certificates are often re-
turned with different debt levels than the borrower indicated on the application.
This may cause: Calls to the borrower or creditor, or a restart of the certificate proc-
ess. .

At times, certificates will indicate the borrower is delinquent or in default. A de-
. cline will result and may generate a call from the borrower. .

Some statuses are obviously in error and are remedied by contacting the creditor.

Once all of the certificates are reviewed and verified as complete, the promissory
note is prepared and sent to the borrower.

. Borrowers sometimes hesitate to sign the promissory note when they receive it
because: ’

This is the first time they may have seen the full disclosure of all debt, and they
are unsure il is accurate.

They want to select a different repayment schedule.

This causes missed payoffs, requiring certificate updates and generation of new
promissory notes.

If the note is not signed and sent back to us within the allowed time, the borrower
misses’ the payoff date. This requires: Certificate updates, communication with the
borrower and all creditors, and a new promissory note.

The GSLP is theoretically a national unifo . system of loans. In reality it is not.
Every guarantor has a slightly different set d ggi& to be followed in the creation of
the documentation of a GSL. Implementation 3™ state-by-state basis is subject to
diverse state statutory and regulatory procedures. This has created substantial serv-
icing problems in the GSLP. Lack of uniformity in the GSLP means that each set of
rules requires a different servicing system, and creates uncertainty as to the avail-
ability ?)(}Servicing capacity over the life of a student loan.

The potential for crippling complexity for borrowers, students, lenders, and ser-
vicers 18 inherent in the loan consolidation concept unless a nationally uniform
system is mandated. Because loan consolidation ofl{:rs the student a variety of re-
payment plans, in length of repayment and amount of payment, the permutations
and combinations are limitless. For example, if Sallie Mae offers three OPTIONS to
the student with a certain level of indebtedness, one fixed repayment and two differ-
ent graduated repayments; state A may offer five; lender B, two; etc. None of these
may be identical or even similar except in respect to the basics such as interest rate.
This will create the necessity for different servicing computer routines for each type
of consolidated loan most of which will probably be incompatible. Therefore, an ex-
}sting system,. such as Sallie Mae has, will be unable to service non-conforming
oans.

Further, the documentation, the form# and procedures can vary widely; they do
in GSL, and the potential is vastly greater in consolidation. Lenders in confirming
loans and providing documentation necessary to determine indebtedness would be
faced with multiple sets of guidelines and documents which may tend to inhibit co-
operation and support for consolidation. Borrowers may be presented with innumer-
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able choices for consohidating their indebtedness, each shightly different, leading to
conlusion and artifically mhibiting the borrower from taking advantage of consoli-
dation This confusion may also aflect the overall financing plans as early as high
schoel because of the uncertainty of the terms and conditions which will be avail-
able to repay student loan debt.

We believe o national uniform system is an absolute necessity in this program. To

_allow a proliferation of non-conforming paper will overburden an already strained

servicing system. Mortgages have moved in precisely the opposite direction. there s,
now a national system ol documentation for home mortgages. Such a concept is pos-
sible for student loans and an absolute necessity for loan consolidation. At a mini-
mum. however, we sincerely believe the standards for loan consolidation must be
uniform if we are not to create a bewildering array of non-conforming programs
which will confuse students, and create havoe for the delivery system. .

We have reviewed the testimony of Dr. Edward Elmendorf of May 25, 1983, pre-
senting the views of the Departinent of Education on student loan consolidation. As
you requested. we have set forth below our reaction to those concerns. We believe
the technical concerns can be easily resolved and we suggest that the cost to the
federal government is a policy determination best left to Congress

Dr. Elmendorf’s testimony discussed several problems: w&n the current law au-
thorizing Sallie Mae’s OPTIONS Program. The 7 percent interest rate for the cur-
rent consohdation program ought to be adjusted. We have testified that the interest
rate could match the borrower's GSL interest rate without creating a disincentive to
the program and would endorse such a statutory change.

Sallie Mae is not currently consolidating either ALAS or HEAL loans. We do not
believe that the concept of weighted average interest rates is a viable one. Under
the current Sallie Mae OPTIONS Program, borrowers are provided 48 different pay-
ment plans to match the new paymerits with their particular financial situation. “{
believe that maximum borrower participation in the financial decision helps reduce
the likehihood of default. If weighted rates were applied, the number of permuta-
tions and combinations of monthly payments would be infinite, and the borrower
could not be informed up front of the new payment schedules until alter the new
pronussory notes were generated. The federal government interest billing currently
requires that the bill be itemized by stated interest rate and separated by their
origination date (some loans have a different special allowance payment rounding
formula depending on the date originated). It would be extremely difficult to accu-
rately generate and control the government interest billing il weighted rates are re-
ported to and must be validated by the Department of Fducation. The reduction in
monthly payments to horrowers would virtually be nil, while the administrative
complexities would be substantial. ‘

The Department points out that, hs written, the statute applies all the require-
ments of section 427 of the Act to the loan consovlidation program. We believe these
requirements should be reviewed and the loan consolidation program be cxempted
from those which are not viable such as the student endorsement provision. We will
be pleased to review these technical points with your staffs.

\Be agree with the underlying concern of the Bepartnmnt on the establishment of
flexible repayment terms; that there be a national uniform system. However, we do
not agree that the statute, as written, allows Sallie Mae or would allow any other
lender offering consolidation to unilaterally disregard statutory provisions as to the
terms of repayment. We would note, however, that as the Department has been the
sole guarantor of our consolidation loans, we have béen able to agree, as a condition
of the guarantee, to appropriate limitations not only in this respect, but ih other
technical issues such as that discussed in the preceding paragraph.

The Department’s concerns about extension of loan consolidation to other lenders
are primarily of a policy nature. We would note in this connection that Sallie Mae
does not receive administrative cost allowances, it is funded on a [ully taxable basis,
and pays federal income taxes. As we have stated, Sallie Maé neither requests nor
requires a monopoly. We leave this policy determinations to the Congress.

3 Dr. Elmendorf noted, there are significant costs to the federal government
from existing programs financed through the issuance of tax-exempt securities. The
Estimate of Federal Tax Expenditures prepared for the Committee on Ways and
Means and the Committeeron Finance in March, 1983, by the staff of the Joint Com-
mittee on Taxation, states that the exclusion of interest on state and local govern-
ment student loan bonds will cost the federal government more than $2.6 billion in
revenues foregone during IFiscal Years 1983-1988. This is based on continued use of
revenue bonds to finance the GSLP and is actually understated relative to the
amount of bonds currently outstanding. In addition, the state agencies which are
financed through the issuance of revenue bonds, and which earned approximately
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$150 mullion in Fiscal Year 1982, are exemp? from federal income tax on these prof-
its. This substantially increases revenue lost to tRe federal government. In order to
offset these losses, in 1980 Congress reduced the special interest allowance by half
for those loans prospectively acquired or originated by tax-free entities. However,
the experience of the past three years has shown the federal revenue loss potential
from state agency tax-exempt revenue bonds was substantially greater than antici-
pated. Department of Education data indicates that there were less than $1 billion
of loans e{igible for the half special allowance during the first quarter of Fiscal Year
1983 Assuming that these were all 7 percent loans, the first quarter offset to the

ﬁ[}deral government in reduced special allowance payments was approximately $&
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million. Assuming that these loans were 9 percent, which is more probable, the fed-
eral offset was approximately $3.5 million. Based on Congressional Budget Office
(CBO) and Office of Management and Budget (OMB) interest rate forecasts for the
next five years, the halved special interest allowance savings will remain minimal
relative to the billions of dollars of revenue losses to the federal government. Addi-
tionally, bec&use the minimum yield on student loans to tax-exempt entities has
heen set at 9% percent, while other holders have a minimum yield of 9 percent on
the sanie loan, under the interest rate forecasts there will actually be periods
during the next five years When the U.S Treasury will be providing additional sub-
sidy.

We have had the opportunity to review the testimony of Mr. Morton E. Henig,
Senior Associate Director, Human Resources, General Accounting Office, before the
Joint Committees on May 25, 1983. Mr. Henig and his associates spent many
months c¢valuating the student loan consolidation program and Sallie Mae's man-
agement of the OPTIONS Program. We look forward to receiving the final report of
this study from GAO and believe that it will indicate that loan consolidation is a
worthy program and that Sallic Mae has administered its responsibility fairly and
in a manner that is consistent with its legislative mandate. :

[t 15 important to note that in the GAQ report various state agencies have indicat-
cd the capacity to provide a loan consolidation program and that they have the fi-
nancial and operational wherewithal to accomplish this task. The GAO did conclude
that the state agencies appear to have the financial ability because of their success
in marketing low-yielding, tax-exempt student loan revenue .bonds. However, it is
our understanding that the GAQ did hot audil or test the assertion that systems
and controls are already in place or that consolidation was similar to functions cur-
rently being undertaken by the states, thereby reaching a GAO conclusion relative
to the operational capacity of the state agencies. The GAQ report stated that, “Ac-
cording to officials of the eight state programs, their program functions for servic-
ing, purchasing. and making student loans are similar to those required to consoli-
date louns. . . " This statement was reported. rather than confirmed by GAQ anal-
ysis. Based on our experience, we think it most unlikely that the capacity to operate
a consolidation program currently exists. However, we do not believe that perform-
ing loan consolidation is beyond the capacity of others to initiate, assuming an ap-
propriate expenditure {or staff, systems, and controls.

Mr Henig's report also makes clear that the GAQ was not able to perform an
analysis of the costs to the federal government associated with the extension of the
program to entities financed by tax-free securities. However, it should be foted that
studies by the Treasury Department, the CBO, the Joint Committee on Taxation,
and the testimony of Dr. Edward Elmendorf of the Departmgnt of Education on
May 25, 1943, before this Committee on behalf of the Administration, have conclud-
ed that there is a significant loss of revenue to the federal Treasury through the
issuance of tax-exempt revenue bonds for this purpose.

We have begun to notify borrowers who have already applied for consolidations
scheduled to occur after August 1 of potential problems. We are especially con-
cerned that certain borrowers in repayment whose current level of indebtedness is
close to the statutory minitmums may lose their entitlement to a consolidation loan
if their outstanding balance drops below $5,000 or $7,500 during any temporary mor-
atorium on the program. The following notice is now provided to all applicants:

“IMPORTANT NOTICE

“As with many federal program, Congressional authorization for loan consolida-
tion includes a program termination date. This authorization expires on August 1,
1983. .

“Sallie Mae has been advised in connection with recent Congressional hearings on
reauthorization, that the Congress will make every effort to extend the program .
prior to the August 1, 1983, termination date. llowever, in the event that this exten-
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sion is delayed, it will be-necessary for Sallie Mae to postpong the final steps in
processing your application. In the unlikely event that a change in our authoriza-
tion that affects your application occurs, we will notify you promptly. We recom-
mend that you submit your application upon receipt with the assumption that a
timely reauthorization will be forthcoming > a

Thank you for your interest in Sallie Mae—OPTIONS.”

We hope you will be able to proceed swiftly with this lagnsluhon so that we may
continue to offer consolidation.

We are, as always, available to provide any technical assistance you or your staffs
require. We hope you will consider the impact of statutory change on the complex

process of consolidation as you deliberate. Thank you for this opportumty to express
our concerns.
*
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that become delnquent dunng thg consolidation procuss

the Guaraniged Student Loan

| STUDENT LOAN MARKETING ASSOCIATION
'GENERAL INFORMATION ABOUT YOUR APPLICATION

The Prdcess

Alor yivi have reviewed the malena in the package.
your next step s to compi_nlo the apphcation andg setoct
your QPTION Then complete thay 1op Mal’ of the venhicalion

. cartieate ana retura both jhe ppphcation and catthicalg 1o

Satie Mae n the podtage pakl envchr;m provided lo: mal
pilrpose *
Unpon roecent n! yous signed npphranon Satiz Mae w-ﬁ
1) Agsign a schaduied payol! gate 60 days from the day we
reconn Your fckade’ Bng 2) Idwiig e eetlitichtel3) o
youi Creadans) 101 compteton. When your ¢rediorns have
rétumed the Carihicaley we wili prepare a Pmrmsso-y Noe
and mad the new note fa you 101 yQur review and mgnmwn

The prormgsary note will

Shaw how much angd when Salie Mav will pay
cach Credior.
\— -
Disclost the mierds! rate. total 1an araunt.
otal intetagl o be pald. gl the OPTIONS
_repayment schiedale yau selected -

-

- ; .
Whaen you teturn your signed Pronussory NO 10 us wis
will man! the chueck(s) 10 your credittings) for the amounts
stated on the Note fach check will be paygble 10 your
credtor to o apphed aYanst your Studeni loan account
We will nolily you of the check remittanco and explain your
repayment obligations

Within 30 day$ aller you ieceive. this nom‘u you wilt

~teceive your trst bilt lrgin Sathe Mae.

We estimate thot it will lake betwern 45 ond 60 days 1o
comptete the process This liming assumes d quick
tgsponse lton you and your ctaduor(s). Puring this perigd it
Is critieal thai you conlinye nmh:ng payments’ on your ex-
stng Ioan(s)'

Forms Completion

Belore proceeding. pleaso invenlory the package and
maka sure you have all the forms indicated on lne covor 1o}

" ter I you don't <~ cail us @i (800) 446-1000.

Tne application, certikicaie and QPTIONS SELECTOR
hava Instruglions delaiting how, 1o tomplate (or uso) hom,
Some highlights on. each form may be uselut .




O

ERIC

Application

» MNake sure h'r‘uu ludhe yess Socal Secunty oumbar any
SQp and gate e lkrm

* Compiela tha Student Loan infaimanon sechon as best
YyOu AP WHD the amaunt owed does nel have 13 ha
exact by koW yout exact Dalanceis) i wili help
SPEeed up e Ok ess 1 you don tenow e answers to
e Ty yas Iy watl 1Ol yoaf uu.mq&_]’ah)
vty your rocorgst This wili alss belp yo ¢ amnpiete the
Corhbeans actumanon Begoe compare the  hige

TOghory avadable n e OPTIONS SELEC

SO Sl e one that Zeest g yooe neegds AN Thgsn i

droate your cooice e fhe QPTIONS Sechon

Hepayur

Mail The L (o Sathe Mae in Ihe enclosed postage-pard
1ve o

Cartiticates

= The ventoation Gt gte 1< mngitipan lom des.gred
Wy Coly teed He cornpiete the infarmaton one e
Tt 1O s Gsed 16 authinze your Credilons 1 release
mifoneabon about e 4000L) you want mciuged m the
sobdatn Qe ¢ orthcate wili provede intommation tor

up T oo,
-

Mk Suge W mrovides a0 oo aahng address tor

gt creghiion
* Y on IAGST prgvade IR 3 coret intonmanon reguested |
*€ [he toem MEFST be SIGNED and DATED

= {ne

o the competed Ccettfa ate(s) in e postage-fraxd
eovelope with Ine applicahon and retgrn them hoth to
Saihe Mae

42

OPTIONS Selector

Ttus pamphie! diuslrates the thiee epaymant  plans
avalable 10 you The number of diferent monthly pay-
ments you may choose ltom s based on your totat oul-
standing batances This buoklet 1s providod as a guide 10
axs you in youe selection The amount of monthly pay-
ments may aitfer shghtly tiom that on your Promissory
Note Assuming your estienated balance 1s cofrect and
AYreas with your Creditorns) and you us;.‘ ihe seiaciorn poop-
ety your OPTIONS Peormissory Note and repayment
siheduie will rellect ihe ol‘sn atd Monitly payment teim
yCu Chose
ra

Your New Loan

When your toans are consohidated the new OPTIONS
0an you 1eceve wil be from Saliie Mae the OPHONS
a0 wilt be a GLi beanng a % nterest rale (Annual
Percentage Rate) Your new OPTIONS loan enters 1epay-
ment status the day itrs meade and the first payment will bo
due wilhir 80 Jays of the dale 1he check(s) are maided to
your creditons)

IMPOATANT I Every eftan will be made 1o remit the
payoll amaunlt 10 the creditor on the scbedulad date Qc
casionally. however the exacl amoun! required 10 pay the
old loan will not be remitted bacause the payment s not
recewed on the onginally scheduled date 1o the event of
underpayment of overpaymoent o 15 your (@sponsibility 1o
resolve any ditference with your crediior and to 1ake the re-
Quied achon 1o pay the old 1oan in tyil

Since the new 10an 15 3 GSL. the NDSL tenehits® you
now hava wil no Innger be apphcatile The NDSL(s) you
consohdated wiare pard m 1ol (5;(':(-, mportant note above)
However, you wiil be eligible 10 the GSL benelits® that
exisl when you consolidate Your ORTIONS toan ill bear

- the same basic benofils as other GSL lbans and you will

have the same basic ;lgms and tesponsibiities to Salhe
Mae as you dud to your previous GSL credniors. Thase will
b detaned in the Promissory Noto. You should be aware
that f you consolidate an NDSL loan. you will lose the
lower NDSL interes! rate and lorgivengss of repayment dug
o teacthing -

“See the enciosed bunclits chart to g descupton of these
banelts ]
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APPLICATION INSTRUCTIONS

IMPORTANT: Detach this sheet, carefully read the instructions that {othw, and retain for kiture rofereace Type or print

v

This Informalion can bo oblained lrom the Repay-
ment Scl te or Digclosure Statement provided
by your creditor

* # Payments—the (otal numbar of payments.

¢ Monthly or Quarlerty—how often you make
each payment

* 'ﬁaymenl Amount—amoynt of each payment

The amount now outslanding with each creditor
(principal plus unpaid accrued interesl, il any)

The sum of each column In the appropriate Tolal

block .

NOTE: ltem 11 “Tolal"" must be.al least $5.000 to
be aligibi lor consolidation.

\
clearly gl information requested
- TWO EASY STEPS
i .
O Step 1 Compiate alt items i the Apphcalion -
mmum Step 2 Mail the application 1o Sallie Mae imgdfdiataly n -
P the enclosed poslage-paid envelopa . '
< - s
m ".m N
O No. ENTER THE FOLLOWIP_&G INFOnk_!ATION:
g 1. Your name and complele address ‘ , — - e et s e i
o B 2 Your social secutity number must be given. i in- © | ,
compieta, the apphcation will be returned 7)) Tt s sameres sascounon
. 3 Your birthdate 4 ’
’ 4 A lalephona number where you can be reathed 9
dunng the day hours® b
‘ o -
5 A talophone number whare you can be reached QO e
~ during the evening hours e
N STUDENT LOAN INFORMAYION
6. The full name of each of your studenl loan crodi '
. tors o whom you are sending ceitificates.
7 Either —GSL™ (Guaranteed Student Loan) or
“"NDSL™ (National Direct or Delense Loan)
depending on the student loan program under
which the corresponding ioan was made Other
studonl loan programs do not qualily for consolida-
tion undor the OPTIONS program
’ ) ) 4
8 Tho initials ol the guarantee agency which insured
your ‘GSL student loan. Reler to the guarantee
agency codes on the reverse side of the certilicate
v i you o not know hese iniltials Enter “NJA™ il cor-
' responding loan Is an NDSL toan
9. The original principal amount of each loan
10. Original Payment Terms. Enter in the correspond
ing biocks the repayment tarms lor each account .
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SCHOOL INFORMATION

3 i3 Your graduation/school sepasation date m the ap
b propriate blocks

*

14. The name and addross of lm_a iast schoo! you
attended

b 4 15 Tho tast degree you sought For exampte BA. BS, ’ ' .
MBA. MD, JD. etc Enter one ol the foltowing codes ' \ ’ v i
pr your major course ol study . SO PR, ;

- 16 Code Classlfication Code
01 Agriculture/Natural Resources EE] Arepr sus wamerwe sssonanee .
L T e e

“ 02  ArtsiCommunication

03 Architecture
04 Business/Finance/Computer Science ’
I3 05 Engineoring/Technicat '
s 06
or

i
)
%}

- pen e

OPTICNS

English/journalism/Foreign L anguage
Farestry/Environmental Science/Geography/ LA - Tom ks o s .
Geology - b .- pR N oee ;{;\m}.., T
08 Hegtth/Medicino/Nursing oo cob . :
) 09 Home Economics
h 16 Law/Government Service/Polilicat Scrence
11 Math/Stalistics
12 Phiosophy/Psychciogy
13 Religion N
14 Scientitic/Library Scrence )
15 Social Sclence/History
18 Tpaching .
17 Trade/Industrial Training
* 18 Other

e PR T

.

17. This item must be completed

EMPLOYMENT INFORMATION
18. - Appropriate dala about your employment status
19. +  Your gmpioyer's name and addresg (it applicable).

REFERENCES

20. Enter the full name and complete mailing address .
of a relative not living with you. R . 4

21. Enter the full name and complele miailing adaress ' ' b AN

of a norftelative not tiving wilh you ]

I .

OPTIONS CHOICE

22 Select your desired repayment Option and enter an
“x in the corresponding box Refer 1o ‘he
OPTIONS Setactor for instruclions and guidance in
selecting the right option for your clrcumstances

23. Enter the lerm (number of months) you desire for N ) o

: your OPTIONS repayment period. Reler lo the > ’

- OPTIONS Selector for assistance in making the ap-
propriate choice

- NOTE: if you fall to complete these items, Sallie
Mae will give you OPTION | with [he shortest term ”

24 Sign and date the Application and relumn both
coples {o Sallle Mae
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STUDENT LOAN MARKETING ASSOCIATION
LOAN 'CONSOLIDATION APPLICATION

& ©APLERRT MAMT e ‘ T SOUBL BECURTY NowmR o
¥ O | TMEEY JHBS Bow T T . - | ODATEOF pmT e - e

T J L"’f.m)uﬁ'sm?*'“ R (‘Tﬁi

4

CUNRANTOR CHUGINAY o . DGR PAYMINT TEAMS LSTMAYED
K oY) PRINCIDAL exitaduo oa e 7 AMOUNT | CURITRT DALARGE
” 3 13 x

CREMTOR MAVE A

U T

o woiams | - 3 s
A VOU GRADUATEE O CEASE 7(5 MO s oatt wst amaoio - .
ENNOL DENT 1 [3 & w0 powee oATE - N " LAS! DEGAT SOUBTIIOMMALTED
. w00 W
NAME AT ADORE TS O X - - : -
LASY SCHXR ATTENDYD — R . ) s | wo
08 70U USL ANY OF Tl AV .
e LOANS 10 FIIANCE GHADUATE o
I . A - LV STUDWS®
MO
. \
/ YER' O -
s vou now ewaoveer [ 3 {1 non AUAL SAARYVE
M Y ; -
¥ sty PARY.TE
s e ] 01 . ‘
: EVRLOVER
EUNOVER NANE - 1ELLPonE b
AND ADOIXES ) R
NAME AND ADDRESS OF . NALK AND ADDRESS
AGATVE 0T AIBHO WITH YOS I NON RLATIVE
. ’ -
3
iealn o - i . L v . e N B p— = =
Lok . edzeze gan o JULEPHONE £ i Stcirs. FREHORFT T

OPTION 1 QPHION OPTION it |
. SHORIER TIIM | OFTIOHS TR
v LEVEL DEPAYIM NT D © GRADUATED DEPAYWENT GRADUATLD NEPAYULNT ! WUVOER OF MONIRS) . _ e

Drogram

cartily (hat tha abova (Nlarmalion ig lrue 200 cOfrect 1 have cead the acr“unyinq In31uctions ang ungarsiang My righls ang fesponsibiftios yndas the OPTIONS

ywhichmiay tineyorimprisonmentunder

7
‘BETURN BOTH COPIES TO

Any y
theUntedStates Crmmnai Coge ang 20USC 1087 4

AT ’ oA : STUDEN T LOAN CONSOLIDATION GENTER
' P 1600 .
t.ﬂ. FOMS 10 8 .
’ ! 'c \MERMIFIELD. VIRGINIA22116
. -
. . :

’ '
! ’ .
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: N
STUDENT LOAN MARKETING ASSOCIATION
‘LOAN CONSOLIDATION VERIFICATION CERTIFICATE . 7
g , ‘ ‘ ] !

- . Oear Sty /{m 0an Cradilos - S
' 1 . X x

: O The FIOVRL igentified in 1his cendicate has requested that Sallie Mae consotdate certam of higier esgible sluden‘l loans In ordor .
- : for Sg e Mae Rrprovicie that service Ior yout customer o is necessa-y 1or you to complele Part H of the cerlificate . o
. 1 /.'in oftort 1o meke o aasy {0 you to hetp your chent, we have inctided -'hslluclions tor cnn\blenon ol the form After the information ' J
N h .

‘boen comploted. s#nply have the approprate otfical sign the form and mait it 10 Saie Mae w the enciosed posiage-paig envelope
Gt Mae wi Ihen campiete the procossiig ol Ihe appticant's request Hoth Sailie Mae ang the apphcant thank you for your assistance
this matter -

GENERAL INFORMATION . / - i
. . i A
OPTIONS The Sate Mae toan Consolidation Program. is designed {0 assisl studen! botrowers v'neeung thexr sepaymant obliga
BNy on theat shadenl ans made under the Guaranteed Student Loan {GSL). Nanonat Delense or Direct Student Loans (NDSL) and/or
- Federal Insured Student 1 oan (F ISL) Programs Bortowaers who owe over $5.000 10 more than dng creditor or who have loans made
. uhder any combination of 1he programs, of who have toang mage under ihe GSL only but which are insureg by more ihan gne guarantee
2gency are chigibhe for copsotidation m the OPTIONS program Also, Borrowers who owe more than $7 500 are ahgiblte wilhout rggard

h muthple sourca roquiements

Under the OPTIONS program. the applicant apphes directly to Sallie Maa for. the consalidation nm_xislhe'r qualiticd studant foans The :
enclused ceriicate must be compieted by your insitlulian n erder 1o completa tha consolidation q'mcess {Ptease nete, your borrowar
has sgned the form fequosting eolease ol the ilormation to Sallie Mae } When alt certdicates hav@heceniecotved. a promissery nole in
he agyregate ameunt of the qualfying cartihicates is issued fo the borower.

) This cadtibicate s ngcossary 1o vbtain an accurata record of Ihe applicanl’s current student than obligatrons and 1o di ine the
7 v oyt amhount tor your sstilylion Prase cnv{lplcm atl of Part if ol this certificate and return to Satlie Mae promptly

: NOTE: The payol! dale is o date assigned by Sattip Mae We advise all borrowers to cortinge meeling their obligalions with R
- . then Sredinnis) untd ihey sre nohbed that the consatkdalon processing s completed Howbver, 1o assure that your ingily. . ~
sops padw luilb Calculate the payal! figure assurming that no futther payments will be mzld? i youreceive a payment lrom
N e pphcant alicr complehng iy certilcate, post e account m the usual myanner Whan you recene the OPTIONS check
Tor the payolt amuount and o ovemays the account, please refund the overpayment amount to Ihe apphcant.

. .
T CERTIFICATE COMPLETION INSTRUCTIONS

Hefore comptelng Part il of this torm, please Feview PafLt. the apphcant’s pottean 10 Insure that you have adequate infoimation to

e " compiets Past Il Contact iy botiowor at I phone nuniber fisted on thé torm if you cannot process the form bocause of insutticient in- A
o Tormahon ot f there 15 8 Sgmilicant discreparicy belween yaur insululion’s fecords and those of the appticant, By expaditing the comple-
b O g tore you can wmsue e payolt check +eaches yous slilation on or helote Ihe scheduled payolt date *

' CHECK OR ENTER THE FOLLOWING INFORMATION:

of oan il necessary .

ACCOUNT NUMBER: Entes your nstitubion’s corract account number if giiferent than tisted by the applicant

3 GUARANTOR: For each loan made under Ihe GSL Program. enter the initials ol the guaranteé¢ agency which insuigs the toan
! 7 Rater 10 the guarantee agancy codes table on the reverse sido bl ihe Ceruticate’ -

/d SLMA OWNED?: Check the appropriate box o indicato i the toan 5 already owned by Satlic Mag

SUBSIDIZED?: Check tho appropnate box (o indicate i The toan has beon ehgle for federal intefest benehts while the applican!
/" was ifi-5chgol, graca and deferment status. . -

8 DATE OPENED: Entgi the dale the foan was made {t1 Ihe 16an ta now in fepayment entef the date of the conversion )
T ORIGINAL AMT: Enter the originat principal amounl of each foan : .
8 INTEREST RATE: Enter the repayment miprost rate 101 he kan .
9 STATUS: Refer tp the status code 1able 0 jhe 1oim alid enter the appropiate code A detaull status st be indicated i Ihe loan I
i delaull regariiess of the recont payment history . .
1 LAST PAYMENT MADE: Enter Ihe date the ipst payment was fmade sl thg appicant ss making repayments of princigal and inler ast
17 NEXT PAYMENT DUE: Enier the date the applicant's lustadx! paymient 1s due -
/ 12 CURRENT PRINCIPAL: Entor the amount of gulstanding prncipa) as of the payoll date assunming that no raymenls will bo made
13 INTEREST DUE: Calcutate and anter the amount of unpaid averued interest oulsignding as of he payoll data also assuming that

19 payment will be made. (4 1he Loan ig based on a discdunted method of eatnings and.a rebate will be gue. idenlity 1he dmount ol
the rebate- 2 this block ) . . .

'4 UNCOLLECTED LATE CHARGES: Enter the amount of unpad ate chatges i apphcable

15 TOTAL PAYQFF: Sumi ihg currant principal and inletest due amounts and enter that amount (i* a rgbate was gue rom step 13~
ubwrhct grut entet the dilferpnece) Thig tigure is the amount you regnta [or the biorrowier 10 pay Ing loan iyl on the schaduted pay-
¢t gaie .

&, PAYOFF REMITTANCE SHOULD BE MADE PAYABLE TO: Complate this secter onty «f payments lom the apphcant are 1o be

« made payaliv 1o an inshilyhion ditlerent than provided by tha applicant It the an s an N{ISL please dicate the sehool which will

receng cregt for the paymen! .

t7 PAYMENT REMITTANCE ADDRESS IF DIFFERENT FROM ABOVE: Gomplate this echan onty « paymants trom (he apphcant

L at¢ 380t 16 a6 addiess giterent than provided by 1 apphicanl . i L

. 18 CREDITOR CERTIFICATION: Entor the name. titte and felephono number of the olbcal who ras completnd and veritied ihis intor-
manocn Sqgn and date i cetuticate on the approprate “nins. ’ .

19 anVjpuv mad tha cefticate 1a the Student Loan Gonsoidation Contes in the poslage pads anvelope

Lt Venly the aceount nuntber and type of ioanmindiated by checkmg the appropnate box Please correct account number(syandtype

N

W

N e ’ . X . .
Ttk appkeant dnd Baitte Man.appretsile your asyistance  completing thes foim
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sm STUDENT LOAN MARKETING ASSOCIATION > : 3
. — LOAN CONSOLIDATION YERIFICATION CERTIFICATE = ° :
DIOGAM Oerad by Rakie Mas whides which ROrTwesd ay 3pBYy 104 & WAN 18 (QNSOldaly SuliAMging 104ns made Sursuant 10

23 arentef] The putgoee of Iy (oses 13 lo OBLMN vea hoaton of the GiQdTy 1Dr [QOAOLIELAA OF the DOT-OWET ) GuTIIA
Yang Prot 1 b7 Ihe hgtter of the w-p—“u 1oans "CradTie ) Preass type or cobl with bal

" GENERAL INIORD‘A"ION QFNONE
TS IV AT s Mg Telwiatadn AST oF 1

ety TEAT e o T for ruw DY e oI T

N
LY
t ~ -
- a
‘ PO e v - Wt o T P
) KD} soca security ho | N
g \ . ) L A L = ]
AL AN STATEY / T 7 T
o : 4w B O R O N T
® . _ACCOUNT NUMDER BALANCE(S)  fnomfas |- .
» {CREDITOR #1 . 1 e '
SR U S S —
®|creniTQR X )
.
.
b e e - —1 ]
e ]2
* TRGVEN ar Stgdy ” . e B R S B .
N -~
[TV T T e e R T T R T T 3 A
\ . @ ToraL [
o \ ) «Q
)3
e t am appliysng 1o sl.,. Max Tor the consoldatan of my student loan(s) Lsted here § herasby sequest and authorize the disciosure 1o Satiie Mss of any infor- -
mALON oA my sludent 10an(3) listed hate which Satlie Mae needs 85 PATT of its OPTIONS Loan Conaolidation Progrem . ’
L4
. “ v -
@ _— .

R DATE

y CERTIFICATE INSTRUCTIONS

.

Please complulc- al o! the above tnlormation Type or print clearly (pmss hard with bait point pon} Con\plum ine fol-
luw-ng information -

1 Your luu nang and complelo maiting addross. ) . ©
* 2 Alglephone number whare you can be reached during the day hours .

3 Atetephone number whore you can be roached during the evening hours. R 2

4 Yaur social secunty number . . ’

5 The full name a;\d coinplole mailing sddress of one creditor you want o incfude in Lhis consolidalion.

Nato. Il you are making paymonts to a servicing agent of the craditor, plugsu ontor tho sdrvicing ngunls
nana Tho address you enter shoutd be tlhe same address whero you now send paymonts

G. The account number assignod 1o your loan(s) by your creditos. Thi§ number will assist your craditor to locate
« your loan records and process 1he cortificate it you do not know your accounl nuinber, enter “unknown”.

4 Note:  Allhough oach loan should be lisled separaloly. you nged no! repoat lho nccounl number if it is the
-

s samo lor alt of your loans with the croditor . ’
‘ ¥

\ 7 The balance now oulstanding on the loan if you hava niore than one loan and yous creditor has consolidated the
individual loan batances ino one ropayment schedute, you may enter e aggrogate amoum oulstanding

8 Chack “NDSL? “GSL” (FISL 2 a type of GSL) depending on the lypd of student loan program undor which tho N

2

corresponding loan was made
9 Ropeat steps 5-8 for each of your creditors.
10. Sum he individuat balancos and enter Lhe total amount in the tolat box.

-

! 11 Sign and daié corttlicate .

Roview the corlificate, and make sure thal alt of 1he above items have been completed dnd are accurata. Contact the
Consnlidation Conter if yo\ need assiatance in comploting Lhis form. Roturh alt parts of Ihis form and the apptication to the

Consohdalion Centar in tho\snclosed envelope.

MEARIFIELO, IRGINIA 22116

R{TURNTO  ~
} STUDINT LOAN CONSOLIDATION CENTER
. PO BOX 1600
(800) 445-4000

33 -

s

0 :
g vl‘,\‘.«-f@'“*n\"é"’ s Suia N{u QTR




M . STUDENT LOAN MARKETING ASSOCIATION o
’aAN CONSOLIDATION VERIFICATION cem‘mc&s .

GEMERAL INPORMATIQM: OFTIONS i » progim nlfscad by Satha Mas under whad BOITgMors may spply (or 3 loan to condoldate wuwmq oans mod- pursuant to
I*hNdwth(&MMQM|“§' F-m o

Puipoes, o this torm is IO Obisan vairticakon of 1he elgubitty tos
Suterd s0ans Fart [07 s 1 3 10 be COMPARed by the Borrower ("Applicant™) 3ed Past Il By the holder of (be bocower's 0ans (*Crediior) Plou‘ typs or pnnl with ball 1

ety

N
<
O
-
o
o

A o APPLICANT NAME AND Al ) 1 [ DAY¥INE TELEPHONE | EVENING TELEPHONE
o
L Tor T v T T 1T o e
L
3
o RO GIBRYREGY T T T T T T T S e e e g
ry . K
I et e e )
Ciry i ATATE m e « . CHECK ORT
e e e - - L BAANCES)  Jwost | ost |
CREDITOR # 1 - t
~ - t
- - - - PRSP SEE——
-
CREDITOR: PLEASE VERIFY ACCOUNT NUMBER(S) ANDITYPE OF L OAN
0 INFORMATION OK Asts ¥ ,
N : : . [J CHANGES
4
- ¢
. ~ ’ .
. v - .
v . - s
1am applying 1o Saltee Mar ‘o the coasolidation of my studeni fosn(s) tsled hers | haiaby request and lu(;)ul'x- the disclosurw 10 Saltis Mae of any iafor-
aelion va my studenl LGanis) 131ed here which Sathe Mss needs 23 pant of 3 OPTIONS Loan Coasolxtaliod Program
+ ¥ . Lt .
AFPLICANTS SIGNATORE 7 TTUTOATE |
PART il TO BE COMPLETED BY THE CREDITOR ]
CREDITOR PLEASE NOTE. Total pay-ofl is the amount you would require - ,
B - . the borrower 1o ramit 1o pay his/her loan in full as of the date o the jalt.
- [ ACCOUNT #t T ACCOUNT #2 ] ACCOUNT i3 | ACCOUNT #4 | ACCOUNT 5 |-
\ ACCOUNT NUMU[‘R o o . B IS
= STA'IUS JUR R - ) B .
- .B&u: SR SRSV PO —— -
OWNLD? Qyes O wNo 1 (JYER (O NO | “ YES . [ NO (1 YE§ ~ ] NO
SUBSIDIZED? £yeg N0 | [)YESs [ NO {) YEs L1 NO 8] VE‘ " L) NO
| __DATE OPENED | ] .
omnmm AMY
- AME 1. e - R .
—_— - -~ - - - - . - — L]
T >
Tmienestour f T T D T
o110 -5 dwans | ¢ o - .
~dotaveavorr NS J§ $ $ $
. . o ' . » 13
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Sludent Loan Marketing Association
?’ROMISSORY NOTE/PROMISE TO PAY

e e e HTIC DOtTOWRT, bromlse to ?iy 10 the Student Loan Marketing Assooation,

(HALE OF OSTIROW .
Ihe janger (at P O Box 1600, Mernhietd Virginia 22816, 05 at such other address as desfinatod by the teader). all ol the pnncpat sum of

$ e 10 WG BateN it s advancod Blus an amouint uqmvnlcnl to daily simpte nterest on the unpard principal batance
Ao raleof . percent pur year | will repay this toan 1 panaadic instatiotents in accordimee wih the Aepaymient Schedule set
torth betow 1T ta 10 pay any ot these amounts whon they are dua. t will olso pay all charges and other’ costs including roasonable at-
Wnoy's fgas - thal arc ponmites by Fidaral iaw and vugnln’i»ons and ara accessary lor the coliection of thase amounts §1 Hlus (oan 3 re-
i fareq for collection 10 an agency that s subject 10 the Tas Dobit Gollectinn I’rucmu Act 3 wilb pay those coltection (osts which do not
eacecd 25 parcent of the unpadd prncipal and accrued interest -
ITEMIZATION OF AMOUNT FINANCEQ
The pvoLouds ol this Ioan wll be aved 1o u1y nll my llnhul-xy on the Tollowing loans

— [ e b o e e e e o e i + g

N~ - Amounl Paid To My Account With
o Creditor Name Student Loan Markaling Assoclstion Amount Paid lo Other Creditors

A - O S —

AMOUNT FINANCED TOTALS A TOTAL B.TOTAL

TOTAL AMOUNT FINANCED {A4B)

The lmounl pag 1o each Creuur ropresents the unpasd-balance disclossd by lho creditos t ynderstand that il alter paymont of the
amqunt. ksted. thure 8 remaiming unpaid bsance of an account credit, 8 my responssbildy 10 rusolve the miatier with the applcable
P 3 0 craditor. |

REPAYMENT SCHEDULEIDISCLOSUR! STATEMENT

ANNUAL PERCENTAGE RATE FINANCE CHARGE Anlounl Flnanch Totat of payments

The amount that will be paid
The amount of the credit pro- | after alf payments bave boen
nmlcosx of the ceedit as a | The dollar amount the credd | vided 1o me or on my behatlf. made as scheduled

yaearly rate % |witcost 3 ______________|%$ $

M Repayment of the 10an will be in monthty mstallments, i1 the same day of 8ach month, acCording 10 the tollowing schedule:

e __paymentsof$ beginning . payménts of § .

beginning _____ .|

e pAYmIGNI3 OF $ '] 0 U pay ot$ begl 9

——————_ paymenis of § _.b '] . pay ol § beg

—— . paymenisof $ bep ['] : pay ol § 0

e RYMIONIS Of § Qi '] . paymants of § _beg 0

and a final paymont of § dus

Late Charge: It & payment {3 late. ! will be chargad $5 or 5% of Iho paymenl. whichever h tass
Prepaymenl i1 § pay off edrly, t will nol have 10 pay a penaity i
See s lull p y note lor addit | terms about nonpuymunl. dofauit, propaymem‘ and prepayment retunds and penatlios '

disbursement of this loan iy not made on thy projecied disbursemaent date_ or If a payment {3 not made as scheduled {eg. i 1 mako a
llle paymont or il tam eninfed to a OEFERMENT), tho londer may adjust the repaymanl schedute.

The landor has provided mo wilh a cOpy of this Promissory Note, the roceipt of which | hereby scknowledge Tha termis 36t lorth on the
19versc 3ide of thia page te pan of Ihis Promissory Note Tho lerma of thls Promissory Note will ba interpreted sccording to the law (20
USC. 107t 1o 1087-2) and Federal reguistions (34 CFR Part 682) that govern the Fedaral Insured Student Loan Program. | will promptly
notily the hotder of this toan, 1n writing, of any change of my name or address

-
- T T T ISiIGNATURE OF BORAROWER) (STREET ADDRESS)

’ - &

{DATE) ciry STATE 2ip CODE
SLCC Form 201 08) Return To. Student Loan Consolidation Centor, P O. Box 1800, Mornlmld VA 22118 :
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The lendor and ) undelsland thal the fotowing terms apply
{o tms foan:

FEDERAL INSURED STUDENT LOAN PROGRAM

v

This Promsswn“ Note 1s evidence of a Federal Insured Stu-
dont Loan which 13 made ursuanl 10 the lgan consolidation
authorily. in  Section F the Higher £ducaton Act of
1985, as amended (20 US 007 -2(0))

PREPAYMENT

L/}

| may, al my ophion and without penally. prepay all or any
pan of the pnncupt\l or accrued interfbst of this loan at any
uma

DEFERMENT

To the extent authonzed by Federal law, payments of prin

cipal will be doferrod after the repayment peuod begns, .

provided 1 comply with the procedural requirements  set
forth wn the Federal regulations goverung thu Federal In-
sured Student Loan Program (RASLP). n the foltowing cir-
cumsiances

1 Whilelam enrolied in—

A Ful-ime study at a school that is participatng n
the ASLP or a school that is an institution of tigher
education or a vocational school and s operated
by an agency of the Foderal Government,

B. A graduate lellowship program approved by the
Secretary of Education {"the Secretary™), or

C A rehabilitaon lraining program for disabled inch-
viduals approved by the Secretary

2 For a period not oxceeding lhree yoars for each of the

{oilowing whita t am -

A On aclive duty in the Armed Forces of the Unitegt
Slales or serving as an officer in thd Conunis-
stoned Corps of the Public Heatth Service: .

B. Sorving as a Peaco Corps volunieer;

C  Serving as a full-ime valuntoer under Title | ol fhe
Domestic Voluntear Seorvice Act of 1973 (ACTION
programs).

D In lull-time voluntder service for an olgnnualron oex-

empt from incomne taxation under Saclion 50|(c)(3)
of the Internal Revenue Code of 1854, which the
Socretary has delermined is comparable lo- %ho
service referred 1o in clauses B and C above, or.

E. Temporarily totally disabled, of unable 10 secure
emfloyment because | am providing care required
by a spouse who is 30 disabled (disability must be
esiablished by a physician's affidavit)

3 For a period not exceeding two yoears while | am sery-
ing in an internship which the Seocretary has dater-
mined is nocessary for me lo gain professional rec-
ognition required to begin prafessional practice of
»ervice

4 For _a single poriod nol exceeding one ypar while | am
conscientiously seeking but unable to find fuli-ume
employment in the United States.

:

BT, 1, b el

To be graniod a dolferment, 1 must provids the Wnder with
wrillen -evidence of my ebglbllny i must subooquonl)y notity
the lander as s00n as the condition for which the determent
wag granted no longor exists.

INTEREST 4

1.1 will be responsible for paymont of all the Interest that
@ccrues on this loan.

2 Tho lendor may add any inlerest that Ig not paid when Il

13 due, and nterest payabls by mo that accrues during
authorized defermont periods, to thy unpald principel
balance of this loan. n accordance with Fedorl rogu-
lations governing tha FISLP ’

LATE CHARQES

W permitied by State law. tha lender may coliect from me &
fate charge il 1 fail lo make-any part of an insiailmant pay-
ment within 10 days after «t 1s due, unless | provide docu-

oo that | am tod 1o have the payment deferrdd
as descrnibed 1n Nims Prormussory No*e. A late chargs may
not excead $5 or 5 percent of an inslallment. whichever
amount 13 less

DEFAULT

:

If 1 defautt on this Toan, the lender may declare the entire .

unpaid amount of the loan, including interest, immadiately
due and payable. A default may also make me Ineligible for
ihe henelts described under the DEFERMENT seclion In
this Promissory Nole. Under the Federal regulations gov-
erning the FISLP, any of the lollowing events could be con-
siclerod a default. my faillure to make a payment when it is
due of. in certain.cicumstances. my failure to nolity the
-1iender of a change in my name, address, or school ensoll-
ment status.

o

DISABILITY OR DEATH T~

1t { become totally and permanently disablad, or if 1 die, my
obtigation to pay any amounl owed on this loan wiil be
cancolled.

CREDIT BUREAU NOTIFICATION

It | dofault on this loan, the Secretary. using the following
procedure, may disclose inlormation about the loan to
credit bureau osganizations after the Secretary has al-
templed to collect the debt from me. il the Sacretary knows
my address. the Socretary must first notify me that such
distlosure will bo made unless | begin or resume payment.
it 1 do not begin or resume repayment within 30 days of

" rocelpt of this notice, or such longer pericd s e Secre-

tary may specify, R Secretary will disclose information

about the loan 10 Credit bureau org-nlnﬂons " the Secn-'

tary does not know my address, the Sk
information about the loan to cmdﬂ buresu omanlanom in
order to loam my addross. The lender musl provide infor-
mation on the repaymen] status of the toan to credit buresu
organizations upon my request.

o

“
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YOUR BENEFITS COMPARISON

The Charl below comparoa the major benglits you may now have wllh the benatits you \mll have whon you consol!dalu S

your cepayment loans under Sallie Mas'3 OPTIONS program.

BENEFIT

Psepayment allowed

Maximum ropaymunl term

Interesi rato

OPTIONS

Cancotlation upon borrower death or
total disammy

Dotferment of pnnclpal payments for

periods when the borrower 1s:

« tn attondance full-time at an
approved educational institution 0

Senving in tha Armed Forces. Pubtic

Hoalth Service. Peace Corps. VISTA

or as a {ull timo voluntasr for certgn

tax-exempt organizations

Sorving an internship which is

required to receive protassionat

recogniiion and begin professional

practice

Temporarily t0taily disabled or unabls

10 sacuro embtoyment by reason of

the care roquirad by a spouse who

is 80 disabled

Seeking bul unable 1o obtam

omploymonl

*

*

x

S-x month grace penod alter dolevmenl
Resnonstbuhly for intorest duning
determent penods listed above and
applicabte grace poriods

Partial or fult cancettalion, over time. of
10an tor Public Servico as.

= A fult-ime toacher in certain public
or othor nonprofit private olementary
or secondary schools

A {ult ume staff momber in certain
preschoot programs ,

A tuli-time teachor of handicapped
chitdren in a public or other nonprofit
private elomentary or secondary
school

A member of the Armed Forces ol the
United States for servicos in an area
that qualifios as an area ol tostiliies

*

.

GSL

YES

up 10 J years

up to 2 years

up to 3 years

up 10 3 yoars

YES
up to 2 yoars

ws N

up to 3 yoars

YES
up {0 12 mos

10 yoars 20 yaam 0
. 4% of 5% 7% 0'.9% 7% or 9% 0
YES YES
YES YES
YES YES

up to 3 yoass

YES
up to 2 years

YES
up 1o 2 years

YES
up to 12 mos

No intergst accruos Borrower pays. un
during thesa periods.

\
YES o N

NO

loss the intorost on
tho loan was paid by
the Government white
the borrower was al-
tonding schoot. 0

Borrowor pays (5]

2

@ Aciual maximum term is based upon tolal 1oan balance.

© i interest rata on GSL 1oans being consolidated is 7%. the OPTIONS toan wiit be at 7%
© Attendance may be on a hail time basis bul must bo at an istitution of migher education .

Q But onty tor toans made batore October 1, 1981

(5] Bul required Interest payments may be deforrgd and added lo the principal amount of tho toan

N
NO ’” NO.
NO NO
NO NO .
a .
NO NO
“ S

A

i

S
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Sallie Mae |
has already help ed
thousands of

student loan
borrowers
cut their monthly
payments by as
much as hallf.

fl’

/
Now let us
help you.
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Introducing the Student
Loan Marketing

Association (Sallie Mae)
OPTIONS Program

Remember how happy you felt when your student
loans came through and eased the worry about
how to pay for school? Now that you've graduated
you may have a new concern—how to repay your
student loans.

Repaying student loans doesn’t have to be over-
whelming, though. With planning and budgeting,
your payments can be manageable, And the Sallie
Mae opTiONS program can help make your loan
repayment even more affordable.

How Sallie Mae helps

In 1972, Congress chartered Sallie Mae to work
closely with lenders to promote the accessibility of
studentloan credit.In 1981, we were autho@rend by
Federal law to create a program that would make
repayment easier for student loan borrowers. This .
new service, called OPTIONS, is another way Sallie
Mae contributes to the national student loan pro-
gram. Under OPTIONS your existing student loans
are combined into one new, manageable, easy-to-
pay loan made under the Federally regulated
Guaranteed Student Loan Program. When you
take advantage of OPTIONS, you help other stu-
dents who need loans because the OPTIONS pro-
gram circulates moneyback to lendinginstitutions
and schoolsto helpthem make new student loans.
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How you benefit

You keep more money each month,

Borrowers who have taken advantage of the
OPTIONS program have reduced their monthly

loan payments by as much as 40 to 50%. This

chart illustrates the average reduction for borrow-
ers who have already benefitted from the oPTIONS
program.

" Average Average Average

Loan Old OPTIONS Monthly
Category Payment Payment Reduction

$5,001- $ 9600 5 58.00 $ 3800

'$7.500 .
$7.501- 122.00 72.00 50.00 .
$11,000 - -
$11,001- - 166.00 96.00 70.00

$15999 8 H

$16000 |-~ 21400 123.00 91.00

ormore

These savings mean increased financial flexibility
for you and more money to spend on the things
you need now.

You pick the terms of your repayment.

There are three different OPTIONS repayment
plans to choose from. With each plan you write
one check, once a month to Sallie Mae. In the next
few pages, we’ll explain each plan.

Howyoubecome eligible

To find out if you're eligible, first add up the ap- - "
proximate amount of money you still owe on your

GSL, NDSL, or FISL* loans which are in good

standing and which you want to combine. Keep in

mind that you don't have to combine every loan

you hold. Just as long as the amount adds up to

more than $7,500, you are eligible for opTIONS.

By

If the amount adds up to more than $5,000, but

less than $7,500, you are eligible, but only if your
- loans are from more than one lender, program, or N R

guarantor. = :

*Only Guaranteed Sludent Loans (GSL). National Direct (Delease)
StudentLoans (NDSL). snd T ederally Insured Student Loans tFISL } qualify

80 BEST cury
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How the

program works

Sallie Mae pays off your existing student loans
and creates one new loan. If you choose, you can
have more time to repay this loan than you had

with your original loans. These additional months
to repay mean lower monthly payments.

There are three opTIONS repayment plans to
choose from. Your ‘choice should be based on
how much you can budget each monthyfor your
loan payment, how long you want to take to repay
your loan, and your income expectations f9r the
future. ' 2

OPTION 1: With OPTION 1, your monthly payment
amount will be the same for the entire term of
the loan. This amount can be considerably less
than the total amount you are currently paying.
And you select the payment that best fits your
budget. You'll never pay any more than the
amount you select. So as your income rises, it's
good to know that your monthly payments won't.

OPTION 2: With oPTION 2, your payments start
out low and increase gradually. So if you've just
become established in your career, this may be
the plan for you. It makes your payments manage-
able now and still affordable later. And, within
certain limits, you select how long you want to
take to repay your loan. As a result, you can

control your cash flow. 5

6?1'!0!1 3: With opmion 3, your monthly pay--

ments start out low, then increase more rapidly
than with oPTION 2. So if you expect your earning
power to rise quickly, you can pay off your loan
with fewer payments. And like OpTIONS 1 and 2,
you can choose, within certain limits, how long
you want to take to repay your opTiONS loan.




How to choose
_your OPTIONS

The chart below helps you approximate your
monthly payment under each oPTION. These are
the lowest possible payments for each loan
amount and they are based on the maximum
number ofmonths you cantake to repay your loan.

~ To see how the OPTIONS program works, find the
amount closest to ‘what you currently owe. The

maximurm amount of time you can take to repay

the loanislistednextto each option.Forormion 1,
the approximate monthly payment throughout the
life of the loan is listed. For opTioNS 2 and 3, where
payments increase every two years until the loan is
repaid, the approximate first, midpoint, and final

payments are listed. Remember, you can choose

the OPTION you prefer, and, within certain hmlts
the amount of time to repay the loan.

Total »  Maudmum

Loan . Term Fiest Midpolnt Final
Amount (lgmonths) qumem Payment Prymenl

45,000 OPTION T (Leved) 120 $58 $58 - 858

OPTION2 {Graduated) 120 39 59 90

OPTION 3 (Accelerated) 96 39 60 116

$10,000 OPTION I (Level) 156 $98 $ 98 $ 98

OPTION 2 (Graduxted) 156 70 105 156

OPTION 3 {Accelersted) 127 70 109 214

$15,000 OPTION 1 (Level) 192 $130 $130 $130

OPTION2 (Graduated) 192 98 130 189

OPTION 3 (Accelerated) 161 98 ‘152 236

$20,000 OPTION 1 (Level) 240 $155 $155 $155

: OPTION2 (Graduated) 240 125 160 216

OPTION 3 (Accelerated) 207 125 179 256

"1"1"'
L
4



57

How to know OPTIONS
is right for you

® OPTIONS loans are GSL loans and carry a fixed
interest rate of 7%. If you hold any loans with
a lower interest rate, you will still save money
on your monthly payments with opTiONS. The
money you save now can offset the increased
interest rate.

® With OPTIONS, you don't have to worry about
any origination fee or any other kind of
supplementary charge.

) ® Only GSL, NDSL, and FISL are eligible for the
OPTIONS program. Regular consumer loans or
other student loans ®e not eligible.

- ® You and your spouse cannot combine your
loans, nor can you combine your loans with
loans your parents hold.

® As with other GSL loans, you're entitled to
deferment rights with orTiIONS. The only differ-
ence is the way the interest is handled. With
OPTIONS, the government does not pay the
interest during deferment. However, interest
may be deferred by you and added to the

' principal amount of the loan.

- How to apply
for oPTIONS |

Now that you know how to lower your monthly
student loan payments, simply fill out the attached
envelope. We'll begin processing your application
for oPTIONS right away. If you still have any un-
answered questions, call our Customer Service
Center#at 800-446-4000 toll free.

\ 63
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Yes, I'd like to apply for OPTIONS
?j N Name ~ How Did You Find Out About OPTIONS?
Address [] School - (1 Servicer
. o Which one?
City ‘ . !' - O Newspaper
v _ / v o [J Bankor.other financial o
State _ _ Zip . institution ( 0 O‘the;media .
. ' Which one? ' S
Social Security Number__ . L
: . ) . : O SallieMaeoffer ¢ O Friend/relative |
Daytime Teleph N .
'aytlme elephone , v - [J Guarantee agency (] Other . .
Evening Telephone L . ’ . ' :
! - To avoid procgssing delays, mail this application as soon as
Date You Last Attended Shool (Month/Year) . possible. . p ' :
/ . # 7 : 5
.,/ * . ﬁi‘ ' l
i : P Ve
[ 6 N
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1 Loan Information
o .
' ! LENDER - PROGRAM AMOUNT NOW OWED DATE REPAYMENT BEGAN/WILL BEGIN
.(NDSL, GSL, ORFISL) ' a

AN

TOTAL NUMBER OF: , }wi?TOWALOW%Dﬁ______fE/f ' :

! ‘ LOANS__ L \
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)nnofyournewloan

THE OPTIONS SELECTOR

" 1. Select the amount nearest what you currently

owe from thosa listed at the top of the table.

. 2 S¢an the appropriate column for the monthty

payment you'd be most comfortable with*{For.
the graduiited payment plans—OPTIONS 2 and 3
—the first figure shows your first 24 payments.
The second figure shows your final and highest
payments. The % column shows how much your
payments increase every two years.) -

3. Look to the teft of the teble 19 determine the

~

lmmmdmmbmh
not shown, it's still easy to calculate your pay-
ments. Say you owe $16,752. Subtract the
monthly payment for $16,000 from the monthty
payment for $17,000. Multiply the difference by
.762, and then add that amount to the monthty
payment for $18,000.

M you owe more then $31,000, you can use the
additive feature of the selector to estimate your
payment amount. For example, the monthly pay-
ment for a Joan of $33,000 for 20 years is $206 .
{$100 for $16,000 at 20 yrs + $106 for $17,000 at
20 yrs). Nobe: Be sure 10 se the same OPTION
and term length for both parts of your loan.

ho&!erlowbﬂwpawﬁﬁanmduOPﬂONZ
and OPTION 3:

1, Multiply your selected payment by that percent.

2. Add the product to the beginning payment (this
represents payments 2648)..

3. To complete your personalized schedute. con-
tinue computing sach 2-year increment as above
utilizing your last answer as the new starting point.

4. Check your work by comparing your final
answer to the final payment listed on the selector.

'mmnuuam‘mmwonmm
percentsge rate of 7%. Your actual paymen! may ditfer stightly
basod on your balance and the OPTION you select

Student Loan Consolidation Center
P.O Box 1600
Merrifield, VA 22116
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Mr. Fox. We believe that our program has been workable and
has been successful and following a very substantial investment in

this program, we think it’s doing what the legislation intended for -

it to do. We would leave to you any policy determinations as to
how many programs of consolidation you think should be out there
and we would hope also that the issues of complexity, consistency
and the like be dealt with in any changes that you might make.

One comment that you made, sir, about defaults, 1 would chal-
lenge. We have had a default rate in the consolidation program of

something less than 1 percent, after about 18 months of operation-

of the program, and while we don’t believe that the default rate is
going to stay that low, we do know that most of the categories of
students, regardless of the amount of indebtedness that they incur
have default rates that are substantially higher than that.

There is no really good evidence as to what default rates are,
there are definitional changes constantly in this thing, but we do
that a significant number of students will default. They default at
the point in time at which they go in repayment, to a greater
extent than any other time.

I would believe that this program has shown that there is a sub-
stantial decrease in defaults through the consolidation program. 1
would not want to make the claim that it is solely a function of
consolidation, whether we can quantify it, but when you are look-
ing at default rates that average between.10 and 12 percent in gen-
eral, skewed among different populations to be sure and then see a
default rate of something less than 1 percent after a conversion
period, you have to believe that there has been some substantive
decrease in defaults. )

Again, I wouldn’t want to say how much of that comes about be-
cause of our process. We cannot say what that pool of people might
have done otherwise, but certainly there has been no experience
anywhere else to indicate default rates that low and we hope that
we can maintain that. '

When we created this program, our goal was to provide maxi-
mum participation from the borrower in selecting payment terms,
both fixed and graduated, which could be effectively serviced, but
which did not present the borrower with a bewildering array of de-
cisions. We believe that we have succeeded in this effort and 1 have
appénded to the statement that we have given to you all of the dif-
ferent types of documentation attendant to a loan consolidation.

You will get to see in that just how complex a pfocess it is and
this would reinforce your notion that if you do do anything to
change the program, that you try to put in place certain standards,
certain similarities of delivery mechanisms to make it easier for
the students and easier for the people who are participating on the
other side—the financial aid officers, the banks and the States.

Just very quickly, we have seen the testimony of Dr. Edward El-
mendorf and also the GAO at your meeting a week or two ago. Our
recollection was that Dr. Elmendorf made a number of comments
relative to the kinds of things in the law of a technical nature
which might allow for certain abuses or for certain costs to the
¥ederal Government.

In actuality, over a period of tlme we negotiated with the De-
pastment to put in place an agreement which protected the Gov-
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ernment as well as protected Sallie Mae in putting this-program in
place so I believe that all of these technical kinds of issues that Dr.
Elmendorf was raising can be dealt with between the Department
and any others who originate this program. :

I don’t believe that anybody who gets into consolidation auto-
matically has a license to disavow any sections of the statute or*
can cause harm unnecessarily. I don't believe the statute is that
badly drawn. It is an easy technical matter to deal with either leg-
1slatively or dealing on a regulatory basis with the Department.

.The question was raised about the interest rate in this program.
You may recall that a T-percent interest rate was mandated in the

" * legislation and subsequently the interest rate for students who are
borrowing in GSLP went to 9. )
We would support and have supported the notion that if a stu-
dent has originally gotten"his GSL at 7 or at 9 or at 12 or at 14,
+ ‘consolidation should be at that level. This, too, can be corrected
through legislation. It has not cost the Government very much to
this point because ‘we' haven't consolidated any higher yielding
‘loans ilgthe 12 or' 14 category and very, very few of the 9-percent
loans have actually come into- repayment yet, in such a way that
they have been eligible for consolidation at 7. :
We would hope that you would deal with that in this legisldation
and I don’t-think that that’s a major problem for any party. I don’t
. think that would be a disincentive for anybody rela{ive tg consoli-
dation. » «
. . There are also a couple of questions relative to section 427 of the .
~ act: It was a specific ‘concern that if we were to make a consolida-
tion’lpan we had to give the check straight to the student or the
‘graduate and have that individual take the-proceeds and pay off
the existing loans. That would have put twice the funds into the
hands of the borrower and we didn’t think that was appropriate.
: e did work dut something with the Department. They feel they .
stretched the legislation abit, but they did work it out so that we
‘could have coendorsement to send it straight to the banking insti-
tution, We didn’# want to see doubling up of large loans like that.
That, too, may have to be addressed with’legislation, but it’s a rela-
~ tively simple thing—it’s a techpical—just to make certain that ob-
vious problems relative to consolidation aren’t managed prejudi-

cially to the Government. .

_Finally, we have seen Mr. Henig’s comments from the General
Accounting Office. We expect that his full report will be forthcom-
ing. We have not seen it as yet. It is probably due in the next 2 to 4
weeks. But we believe that when you get the final report from the

-+ GAO that it will indicate that loan consolidation is a worthy pro-
gram that Sallie Mae has administered responsibly and fairly and
that we -have managed it consistent with the original legislation.

"I think it will,also indicate that there has been no material cost
to the Government for having had this particular program in place
for the last 18 months. It is not as large a program as people might
have cted it to be. In actuality, something less than 1 percent

“of the%gple who are eligible for it actually undertake a program : -

of cohsolidation.’ - '

.
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1t is turning out to-be what we expected it to be. Those who have
a need and can utilize to better match their income with their out-
flow use it. Others just choose not to.

Finally, as you know, has a sunset on July 31 and because it
takes 60 to 90 days to consolidate a loan—it’s a very complex proc-
ess——we have begun to notify borrowers that it could Conceivably
be a problem as of that date. We have indicated to people t it's
our understanding that there is good will toward thi$ progrim on
the Hill and it probably will be reauthorized, and that there could
be a time gap in there—we hope that there is not—but we asked
them to continue the appllcatlbn process, given the complexities of
it, and we do hope that in your considerations you do choose to re-
authorize it because we think it has provided modest, not necessari-
ly costly service to studefity and that it has not been abused in any

- way at the expense of the Federal Government.

Those are my comments, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. SiMoN. Thank you very, very much. Let me also welcome a.
brandnew member to the subcommittee, Tim Penny from Minneso-
ta. We are pleased to have you as a member of the subcommittee.

Mr. PEnny. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

Mr. Simon. | was interested in your comment that those who are
taking advantage ol this are people who really are-in need. One of
fears has’been that consolidation, in fact, is going to be an attrac-
tive option for people who really don’t have the needs.

Have you done any intensive study to know that that is the case,
and let me, just for a moment, be the devil’s advocate—if you see
somebody who has a default who has’ problems, doesn’t that
become an unattractive to be providing'consolidatjon Yor?

Mr. Fox. We don’t provide consolidation to people who are delin-
quent or in default. We have decided that somebody has to be in
good standing. The reason for that is as much operational as phllo-
sophical because the process of curing a default or a deliquency, it
means an interaction with the guarantor and the like -and it could
well be tbat at the point in time in which we are sending @ check,
a guarantor 1s sending a check to the lender as well. .

But we feel that if a student can be encouraged to get their loans
into grace, that they catch up on the default then they cin be eligi-
ble for the process. But we have made it a policy decision not to
consolidate delihquent of defadlted loans.

Additionally, we have worked out a repayment schedule with the

.Department of Education so that a stugent can’t fake“a term and

then.get maximum term under the consolidation which is 20 years.
We believe that at certain levels of indebtedness, they should get
moderate extension; at a higher level, even_more extension as a
possibility. In that way we have foreclosed the possibility of egre-
gious cost increase to the Government. Somebody with a_ $5,000
note can't automatically say, “I'll pay nothing back for.20 years
and then pay it the 20th year,” which would be the maximum cost
to the Federal Government.

- We" would spread that out and glve that person three. optioens,
one of which would be no cost increase to the Government, which

- i8 a graduated repayment on such a schedule of graduation that

the average indebtedness over the timeframe is exactly the same as
o .-
) ¥
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it was before. All it does is must moderate the up front payment.
So that costs the Government nothing. } ,

The second one, which is graduated repayment, tries to match
the income of the student to the payback and, in most cases, that’
stretches out the loan to maybe 13 or 14 years from a 10-year maxi-
mum before, It’s only when you get a very large loan, which is
. probably ‘where your higher incidence of default comes anyway
that you give the person the opportunity even to get out close to 15
or 20 years. . ~

I don’t think you are going to find that the cost.is that great on
the interest benefits under the special allowance.

Mr. Simon. In terms of costs, what are we talking about? You
can define them on a per consolidated loan average or however you
want to define it. What are we talking if we authorize a major pro-
gram here? '

Mr. Fox. Well, I think you have already authorized it and it
hasn’t proven to be that large in any case. The issue here is if that
program should be shared or diffused in terms of who offers it«But
I don’t think the program is.that much larger we have already de-
fined because we have had nationwide advertisements, as you
know, and have sent out publicatioris to millions of €ligible people
and we just haven’t gotten the kind of response that suggest that
there are a lot of very heavily indebted students out there who
want to use this thing. o7 _

But we bear costs certainly as an originator. The cost of ‘out-
reach, finding the individual, and consolidating. Those .are costs
borhe by Sallie Mae. We get no cost iil}owance, we don’t charge the
student an additional insurance premiam or anything like that.

The cost to the government is the fact that you are extending the
loan and in so doing, you are going to be making interest benefits
available, possibly, depending on interest rates, for a longer period
of time than otherwise might have been the case. ‘ '

That might extend the average life of the loan perhaps 30 per-
cent, depending on the conditions under which the student under-
takes to-extend. The offset to that is, presumably; a lesser amount
of operational costs to the different people who are holding those
four, five or six notes, which only have to service one. Second, to
the extent that you can reduce defaults, those defaults occur early
~ on in the process, that’s on offset to the higher interest costs. .

If you recall, this program was designed in this way to offer con-
solidation because they couldn’t consolidate all of the programs up
front. It was felt that if you had some kind of a screening device, if
after the student had graduated, you put in place oertain kinds of -
tests to make .certain that only those who have high indebtedness
or multiple borrow relationships would only be in the first place,
which you could limit. Those tests seem to be working. ,

I believe that the costs for this are modest. I don’t think you are
going to be able to document those exact costs fot long periods of
time—— .

Mr. SimMoN. But can you give us some kind of ball park figure? In
other words, if we go ahead and say, “From August 1 on this whole
- program is reauthorized,” what kind of terms are we talking in for

fiscal year 1984? - ' :
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Mr. Fox. Well, the General Accounting Office has indicated that
for each $100 million of this, based on certain interest rate assump-
tions and certain default assumptions, something less than 2 per-
cent of additional cost would be added, roughly $2 million per $100
million. That’s in their report, I believe.

We are not in a position to judge what the Federal cost is going
to be on this thing. We have not studied it, but don’t find that it
would be anything—we don’t believe it would be materially greater
than what the General Accounting Dffice has suggested. ,

Mr. Simon. And, then finally—I guess really it’s a philosophical
question—there afe those who would argue the business of Con-
gress and this committee, this subcommiittee, is to see that students
get to college. Once they get to college, how they handle their loans
after that is their business and we shouldn’t really be worried
about that too much. How do you respond o that?

Mr. Fox. I believe that there has-been much greater reliance on
credit the last 5 years than anybody had expected. I think that you

A created a debtor class. You hayé a generation of people who 10
~years ago would have seen their edud?tion paid by the moneys
saved by their parents and now we have put the burden on these
people to get an education, to tap their future earning stream for
payment of their education.

To the extent that we can facilitate the repayment without need-
lessly increasing costs to the Federal Gdvernment, giving these
people the opportunity to pay back their loans, ] think, is a valua-
ble kind of an exercise. These kids are mabile, they borrow in a
number of different places. The programs have changed a number
of times over the last few years so that they have been required to
scratch and bite and 4ry to find debt wherever they could. You
have made them eligible for NDSL’s or health programs, GSL pro-
grams, you have disenfranchised them from time to time, and in
order to get through school, we find that those who have multiple
borrow relationships, have three or four relationships, three or four
guarantees or guarantors, in some cases.

I think that if we can provide a means by which they can facili-

* tate their repayment, we are not givipg particular additional costs
to the Government and I don’t feel we are, and if we can reduce
the defaults which seems to be a statistic which people seem to
dwell upon in this country, then we have accomplished something.
We have done in a way not costing the Government anything, any
material amount and it's just facilitating. .

The -costs of this are borne primarily by the student and by the
originator,” We do all of the work in trying to locate this person,
making them aware of the program that is available and it’s a very
costly process, much mgre costly than a normal loan origination.

The student, frequently, is actually going up to a higher interest
rate and you are gettihg your 3 percent money back in your NDSL
or whatever, whenever one of the students chooses to go to a 7-per-
cent or a.9-percent loan. So a student is actually choosing to pay a
bit moreinterest for the opportunity to -consolidate and better
manage their financial affairs. .

I really see nothing wrong with it. I really think it's a very posi-
tive kind of a program. I really at this point don’t see any cost of

14
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Mr. SimoN. Mr. Gunderson. '

Mr. GunpersoN. Thank you, Mr. Chairman, and thank you, Mr.
Fog, for coming before us to discuss one of the more complicated
programs we deal with in this subcommitee.

You have said in your statement that if we go to some kind of a
national program which allows the States and the lenders to be in-
volved, that you are very concerned it be a unifarm program.

What suggestions would you have in that particular area as to
- how a national uniform should be structured or administered?

Mr. Fox. Well, certainly to the extent that there are policy
issues, that would have to come from you, but first, the eligibility
requirements are set statute—you migi;t want to amplify on some
of those eligibility statutes. Do you want to limit whether people
have the opportunity to consolidate if they are delinquent or in de-
fault. Right now that is just something that we are working out
and it’s not something that is specifically in the statute.

Do you want to perhaps mandate repayment terms that would
limit against just offering the program so that everybody could con-
vert to a 20-year loan and get the maximum Government subsidy,
whether it's needed or not. We have put in place, in consultation
with the Department, a schedule that limits the amount extensions
somebody could get based on their loan size. That extension is
where the cost comes in, because each additional year that loan is
on the books, the Government may have to pay an interest benefit
on it.

So certain rules relative to how much extension you can give, the
eligibility requirements of it—you may wish to look at things
like—since these students have loans from more than one guaran-
tor, in many cases, who would be the vehicle of choice to offer the
consolidation? .

It goes on and on. But these are things that either have to be
dealt with through regulation or through specifistic law, but which
make it very clear that this not a program Yo be abused and to
offer maximum benefit to anybody that desires it, that it be po-
liceable, that there be reporting requirements, because the Depart-
ment of Education needs data coming from the originators so that
they have an idea of what the old loans, where they came from and
the like, because they have a lot of requirements that require anal-
ysis.

So solid reporting, origination practices, limitations of costs
through certain devices, certain rules relative to eligibility, certain
rules relative to perhaps making fees available to people who are
not going out and competing and trying to throw money at institu-
tions for converting or whatever—something that gives some aura
of consistency, both from the Government's point of view, from cost
and from the operational nature of the program.

Mr. GunpersoN. Do you personally have any feelings as to
whether or not we should extend loan consolidation to the States?

Mr. Fox. I have réported to you that if it’s a policy issue that we
are not going to argue against it. We have said that monopoly is
something that is difﬁcuft to defend and we would try to defend
against monopoly at this time.

-any magnitude that should make you squeamish about extending
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- M GuUNDERSON. Someone suggested that the present loan con-
solidation program is one that’s very cost effective, no cost at all to
the Federal Government. They are not sure that that would
happen if we extended the authority. I guess that is one of the big
areas of controversy, as to whether or not we would then get into
some kind of cost to the Federal Government.

What is your analysis? Do you think if we extend loan consolida-
tion to the States or lenders that there will be a cost incurred to
the Federal Government? '

Mr. Fox. I don’t think that there is any doubt that there is ade-
quate capital available fox this program, but I don’t think that is
the issue. The issue is that:there are a number of institutions that
have been created to provide service in their geographic district
and they want to be able 10 offer full service and feel that they
should have the opportunity to provide that service.in their juris-
diction. . o 4

L can't argue that. I think that the costs that you have to deal
with are administrative costs to the Federal Government, certain
redundancies that might come about in terms of cost of putting
these programs in place. We are not tall?i)ng about a very large pro-
gram here. People keep thinking that we are talking about a multi-
billion dollar thing and it just hasn’t happened, and I don’t think
that we have found a single State where there’s any very large
amount of these loans proportionate to their pool. i

But there are going to be costs of administration at the local
level to do it right, the cost of re¢porting, which are redundant. I
think you are going to find that there are administrative costs and
regulatory costs to the Federal Government and certainly there is
the cost associated with the revenue. What those amounts are are
being analyzed by others and I would look to the Department of
Education to tell you what they think the administrative costs
would be. :

- T'have no doubt that the States, or any others for that matter, if
they so desired, could put this program in place—I don’t believe .
they have got it yet—but they could put it in place and it would be
a fine type of program.

But I think there are costs. I think you have already decided in
the past that those costs would not inhibit you from other pro-
grams.

Mr. Gunperson. Finally, do you project any need in the near
future to raise the interest rate on consolidated loans? _

Mr. Fox. I think that there are a number of students who will he
coming into the progress in the next. few months, let alone the
next few years, whose borrowing has been at 9 percent. It would be
inappropriate for those to get an additional subsidy, which would
‘be mandated under the existing programs.

We created a program with a T-percent interest rate and the
same legislation created a new type of borrower at a new rate and
I don't believe it was intentional. There has been some speculation
that the 7-percent rate was meant to be an inducement for some °
low consolidate. I don’t believe that was the intent at all. It was to
give people an opportunity to manage their affairs and not to give
them additional subsidy. - :
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You also have the possibility of other rates associated with
Egrent loans, last loans, the like, and I think that anybody who's

rrowed should have a refinancing fairly at the terms at which
they originally borrowed. This is an accommodation. It's not a sub-
sidy program. And I would be strongly in favor of reworking the
legislation in that way.

Mr. GUNDERSON. In the absence of the Chair, he has asked that I
coptinue the hearing, and we’ll do so by calling Mr. Penny.

Mr. PENNY. I have no questions. :

Mr. GUNDERSON. Mr. Packard.

Mr. Packarp. Thank you, Mr. Chairman.

I appreciate the testimony of Mr. Fox. Following up on the ques-
tion regarding interest, would it be feasible to consider tying that
with the prime rate, like many of our current lending institutions
are with regular conventional financing?

Mr. Fox. Well, prime rate is a curious phenomena. Very few
people seem to be borrowing at prime anymore. It seems to be
more of a memo figure from the banking system to give an indica-
tion more of direction of rates more than anything else. We have
found over the last few years in trying to find ways in which we
might tie the student loan to some kind of a rate, that——

Mr. Packarp. By that I meant a variable rate, then rather than
tying it directly to prime rate. Some formula that would give it a
variable rate that would relate to the fluctuations of a true interest
rate.

Mr. Fox. We have found that relating the student loan.to the
cost of funds of the institutions was better than trying to relate it
to prime which is with their lending rate. Last year alone, for ex-
ample, we have seen—for the last 2 years we have seen prime any-
where from 10 to about 22 percent.

When currently prime is 10%, I think a student lqan is yielding
somewhere around 12%z today. When prime was at_22% a student
loan was yielding around 17, significantly below the prime rate. We
have found that there would be less volatility in the rate with the
T-bill as opposed to prime and sincé what we afe trying to do is
insure that those who lend in this program AWd/borrow their funds
in the short-term envirfonment, have somexkin® of a yield on their
loans that moves pretty much with| thei¥ cost offunds,\and that
was best done if you tied it to the Treasury bill plug/some kind of
an increment. It's alsofld number| that is treated every week

.- through an actual auction rather than bein dome memq figure
’ that the bank posts arbitrarily. 1 4 '

It is something which is dependable, some hing on which the |,
banking has come to.depend upon in terms of the yield in this prowe
gram. This program does not’ yield anywhere near as much as tra-
ditional consumer loans, but it is more predicthble; which is very
‘useful to lenders. = . b D -

*  Mr. Packarp, Generally speaking, does the|banking industry " -
seek out these kinds of loans or are they.doing them to accommo-

-date and serve d need? . , \

Mr. Fox. Well, you know, I think we have gone through a very
dramatic change, Congressman; 10 or 15 years ago when the pro-
gram was a more émbryonic stage, yields were lower, changes were

sometimes relatively thoughtless relative to ope'l:ation" and the
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lik)'. Banks were doing this as a lost lender and because the Ameri-
can Banking Association and others said, “This is something that is
appropriate for you to do.” Lending was very modest. There was
not access and I can tell you that most banks lost money on this
thing and were dcing it as a public service.
But over the years there has been much more concern about the

_operational aspects of the program and the legislation that comes
out of here. The loan has been indexed in a way that at least gives

some assurance that they are not going to be whipsawed if the in-
terest rates move up or d);)wn because you know in the old days thé
rate was set quarterly by a committee; there was no formula.

So by having indexed the instrument, by having more attention
to detail, by having the program decentralized to the States and
setting closer surveillance and management of the program on a
State-by-State basis, improving the timeliness of payments from
the Federal Government by putting the penalty burden on the Gov-
ernment if they didn’t pay on time—all of these things have made
lenders much more willing to participate in the program.

What has also happened is now you have a number of institu-
tions who are willing to make loans on a nationwide basis. There is
no shortage of private capital in support of this program rightTow,
which is a marked change from just 5 or so years ago. )

The gentleman who is going to testify)after me represents one
such nstitution where there is a willingness to make loans of last
resort around the country. This becomes a part of their strategy for
interstate banking to try to get clients all over the country. So it
works. ) .

Mr. Packagrp. Verycgood. Do you see any group of people, minori-
ties or poor people or any specific groups of people, that are not
being served by this procedure? Is it available to everyore and does

it really serve the total needs that are out there?

Mr. Fox. There was a provision in my Jaw that said that we
could not deal with anybody who denied access to a loan for rea-
sons of race, sex, religion, and the other EEOC kinds of things. It
also said that you could not do business with Sallie Mae if you re-
quired a prior business relationship with the institution.

We are pleased that we have been a part ol a process over the
past 10 years where banks have stopped that kind of provision in
most parts of the country and we think that it was our legislation
that germinated here, which, to a great extent, pushed that.

Ther% may be isolated pockets where small groups don’t get
access to' the program, but if they can be identified, we believe that
there are others who will make loans available to them. We hear
very infrequently, of people who claim that they don’t have access.

* We did hear a week or two ago testimony from former Under

Secretary (Clohan that prospective small borrowers, those who
borrow very small amounts, have difficulties getting loans. That, 1
believe, is a cost problem associated with the banking industr
today which is passing through the costs associated with high yield-
ing deposits, in terms charging for service and small loans just
don't pay the freight. For us, the high cost of servicing for small
loans doesn’t pay the (reight. . : .

So if anybody is being disenfranchised, it would seem to be the
very small prospective borrower, who may not have to borrow at
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“ all. I think that the last hearing suggested that reauthorization
deal with that and I know there are groups of people now, based on
that hearing, that are trying to-address that i issue.

Mr. Packarp. Thank you.

? Mr. GunpERsON. Are there any other questions?

[No response.]

Mr. GunpERSON. If not, thank you again very much, Mr. Fox, for
your testimony and for your cooperation. All of us, I suspect, will
be talking to you again either informally or formally before we
complete this process. -

With that, we call our next witness, which is Stephen Biklen,
vice president, Citibank.

[Prepared statement of Stephen Biklen follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT OF STEVE BIKLEN ON BEHALF OF THE AMERICAN BANKERS
ASSOCIATION

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Subcommittee I am Stevg Biklen, Vice Presi-

dent in charge of Citicorp’s student loan business and repersent the American
* Bankers Association.

Our Association’s membership includes more than 90 percent of the nation’s full
service banks. While our members range in size from the smallest to the largest
banks, approximately 90 percent of them have less than $100 million in assets.

I am pleased to be here today to discuss the United States General Accounting
Office Report on the Student Loan Marketing Association’s (Sallie Mae’s) loan con-
solidation program. The extension of the consolidation program is of interest to
lenders with respect to the cost impact it may have on the guaranteed student loan
program and the effect it may have on lenders to the extent that they are not able
to offer loan consolidation if they wish. The ABA believes strongly that the ability
of lenders to offer loan consolidations would greatly simplify administration of the
program, particularly in those situations where all of the loans to be consolidated
are held by one lender.

The American Bankers Association has been asked to comment specifically on the
May 25, 1983, report of the GAQ, and as such our comments will primarily address
points relatmg to private lenders.

As noted on pages 1 and 2 of the GAO report, Sallie Mae has an exclusive fran-
chise to provide consolidated loans to student borrowers. This places private lenders,
who intend to hold student loans during the repayment period, at a serious competi-
tive disadvantage. For example, Sallie Mae can purchase the more profitable higher
balance loans while private lenders cannot compete on an equal basis.

a(fe 2 of the report notes that as of DeCengr 31, 1982, Sallie Mae had consoli-

dated 10,648 loans totaling $66.9MM from 5,473 borrowers. It would be useful to
know the breakdown of these consolidated loans in the following ways: Number of

» loans from the same lender, same guarantor, number of loans froin same lender,
different guarantors, number of loans from different lenders, different guarantors.

We believe that such information might substantiate the need for private lender
participation in the consolidation program. —— -

As a point for clarification pages 2 and 3 compare the monthly payments for con-
solidated loans versus nonconsolidated loans. The report notes that a borrower with
nonconsolidated loans would pay $166 per month for 10 years while the borrower
with a comparable consolidated loan would pay $96 for 16 years. These numbers
appear inconsistent because the total payments of the consolidated loans would be
less than the unconsolidated loan as follows:

Unconsolidated:

c

Monthly payment (multiplied) .........ccoooooeoeereeeeeeeeeeeeeeee e $166
Number of years (multxp 18A) et eeereieere e et 10
Months (MUIIPHEd) ...t etetea v en s 12

Total payments............. O POV SOUR $19,920

" Consolidated: v
Monthly payments (multiplied)..........cocouommuiiieiien s, $96
Number of yea%(multxphed) ...................... S O 16
~
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Months tnultiplied) . . 12

Total payments.......................... P OSSR $18,432

Logic would dictate that the total of the payments over 16 years should be greater
than the total of the payments over 10 years. This point should be clarified.

Another point to be made is that while the consolidation program will reduce a
borrower’s monthly payments, the total to be paid back by the borrower will be sub-
stantially increased. This is demonstrated by the following schedule:

Finance charge at 7 percent for $7,500 borrowed for the term indicated:
10 years .
Idvears ... ... {

20 YOATS .. e [

Page 3 notes that Sallie Mae estimates that the consolidation rogram will cost
the Federal government an additional $2 million for every $100 mili)]ion of loans con-
solidated. Assuming that the consohdation rate remains at 7 percent, we would
expect that the cost Lo the federal government will increase over time, simply be-
cause the larger portion of the loans being consolidated will carry a 9 percent inter-
est rate and, therefore, the cost of the special allowance will increase when the rate
18 reduced to 7 percent. Therefore, we recommend thal the Congress consider in-
creasing the 7 percent rate in order to reduce the cost of the program to the federal
government. -

The bottom of page 3 notes that Sallie Mae used a conservative 2 percent default
rate in its assumptions for consolidated loans. Based upon input from state guaran-
tec agencies, 1t 15 our understanding that Bver 50 percent of total defaults result
from first-time payment defaults. Additionally, the consolidation program appeals to
those borrowers who are most interested in repaying their loans Based upon these
underlying assumptions we dgree that a two percent default rate looks conservative.
This 15 further supported by the narrative on page 4 of the GAQ report which notes
that the annual defauit rate for the guaranteed student loan program is 10 percent.
(Ii'{cre again we understand that over half of this rate is due to firt-t{me payment

efauks.

The ABA agrees with the Department of Education that the consolidation default
rate cannot be compared to the normal guaranteed student loan default rate or
NDSL default rate. It would be very meaningful, however, to understand what the
average stage of repayment was for those loans that Sallie Mae has consolidated to
date, and compare that to the default rate for GSL loans at the same stage of repay-
ment If such information can be obtained, an accurate assessment of the impact of
the consolidation program on default rates could be made.

Page 5 of the report begins a discussion of the various program alternatives as
scen by the GAO. We would like to comment on these alternatives as follows:

Extending loan consolidation authority to State programs

The GAO considered extending the consolidation program to states but did not
consider extending it to private %enders operating in.the guaranteed student loan
program. The ABA supports extension of the authority to make consolidation loans
to all private lenders in the guaranteed student loan program. These private lenders
are making student loans today and many of them hold the loans as they move

-

from the in-school phase into repayment. If a student has more than one loan, the ™%

lender normally consolidates those loans into one loan for the repayment period.
Thus, lenders have experience in this consolidation process. Additionally, the ABA
favors lender particpation in the consolidation program, particularly in the instance
where the loans being consolidated are held by one lender, or by two lenders under
the same guarantee program. The administrative process of consgolidating the loans
would be greatly simplified, becasue there would be fewer parties involved. It would

not be necessar{;eto call upon another party such as Sallie Mae or the State second- .

ary market to hecome involved in the transaction. The concept of having lenders
particpate in the consolidatioin program is further supported by Sallie Mae’s find-
ing (noted on page 12) that 93 percent of loans consohdated were under the GSL
program. ‘ ,

Pages 10) and 11 of the GAO report discuss issues relative to the administrative
cost allowance [ACA] and insurance premiums. Allowing private lenders to offer the
consolidation product would contribute to the resolution of these issues and would
probably result in reduced cost to the federal government. We would recommend
the following: .

Same lender, same guarantor.—Lender would consolidate the loans using the same
guarantee. There would be no need for the ACA or insurance.

*
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Same lender, different guarantor.—The loans could be insured directly by the De-
partment of Education as Sallie Mae does now, or a guarantor could opt to insure
the total consolidated loan with no ACA or additional insurance.

Different lender, different guarantor.—These loans could be consolidated by the
lender and insured directly by the Department of Education as Sallie Mae does now.
There would be no need for ACA or additional insurance.

Averaging interest rates

We agree with the conclusion of Sallie Mae and most state programs that the ca-
Eability to determine the consolidated loan interest rates on an average or weighted

asis could be implemented, but that this process would cause severe administrative
problems with the special allowance billing. To alleviate this situation, the ABA rec-
ommends that either one rate, say 8 percent or 9 percent be used, or that the bor-
rower’s GSL rate be the determinant of the consolidated rate. For example a bor-
rower with a 7 percent GSL would obtain a 7 percent consolidated rate. A 9 percent
borrower would obtain a 9 percent consolidated rate. Implementation of either of
the recommendstions would reduce the cost of additional special allowance to the
government. 3

Revising qualifying loan amounts

Here again the ABA recommends simplicity and perhaps raising minimum quali-
fying amounts and limiting the repayment terms to help hold down the cost to the
government. Rather than using many different repayment schedules, we recom-
mend a simple table of options such as the following: '

Maximum

. maturity

Consolidated loan amount: m(yean;)
Over 37,000 e e e e 10
Over B10,000 e e 12
OVer SID,000 . ..o e, 15

Page 15 of the GAO report discusses situations where the borrower may not qual-
ify for consolidation, but may have several loans and, therefore, be paying several
minimum payments. The concept of allowing lenders to participate in the consolida-
tion program would help alleviate this situation particularly where the loans in-
volved were guaranteed student loans. The lender could simply consolidate the bor-
rower’s loans at the origInal rate of the loans, which would have to be either 7 or 9
percent, and. keep'.the repayment terms to a maximum of 10 years. This would
reduce the borrower’s mont l{ payments because the effect of applying the mini-
mum loan payment to several loans is eliminated.

As a point for clarification page 14 notes that lenders would usughly require at
least the $50 minimum monthly payment for GSL’s due to loan servicing costs. It
should be noted that the minimum ¥50 payment is not subject to lender option but
is required by law. )

Eliminating the special allowance on consolidation loans

The ABA agrees that the special allowance on the NDSL portion of the loans
should not be eliminated. Elimination of the special allowance for NDSL loans
would give little incentive for anyone to consolidate th loans. Additionally, NDSL
loans comprise only 7 percent of the total loans bein‘:%onsolidated and therefore,
would have a relatively small impact on the total cost of the program.

Summary

In summary, the ABA strongly recommends that private lenders be allowed to
participate in the consolidation programs. They are an integral part of the guaran-
teed student loan program, and they have experience in consolidating loans today.
Inclusion of private lenders would greatly sim lify the consolidation process by
eliminating the need for another party, such as Sallie Mae or a state agency, to get
involved in administratively processing the loans.

Second, the ABA strongly recommends that the consolidation program be kept as
simple as ible. The rate structure should be simplified and use of a higher rate
than 7 t would help defray the cost of the program. The repayment terms
should be &ept to a minimum of ‘8 or 4 options rather than a sliding scale. This
would greatly simplify the administration of the program and result in a better un-
derstanding of it by those who benefit from it most, the, borrowers.

Thank you very much for the opportunity to comment on the consolidation pro-
gram at this hearing. If you have any questions, I would be more than happy to
answer them. oo ’

¢
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STATEMENT OF STEPHEN C. BIKLEN, VICE PRESIDENT,
CITIBANK (NEW YORK STATE), N.A.

Mr. BikLEN. Mr. Chairman, members of the subcommittee, I am
Steve Biklen, vice president in charge of Citicorp’s student loan
business and represent the American Bankers Association.

Our association’s meémbership includes more than 90 percent of
the Nation’s full service banks. While our members range in size
from the smallest to the largest banks, approximately 90 percent of
them have less than $100 million in assets.

I am pleased to be here today to discuss the U.S. General Ac- .
counting Office report on the Student Loan Marketing Associa-
tion’s [Sallie Mae’s] loan consolidation program. The extension of
the consolidation program is of interest to lenders with respect to
the cost impact it may have on the guaranteed student loan pro-
gram and the effect it may have on lenders to the extent that they
are not able to offer Joan consolidation if they wish.

The ABA believes strongly that the ability of lenders to offer
loan consolidations would greatly simplify administration of the
program, particularly in those situations where all of the loans to,
be consolidated are held by one lender.

The ABA has been asked to comment specifically on the May 25,
1983, report of the GAO, and as such, our comments will primarily
address points relating to private lenders. As noted on pages 1 and
2 of the GAO report, Sallie Mae has an exclusive franchise to pro-_
vide consolidated loans to student borrowers. This places private®.
lenders who intend to hold student loans during the retainment
period at a serious competitive disadvantage.

For example, Sallie Mae can purchase the more profitable,
higher balanced loans while private lenders cannot compete on an
equal basis. 9

Page 2 of the report notes that as of December 1982, Sallie Mae
had consolidated 10,648 loans totaling $66.9 million from over 5,000
borrowers. It would be useful to know the breakdown of these con-
solidated loans in the following ways: The number of loans from
the same lender and the same guarantor; the number of loans from
the same lender, different guarantor; the number of loans from dif-
ferent lenders and different guarantors.

We believe that that information might substantiate the need for
private lender participation in the consolidation program.

There were two other points#for clarification in the report. One
dealt with a schedule in there that indicated that a borrower with
nonconsolidated loans would pay $166 per month for 10 years while
the borrower with a comparable consolidated loan would pay 396
for 16 vears. Those numbers appeared inconsistent to us in the
sense that the total payment to the consolidated loans would be
less than the unconsolidated loan as follows: The unconsolidated
loan amount to total payments of $19,920 over the 10-year period
whereas the consolidated loan amounted to $18,432.

Logic would dictate the total of the payments over the 16 years
would be greater than the total of payments over the 10 years. We
think that point should be clarified. -

Another point to be made that was not brought out in the report
is that while a consolidation program would reduce the borrower’s

/ _
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monthly payments, the total to be paid back by the borrower will
be substantially increased so that if you have a 7-percent loan of
$7,500 the finance charge over 10 years would be $2,950 and over
the 10-year period it would be over $6,000. .

Page 3 notes that Sallie Mae estimates the consolidation pro-
gram would cost the Federal Government an additional $2 million
for every $100 million of loans consolidated. Assuming that the
consolidation rate remains at 7 percent, we would expect that the
cost to the Federal Government will increase over time, simply be-
cause you will have more of the 9-percent loans going into consoli-
dation. Therefore, we recommend that the Congress consider in-
creasing the 7-percent rate in order to reduce the cost of the pro-
gram to the Federal Government.

The bottom of page 3 notes that Sallie Mae used a conservative
2-percent default rate in its assumptions for consolidated loans.
Based upon input from State guarantee agencies, it is our under-
standing that over 50 percent of total defaults result from first-
time payment defaults. Additionally, the consolidation program ap-
Feals to those borrowers who are most interested in repaying their
oans. -

Based upon these underlying assumptions, we agree that a 2-per-
cent default rate looks conservative. This is further supported by
the narrative on page 4 of the report, which notes that the annual
default for the guaranteed student loan program is 10 percent.
Here again we understand that over half of this rate is due to first-
time payment defaults. N

The ABA agrees with the Department of Education that the con-
solidation default rate cannot be compared to the normal guaran-
teed student loan default rate or the NDSL default rate. It would
be very meaningful, however, to understand what the average
stage of repayment was for those loans that Sallie Mae has consoli-
dated to date, and then compare that to the default rate for GSL
loans at the same stage of repayment. If such information can be
obtained, an accurate assessment of the impact of the consolidation
program on default rates could be made.

. The report begins a discussion of various program,alternatives as
seen by the GAO. We would like to comment on th&se alternatives
as follows: -

The first alternative was extending loan consolidation authority
to State;programs. The GAO considered extending the consolida-
tion program to States but did not consider extending it to lenders.
The ABA support extension of the authority to make consolidation
loans to all private lenders in the program. These private lenders
are making student loans today and many of them hold the loans
as they move from in-school into repayment.

If a student has more than one loan, the lender normally consoli-
dates those loans into one loan for the repayment period. In this
way, lenders have experience in the consolidation process today.
Additionally, the ABA favors lender participation in the consolida-
tion program, particularly in the instance where the loans being
consolidated are held by one lender or by two lenders under the
same guarantee program. .

The administrative process of consolidating the loans would be
greatly simplified because there would be fewer parties involved. It
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would not be necessary to call upon another party such as Sallie
Mae or the State secorglary market to become involved in the
trangaction. ,

The concept of having lenders participate in the consolidation
program is further supported by Sallie Mae’s finding that 93 per-
cent of loans consolidated to date were under the GSL program. .
. Pages 10 and 11 of the GAO report discuss issues relative to the

administrative cost allowance, the ACA, and insurance premiums.

Allowing private lenders to offer the same consolidation product
would cohtribute to the resolution of these issues and would prob-
ab{z result in reduced costs to the Federal Government.

e would recommend the following in the situation with the
same lender, same guarantor. The loans would simply be consoli-
dated. There would be no need for ACA or insurance.

In the sifhation of the same lender, different guarantor, the
loans could insured directly by the Department of Education as
is done now with Sallie Mae, or a guarantor could opt to insure the
total consolidated loan with no ACA or additional insurance.

In a situation of different lenders, different guarantors, those .
loans could also be consolidated by the lender and insured by the
Department and there would be no need for ACA or additional in-
surance.

On the issue of averaging interest rates, we agree with the con-
clusion of Sallie Mae and most State programs that the capability
to determine the consolidated loan interest rates on &n average or
weighted basis could be implemented, but that this process would
cause severe administrative problems with respect to the special al-
lowance billing. - .

To alleviate this situation, the ABA reéommends that either one
rate, say 8 percent or 9 percent be used, or that the borrower’s GSL
rate be the determinant of the consolidated rate.

For example, a borrower with a 7-percent GSL would obtain’a -
T-percent consolidated rate. A 9-percent borrower-would obtain a

- 9-percent consolidated rate. Implementation of either of those recom-
mendations wpuld reduce the cost of additional special allowance to
the Governmgnt. ' '

In terms offrevising the qualifying loan amounts, here again, the
ABA recomniends simplicity and perhaps raising minimum qualify-

" ing amounts 'and limiting the repayment terms to hold down the
cost to the Government. Rather than using many different ay-
ment schedules, we would recommend a simple table such as, over
$7,500, the maximum maturity might be 10 years. Over.$10,000, 12
years and over $15,000, 15 years. :

Page 15 of the GAO report discusses situations where the bor-
rower may <ot qualify for consolidation, but may have several
loans and, therefore, be paying several minimum payments. The
concept of allowing lenders tb participat?\ in the consolidation pro-

am would help alleviate this situation, particularly where the
oans involved were guaranteed student loans. The {ender could
simply-consolidate the borrower’s loans at the original rate of the
loans, whi¢ch would gither be 7 or 9 percent, and keep the repay-
ment terms to a maigimum of 10 years. This would redpuce the bor-
rower’s monthly payments because the effect of applying a mini-
mum loan payment to several different loans woul Il)Je eliminated.
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As a point of clarification page 14 notes that lenders would psu-
sally require at least the $50 minimum monthly payment for GSL’s
due to loan servicing costs. It should be noted that the minimum .
$50 payment is not subject to lender option.but is required by law.

~ On the subject of eliminating the special allowance on cqf ida-
tion loans, the ABA would agree that the special allowancq on the
NDSL portion of the loans should not be eliminated. Elimination of
the special allowance for NDSL l}ms would give little incentive for
anyone to consolidate those lodns and, additidhally, the NDSL
loans comprise only 7 percent of the total loans being consolidated
and therefore, would have a relatively shall impact on the total
cost of the program. -

In summary, the ABA strongly recommendg/fhat “private lenders
be allowed to participate in the consolidatiofi programs. They are
an integral part of the guaranteed student loan program, and they
have experience in consolidating loans today. Inclusion of private
lendergy would greatly simplify the consolidation process by elimi-
nating the need for another party, such as Sallie Mae, or a State
agency, to get involved in administratively processing the loans.

Second, the ABA strongly recommends that the consolidation
program be kept as simple as possible. The rate structure should be
simplified and use of a higher rate than 7 percent would help
defray the cost of the program. Repayment terms should be kept to
a minimum of three or four options rather than a sliding scale.
This would greatly simplify the administration of the program and
result in a better understanding of it by those who benefit from it
most, the borrowers. . '

Thank you very much for the opportunity to participate in this
hearing. F would glad to answer any questions you might have.

Mr. GUNDERSON. Thank you for your testimony.

The chairman of the committee said at-this point in time we
would insert in the record a letter from you and the chairman’s
reply. 1 think it was-dated May 16,#hd without objection that will -
be inserted in the record. ﬁ J .

With that, we call on Mr. Penny~ ' o

Mr. PENNY. Maybe you don’t have this information. I am curious
to find out the relationship between private lenders and State lend-
ers in the student loan field and approximately how much of the
need is Being met by private financial institutions.

Mr. BixLen. [ don’t have the numbers available, but I think basi-
cally the relationship is such that in a number of States, private
lenders provide the capital needed to meet the demand for student
loans. : ’

In a number of other States, that capital has not been adequate
and we have seen the State bonding authorities fulfill that need in
a sense that they come in as a secondary market, buy the loans
from the originating lender and then the lender in turn would be
free gnd would have capital free up to make additional loans.

I don’t have access to the numbers involved at this point.

Mr. Penny. Could you run through again for me the approach
you would like to see applied for determining an interest rate on a
consolidated loan? # _ :

Mr. BixLEN. We have one of two recommendations. One would be*
simply changing the consolidation rate from 7 percent to a higher
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rate, say 8 percent or 9 percent, and that would help to reduce the
additional cost or special allowance to the Federal Government. -

An alternative would be to tie the consolidation rate to the rate
of the guaranteed student loan that it was being consolidated with,
which would either be 7 percent or 9 percent and that would avoid
the situation where you would be taking a 9-percent loan down to 7
percent and then causing the special allowance payments to in-
crease over time. '

Mr. PENNY. So the second recommendation is just to leave it at
the level of the GSL instead of averaging it perhaps with other
loans that might——

Mr. BixiEN. Well, right now all loans that are consolidated
would go into one loan that would carry at 7 percent. We would
recommend that instead of doing that, if they had a 9-percent GSL,,
they would consolidate it at 9 percent.

Mr. PENNY. They do that at 9 percent. I have no further ques-
tions. .

Mr. GUNDERSON. Mr. Blakey, the majority counsel.

Mr. BLAKEY. You mentioned in your testimony, Mr. Biklen, I
think on page 5, that some private lenders already are consolidat-
ing loans. My question is, are they simply consolidating in a more
practical sense, that is, putting®he loans together, or are they, in
fact, initiating a complete new instrument?

Mr. BikLeN. Well, in the sense that loans are already on. the
books of the lender, they are putting those together, but they are
putting them into a new instrument that results in one loan which
now has a repayment schedule that has to be negotiated with the
borrower. S L

Mr. BLakey. Have you estimated at all how much it would cost,
for example, Citibank, to implement a consolidation program along
lines similar to the one that Sallie Mae is gow pursuing?

Mr. Bixren. No, I have not. There woud be some additional cost

involved, obviously, but we have not estimated what that cost -

would be. -

Mr. BLAkEY. And finally, your testimony is directed almost exclu-
sively to the guaranteed student loan prograrng. Under present law,
both national direct student loans as well as HEAL loans also can
be consolidated, although no HEAL loans are being consolidated.
Would you have any difficulty, if, in addjtion to the current GSL
loans, also national direct’ student loans and auxiliary loans that
were made to graduate or undergraduate students as opposed to
parents were also included in consolidation.

Mr. BIKLEN. [don’t have any difficulty with that.

Mr. BLakey. Thank you.

Mr. GUNDERSON. Sure. Mr. Biklen, as I listened to your testimo-
ny and as I read it over, correct me if I am wrong, do you seem to
suggest that we could, if we“extended consolidation authority to
lenders, use you in lieu of Sallie Mae and, in essence, replace Sallie
Mae?

Mr. BikLEN. No. ; K

Mr. GuNDERSON. Or do you see a role for Sallie Mae even with
the consolidation authority?

Mr. BikLEN. Yes. I am not suggesting that they would replace
Sallie Mae or the States. I am just suggesting that they would be

°
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providing the service in addition to Sallie Mae and the States, if
they are aldo included.

Mr. GUNDERSON. You indicate that the ability of lenders to offer
loan-consolidation would greatly simplify the administration of the

_program. Would you like to elaborate on what you foresec as how

we would achieve that? .
» Mr. BikreN. Yes. I am talking aboul the situation where the,
loans to be consolidated, where, say, the student had all of those
loans with one lender or with two or more lenders operating under
the same guarantee program or even opera?mg under different
guarantee pxograms. i

But basically what you are doing is you are keeping the whole
process with a lender that’s already got one of the loans. So you
are not having to bring in an additional party, and that’s why 1
think it would be administratively simpler. :

Mr. GuNDERSON. Do you think in a situation where we extended
this consolidation authority to a lender, that in order fo participate
in consolidation of loans, there should be some kind of tie-in,

should at least one of the original loans ought.to be held by that

particular lender or ought that not be a requirement?

Mr. BikrLEN. | don’t know that that would necessarily be a re-
quirement. I think it would make it easier for the students to do
that and they would probably opt to do that arfyway. I don’t know
that you would have to make that a requirement. -

Mr. (GuNpERSON. You don't think there would Be any problem or
any iGcentive one way or the other with a financial institution as
someone coming in not having original loans with that particular
financial institution in getting that financial institution to partici-

- pate? .

Mr. BikLEN. No; I think that if that happened though you would
have the same situation where now you have brought in another
party that was pever part of it. But other than that, I don’t think
it would necessarily have to be a requirement.

Mr. GunpersoNn. If States and lenders were given consolidation
authority and in addition to that, we allowed consolidation of loans
across State lines, would you foresee any problems in the various
State agencies or private lending agencies in perhaps dealing with
the)different criteria: interest rates, et cetera, in that situation or
not? « )

Mr. BikLEN. I think there would be an issue in terms of the‘in-
surance premium. If you had a State guarantee agency that was
now consolidating loans that had -previously been guaranteed b
another agency, I think that’s an issue that needs to be addressed.

We suggested a solution to that. Either they would accept these
additional loans without additional insurance or the loans would be
insured by the Department of Education and there would be no
need for an additional insurance premium. .

There would be some—in the case of going across State lines, and
operating with different guarantors, the different guarantors do
have different requirements, but that’s the situation we have today
that Sallie Mae would have to deal with when they are consolidat-
ing loans from different guarantors. So other than having addjtion-
al parties that would have to deal with-that situation, it wouldn’t
be any more difficult, I wouldn’t think.

/
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Mr. GUNDERSON. Om of the crrt1c1smb we have heard previously
of Sallie Mae is. that they take all the, frankly, the big loans. and
leave all the pr1vate lenders with a whole series of small loans that
You really can’t do much with in terms of investment or anything
ike that. y, .

Yet, in your statement, “you recommend raising the minimum
quahfylng amounts. First, Do you have any suggestions, as to what
the minimum amount should he. Second, I guess I am a little curi-
ous that the ABA is proposing that for consolidation because I have
heard that’s one of the contentlons from the other side from the
financial institutions. A

Mr. BixkLeEN. Yes; the recommendation for possibly raising the
minimum amount is simply aimed at helping out on the cost side
of the equation, helping out the Federal Government so you dofi’t
have everyone consolidating loans.

- Getting back to your original point, that is very true dnd I think
that is a major point that the ABA isjmaking in that we are being
{)ut' in a position here where we canjt offer th€ product, but the

oans that we wind up selling are the largest 18qns-and that fact
remains that it costs the same to service\pne of those as it does
much smaller loans.

We are losing the bigger loans and that s Why we would like to
be able to offer the service as well.

Mr. GyuNDERSON. Do you have any 1dea of the participation of
banks tHat would occur if we provided this, consolidation autHority?

Mr. BikLEN. No, I don't. I have talked to a number of other lend-
ers and I know that they have serious concerns about the number
of loans they are selling. I don’t know how many banks would ulti-
mately wind up participating in this, although I would suspect that

f'ou would have participation in most states by a certain number of

ending institutions.

In terms of lending institutions that® might do it ackoss State
lines, I just couldn’t answer that. I don’t know I think the larger
institutions probably would. . .

Mr. GUNDERSON. OK.

Do you have any other comments that you would hke to make"

Mr. BixLEN. No. L

Mr. GunpersoN. Thank you very much for your testimony and
partlclpa,t\lon PR _

At this tithe we would like to call the panel ‘and I'am going to
ask that they all come up at once. First ofP 411, Paul Borden, execu-

tive gémgetor of Kentucky Higher Education As&ustancé Authority; -

John Madigan, the executive director, Rhode Island Higher Educa-
tion Assistance Authority; Ray A. Nicholson, executive director, In-
diana SecondarysMarket for Education Loans Inc,; and Douglas R.-
Sejipelt, director,|guaranteed student loan program, "Colorado..

If anybody hap a preference, fine. ! herw18e we'll just go down ;
the list as your|names are called, pr ent festimony and we will «
withol ;l,\fluestlo ing until all of ‘you have_submitted your state-
ments.

As is always the case, your entire statements will be made-a part
of the frecord. If you choose to summarize feel free to do so.

Go ahead, Mr. qu“gfif_
[Prepared stateme Paul',Borden follows:]
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PrEPARED STATEMENT OF Pavur P Boroen, Exrcuvrive Dikecron. Kenteexy HTGuer

" EDUCATION ASSISTANCE AUTHOWITY, AND Execurive Dimecron, Kentugkry HiGHER
Epucarion Stubent Loan Conpe

-

Mr. Chairmin and Members of the Committee, I am very pleased to hate this op-

portunity to appear Yefore you today to disquss the several issues relating to loan

consolidation. As you know from 'my prior testimony before this Subcommittel, k

“have long been intergsted in the agehcidgf which 1 represent having the capability to

participgte m loan consolidation services now exterfded under Federal Law only to
the Stuflent Loan Marketing Association. My interest in this additwonal authority 1s
directly related to our efforts to provide comprehensive student loan benefits to all
Kentucky qualified residents and to residents 4f other states who choose to pursue
postsecondary education in Kengtucky. We now have in place the.necessary adminis-
trative structure to insure loans. to make direct loans to students who cannot re-
ceive such benefits from private participating lenders and to provide loan purchas-
Jng (Le, liquidiyy benefits) to 257 private lenders now participating within the Com-
monwealth. T believe until such time as all guarantee agencies dnd state or local
secondary markets are affdrded access to the loan consolidation program on terms -

~comparablé to those now enjoyed by Sallie Mae that such agencies will be operating
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at a competitive disudvnntam"which'threnteps sheir continued capability to exist.

In your invitatioh to appear before the Subcommittee, you identified three points,
‘to be addressed The balance of my remarks are orgapized around those three points
followed by Iimited comment upon the General Accounting Office report presented |
to you onWMay 25. , s '

1. 'Kentucky& ability to consolidate student loans.-—The General Accounting Office
[GA®., in its testimony before the Subcommittee on May 25 1983, concluded that
the states have or could obtain the necessary administrative and technical capabil-

¥ to operate a loan consolidation program. I agree with the GAQ conclusion. With
respect to Kentucky, the guarantee agency {KHHEAA] operated ad a direct lender
undar the federally insured program fram 1974 until the fall’ of 1978 During that
period, KHEAA develo extgpsive data processing capabgities Tor the lending,
billing and collection finctions. In anticipation of becoming a guarantee agency,
KHEAA substantially gnodified the original servicing system so thaCby the fall of
1978 computer software was available for all functions relating to the<usurance of
student loans. Included within the current data processing system is' thc\capability
to handle multiple interest ratés and multiple loan repayment terms. KHEAA s, in
Tact, currently administering, on this system, consolidated repaymeats of students
who have both federally insured and state insured student loans. KHFEAA has, at
various times, provided National Direct Student Loan collection services to an edu-
cational ingfitution in the Commonwealth. The system™lso oontains the necessary
strugtdfre to generate purchase disbursements to holders of loans which would,be
consolidated and already computes repayment sthedules on the basis of all of the
notes for any borrower currently within the system. The only significant missing
item within the current system is the capability to generate grudi;xted {ep‘i)yment
schedules similar to those currently offered in the Salli ne tions program.
KIIEAA certainly has the technical capability to develop such repayment plans
promptly following any extension of authority to utilize them. Although the current .
data processing system is capable of loan consolidation$, we have, during the pagt-
two years, developed a new generation student loan servicing system which will be
completely operational by the end of this year. We are already administering the
new Auxilfary Loan Program on this system. This new processing system contem-
plates the availability of loan consolidation authority and will fully satisfy any who

\

take the time to examine it that the capability to effectively offer consolidation -

services new exists with the Commonwealth of Kentacky:.

<2 Destrability of agency consolidating student loans.—The current situation in
which Sallie Mae consolidates loans held by other lenders throughout the nation
leaves other holders at » substantial competitive disadvantage. Dependent upon the
long term syccess of thegOptions program, this advantage could cause severe-finan-
cial difficulfes for other large holders of student loan portfolios. Additionally, to the
extent Sallie Mae ¥onsolidates loang through prepayment of loans held in portfolios
financed by tax exempt securities, there is a substantial increase in the net cost of
those loansg to the Federal Government. This net increase is apparent in the follow-
ing table: - .
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< that a highly successfu] Options program will.increase the risk associated wit
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I'he avegage mcrease in special allowance payments on acquisitions from tax-

exempt: hfders from” the inception of the Sallie Mae program in December, 1981
through March 31, 1983 is 3.66 percent. The General Accounting Office report fails
to discuss this increased cost Perhaps, the failure 1s predicated upon an assuinption
that the acquisition by Sallic Mae caudes the tax exémpt security to be retired. The
vast majority of gtudent loans finaiced through tax exempt securities in recent
months have utilized short-term ipstruments (i.e, three to five years) backed by
Sallie Mae comniitment agreements or commercial bank letters or lines “of credit ‘or
commitnient agreements. Generally speaking, these issues do not contemplate re-
tirement of obligations prior to the stated maturity. Consequently, the acquisition of
such a loan by Salliec Mae results in the Federnl Government covering both the rev-
enue losses associated with issuance of the tax exempt security and increased spe-
cial allowance payments asspciated with loans held by Sallic Mae. An additional
and related exposure for denders, such as Kentucky's gtud_ent lLoan (brporhg’gn, i8
Bpe-
cial redemption through unanticipated pfepayment of loans. One of the principal
. fears of investors in student loans securities is that special redemption calls will
occur prior to the stated maturity’ This fear is directly related to the fact that stu-
dent loan bonds are very sumilar to housing authority bonds. In the housing indus-
try, niortgages, over the past few years, have been prepaid at rates exceeding 80
percent and, as a result, many of these bonds have been redeemed early. The hous-
ing industry problems are best explained in terms of interest rate &isk and should
nol be equated to the statutorily set interest rate market in which we operate. The
unfortunate reality is that this fear of special redemption is affgcting the market-
ability of ‘student lpan securities and the enierging significant v&uﬁes of the Op-
tions program-loan consolidations will tend to exacerbate these fears. Another seri-
ous concern i3 the effect that the options program will have on the average loan
balance per borrower in our portfolio. The GAO has repdrted that the average con-
solidutedp(;oan under the Options program is $12,232 with the GSL portiop of that
averaging 37,179 and the National Direct Student Loan portion averaging $2,488. To
the extent the large balance loans are taken from our stydent loan portfolid, we are
marginally less able to continue to acquire-and service small balance loans. As I 8@

sure, has been stated to this Subcommittee many ties before, the cost of servicing
small balance loanvis roughly equivalent to the cost of servicing a large balance loan
while the income streams gre, of cpurse, substantially different. To the extent that
we lose the very atjractiye income streams generated by large logns, it will become
necessary for our Gbrporation to reconsider our policy of purchasing loans at par
irrespective of the average individual portfolio balance. To the éxtent that we are
forced to replicate the par purchase requirements of Sallie Mae (i.e., average loan
‘balances in excess of $4,500), we will severely-impact the origination of the smaller
loans within the Commonwealth. This wonld be an extremely seridus problem in
K'entucky&h:‘fause we do have a large number of small loans originated each year
within th ite. To illustrate this“point, the Corporation’s portfolio as of March 31,
1983, had an outstanding princjpal of $179,477,000 and an average outstanding in-
debtedness per student of $3,003 representing 59,766 student borrowers. Clearly, this
portfolio has & number of loans which are small balance loans and, based u?dn my
current understanding of the Sallie Mae par purchase requirements, the entife port-

. folio would not qualify for a Sallie Mae purchase at par. )

The GAO Report indicates that data is not readily available to identify persons
who could benetit from loan consolidations. Since .;heeglfarantee agency in Kentucky
currently has terminal® located in several major educational instituti(? in the
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Commonwealth and 1s rapidly expanding on-Jine communications with the eduea-
tional institutions and lenders, we believe we would have the capability to readily
identify persons who have holdings under the guaranteed program.and the National
Direet Student Loan program that would qualify for loan consolidation. Whether
this makes it desirable for the agency to have the-consolidation authority*is, of
course, dependent upon whether the consolidation program is modified in ways to

. more reasonably accommodate the consolidation of NDSL with GSL. To the extent

such consolidations are expanded under the current statute, the increased cost of
special allowance payments assoctated with an efficient borrower identification
system would be substanpial, 1f not prohibitive. Howevers one of the related benefits
of such capability is that most of the data needed to consolidate lpans would already
be within the consolidating agent’s data processing system, thus providing cost sav
ngs to the consohdation program. An additional potential benefit to extending the
conselidation program to dgencies 18 the demonstrated capability of state agencies to
keep default rates at reasonable levels while providing broad access to the loan pro-
gram. ' ’

5 Recommendations.—Based upon review of the GAQ study, and the testimony by
Dr. Edward Elmendorf before the Subcdmmitieg, and review of Sallie Mae materials
relating to the Options program. I would recommend the following to the Subcom-
rittee:

_ tA)Y The current legislation shouldbe amended to provide for utilization of a
weighted average interest rate rounded up to the nearest integer. This will reduce
the special allowance payment obligation to the Federal Government in all cases
except where disproportionately large NDSLs are included within the consolidated
loan. Also, the administrative difficulties of dealing with innumerable loan rates in-
volved in computing special allowance payments will be substantidlly reduced for
the Departmenteof Education, Sabjectively, this methodology would probably yield
vates ranging between seven and 10 percent The Subcornmittee may., also, wish to
consider a floor interest rate of 7 percent on all consolidated loans as a way of dis-

‘cpuraging consolidation by borrowers who may be predominantly financed by
NDSL.

(B) The legislation should incorporate Tepayment vixt,ension'periods based upon
schedules and methodologies:

the apphcable aggregate loan balances. The repaymen

" developed by Saliie Mae in cooperation with the Department of Education seem to
me to be reasonable for incorporation into the Act. An alternative would -be to
extend to the Secretary the authorily to regulate the extension periods.

() The legislation should. delete the provision of administrative ¢ost allowances
on consolidated loans and should, also, delete consolidated loans from the reinsur-
ance trigger In conjunction with this, the legislation should prohibit the charging of
insufance premiums on loan consolidations but should permit loan balances to be
considered in Jeternuning adequacy of any loan guarantee rggerves. I am sure that
many of my peers in the guararitee agencies and secondarg market agencies will
disagree with this recommendation. However, speaking on "for Kentucky, we be-
lieve that there are no substantial increased insurance cosfgor servicing costs asso-
cinted with consolidated loans. For agencies which insure anit service loans for hold-
ers. the potentially available income stream from such large balance loans will be
suthcient to offget the absence of either ACA or insurance premiums, particularly, if
such loans are not subject to reduced reinsurance rates.

{1 The legislation should require that all loan consolidation agents (i.e., Sallie
Mae, state agencies, ete.) offer consolidation benefits to qualified borrowers who are
delingquent up to 60 dayvs on loan repayments. If, in fact, a principal justification for
offering loan consolidation is to reduce defaults, then it seems imminently reasona-
ble that borrowers who are experiencing difficulty in repayment ought to be the
principal beneficiaries of the program. I would be in favor of extending consolida-
tion benefits at any time prior to the occurrence of a default but recognize, under
the current Sallie Mae methodology, that this could lead to very difficult monitoring
problems to ascertain that loans which are being consolidated have not previously
-been the subject of a default claim. '

{1 As an alternative 1o the recommendations in (() above, the Subcommittee may
wish o simply provide that all loan consolidations be insured directly by ihe Secre-
Yary. This would simplify the loan consolidation program and mta'te it more manage-
able by the Department. My primary concern in this respect is that the Secretary,
because of cost containment pressures, would attempt tof regulate the program so
tightly as to discourage many eligibic participants. Additionally, I am concerned
that Sallie Mae, as a resull of both size and proximity, would exert undue influence
over the program. On balance, however, I believe this direct insurance approach is
the preferable course for the Subcommittee to follow.
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(F) The legislation should limit consolidation rights to lenders which have insured
or own at least one note made by the borrower. The effect of this would be to sub-
stantially reduce data acquisition casts by.ensuring that thg loan is consolidated
into the exbsting billing and collection system rather than added to an entirely new
servicing system. In the event a qualified student does not have any note ownegd by
an authorized consolidation agent, the student should be permitted to go directly to
Sallie Mae for the loan consolidation. A requirement for discloging whether or not
consolidation servives are dvatlable could be incorporated into the notification neces-
sary when any loan is made or purchased by a secandary market. )

() The legislation should delete all but in-school deferments but permit forhear- ,

ance for up to one year This will prevent the Federal Government from having to
assume both interest subsidy and special allowance costs for anything other than a
return to enrollment. Additidnally, thé forbearance procedures are very effective in
reducing defaults. . (

() The legislation should correct the Section 427 requirement that consolidatidn
loan checks be made payable to students and require instead that such checks be
madgdirectly to the holders of the loans to be consolidated. Additionally, the legis-
latio‘ should n®ke the several other technical corrections requested by Dr. Elmen-
dorf i his recent 4estimony to this Subcommittee. Of particular ¢oncern is the not-
withstanding clause cited on page five of Dr. Elmendor(’s testimony. My concern is
that on the basis of this clause Sallie Mae and any new consolidation agents could

" rhoose to ignore other provisions of the statutes.

() In conclusion, and most_importantly, the legislation shouls leave Sallie Mae,
secondary markets, other lenders and guarantee agencies in eqiial positions to pro-

“vide consolidation services o borrowers. To leave any of the eatities with competi-

tive advantages substantially increases the risk that the other en ities will not have
the confinued capability to service low balance logns and/or to meet servicing costs
on ‘their current portfolios. .

4. Comments regarding the General Accounting Office Loan Consolidation Study.—
In my opinion, the GAQO Study accepted and utilized bad assumptions, is inconsist-
ent and. fails to address in any depth the two principal areas of inquiry—program
costs and impact on defaults. On page 10 of the study they state an inability to come
up with precise cost figures for extending loan consolidation authority to the states
because of the difficulty in obtaining reliable ih%x;mation on several of the elements
needed to compute relative costs. On page four & the study they conclude it is too
carly to assess the Optiody program's impact on loan defaults. They completely fail
to address the benefits of the reduced special allowance-payments which result from
tay exempt financing of student loans generally and, also, fail to make the point
that consolidation of a loan currently subject fo the reduced speciat allowance may,
in fact, cause the Federal Government to incur both the loss of revenue attributable
to 1ssuance of the tax exempt securities*and t}f increased special allowance pay-
ments attributable to purchase of the loan by a taxable entity. Additionally, all the
cost data and most of the assumptions incorporated into the study were provided by
Sallie Mae and were not sufficiently justified as to reasonableness. For example, on
page three of the study, there is an assumption that -investors incur no expenses
associated with the purchase of Sallie Mae securities, and, therefore, pay federal
meome taxes on the full amount of interest earned. While this may or may not be a
good assumption. it shauld be pointed out that Sallic Mae is exempt from state,
local and District off Columbia taxes and that there is, therefore, a potentially sub-
stantial loss of revenue associated even with Sallie Mae financing. Additignally,
also, on page three, there is an assumption that added special allowance p{fﬂ?nts
will exceed savings resulting from fewer defaults. While that would appear to be a

reasonable assumption. it is too generul to be of any substantial benefit. What will )

be the magnitude by which special allowance payments would be expected to exceed
default savings? | would suggest that a more studied inquiry could answer these and
the several other questions raised which have been presented to the corrs;nitwe.

Again, 1 express to you my uppreciation for this opportunity and want to close by -

strongly recommending that loan consolidation benefits be extended to guarantee
agencies, secondary markets and direct state lenders.
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STATEMENT OF PAUL P. BORDEN, EXECUTIVE DIRECTOR, KEN-

. TUCKY HIGHER EDUCATION ASSISTANCE AUTHORITY, AND EX-

, ECUTIVE DIRECTOR, KENTUCKY HIGHER EDU( ATI()N STUDENT
5 LOAN CORP.

Mr. BorDEN. Thdnk you, Mr. Chairman. I am Paul Borden from
.Kentucky. Since non® of my {riends here at the tdb'le volunteered, 1
guess I will go first.

I will simply summarize my remarks and’ requcst that the full
statement previously pxovlded to you be incorporated into the
record.

I find that in many respects my testimony is actually a summary

- of some of the other things that you have heard here this morning.
In Kentucky I am, perhaps, in an unusual position, being the exec-
utive director of the guarantee agency and also the director of a
secondary market and direct lending entity so 1 come to you with
some perspective from all three of those entities.&s they participate
-in the guaranteed student loan program

We do presently in Kentucky have the necessary administrative
capabilities to insure, make, purchase, and, in our opinion, consoli-

date-loans. We have been a leader under the federally insured pro- -
* gram for a number of years vrior to in 1978 tonverting to a guar-
antee agency State. So we do have some experience directly appli--

“cable to the private lender participation.

We have developed over that period of time an- extensive data
_processing capability. We do-capture: extensive data on all of the
"people participating in any aspect of the loan programs. So we

think we have within the system virtually all of the data thidt -

would be needed to effect consolidations.

Additionally, we do have terminals out with many lenders in the
State and also at educational institutions in the State so thatwthe
problem of identification of borrowers eligible for consoligdation
could, we think, be dealt with effectwely in Kentucky.

-+ The inhvitation from the c é\lrman gives the opportunity to ad-

. dress three specific issues. Ont’is the desirability of extending con-
* solidation benefits to the agencies. We believe that it is not only

desirable, but that it is necessary that consolidation benefits be ex-

tended.

There have been statements made this morning to the point that
there are no or inconsequential mcreases in cost as aresult of the
loan consolidation program. I will call ydur attention to the table
on page 4 of my testimony which does show that consolidations by

{ Sallie Mae of student loans which are presently held by tax-exempt
entities does result in substantial increased cost in terms of specxal
allowance paymengs on thgse particular loans.

I guess that could be ized that the tax-exempt securities
would then be retired. But I would suggest that that loss of‘reve+
nue cost is effectively a coststhat{ has dlready occurred and that the
causes of the structure of the tax exempt financing, it is very un-
likely that those securltles would be;in fact, retired following con-
solidation.

The current monopoly - with respect to consolidation 4lso in-
creases a, special redemption risk perception by borrowers. That
risk being that if the options program is highly successful and as a
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. result, many loans are prepaid, as in the housing industry, that it
Ywould be necessary to call bonds.

So, while I don't think that is a very good assessment of the tax-
exempt financing because we don’t have the interest rate risk that
the housing industry has, it is certamly a Teal perception on the
part of investors.

Perhaps a more important area Wthh makes it desirable for us
to have the capability to consolidate loans is the effect that the cur-
rent loan program has on the average loah’balances. We have Jo
keep the high balance loans in our portfolio in order to be able Yo
purchase and continue the availability of the low balance loans.
The income streams are very, very different and with respect to

the Student Loan Corporation; the secondary market in Kentucky, ~.

to the extent that we see the large balance loans being taken from
us, we will have to reconsider the policy of purchasing all paper at
par because those very small loans simply would rot support the
servicing costs related to them.

Finally, I think, if you examine the statistics, you will find that
the State agencies, be they guarantee agericies secondary markets
or.direct lenders, do have-a very good record in the administration
of the student loan program and do have the capability to keep the
defgult rates low.

Our recommendations I will go through very quickly. They are
outlined specifically in my statement. I believe we ought to use a
weighted average interest rate because that considers both the
'NDSQ loan and it also considers the higher interest rate HEAL .
loans. There is some of all of those consolidated loans. I think there
is benefit to tying loan consolidation to an entity which is already’
the holder of one of the loans because‘it does have the benefit of
reducing cost.

I think there ought to be careful consideratioii of limi defer-
ments to inschool periods and I think that on consolidated )loans
there ought to be some procedure for giving at least some-Hmited
~ forbearance in periods of financjal” difficulty. I do think that we
need to have the statutory difficulty to make consolidation checks
payable to the holders.

Finally, and most important, I thmk that you need to leave all of
the participants in an équal position with-respect to loan consolida-
tion.. To the extent,that we have a capability to offer consolidation
services similar to t at, to Sallie Mae, to Citicorp, or to any other
entity, I think you aré providing the very best service to the stu-
dents of the country becauSe access will increase to this partlcular
benefit. C.

Mr. Chairman, I appreciate this opportunity and will be happy to
answer any questions at the conclusion.

Thank you.

Mr. GUNDERSON. T}{ank you.

Mr. Madigan.
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STATEMENT OF JOHN E. MADIGAN, l‘jX}:lC'i!'f'.l_.’VE DIRECTOR,
RHODE ISLAND HIGHER EDUCATION ASSISTANCE AUTHORITY
AND RHODE ISLAND STUDENT LOAN AUTHORITY

Mr. Mapican. Thartk you. My name is John Madigan. I am exec- .
utive director of Rhode Island Higher Education Assistance Au~
thority, a guarantee agency, and also executive director of Rhode
Island’s Student l.oan Authority, a secondary market. '

I am very grateful to have this opportunity to address the matter
of student loan consolidation and the, possibility of having the op- .
portunity for such consolidation -extended to State agencies, par- ¢
ticularly those agencies involved in the business of providing stu-
dent logn secondary markets for their local lenders. v

I havk had the opportunity to read the statement provided the
subcommittee by Mr. Morton Henig of the General Accounting
Office and, in fact, have had the opportunity to express my own
views to members of Mr. Henig’s staff on the telephone during the
development of that report. I do concur with many of his {findings.

First of all, let me say that I believe loan Consolidation is impor-
tant in both easing the burden on students who may have incurred
substantial debt and.in avoiding defaults in those case¢»where stu-
dents have not reached the earnings potential they hoped for when
they accrued such debt. )

I would certainly not want to see the consolidation privilege
eliminated by failing to extend authorization for the program
beyond-August 1983. :

While I particularly wish to address the need to expand eligibil-
ity to the States rather than have only Sallie- Mae authorized to
operate this important function, I do feel a bit like the person who
appeared before Solomon in his dispute over the rightful parentage
of the child. I do believe it would be better to lose the right of par-
entage than to have the child die, L

Happily, consolidation, unlike children, can be divided amongst
the contenders and the splitting can provide renewed health and
vigor to the program. :

Rhode Island hag been operating a secondary market since late
1981. We have contracted with our local lenders for the purchase o
some $100 million of student loans. We must assume that our lend-
ers have committed these loans to us becausde they see advantage in
working in a local market that they do not see i the Sallie Mae
market—the advantages "of local investment, strengthening the
local economy, more flexibility in the size and timing of purchases,
and other tangibles or intangibles that appear beneficial to them.

I know you are aware that for many of these loan purchases we
do not receive the full special allowance. Loans made October 1,
1980, or after and pyurchased with tax-exempt bond revenues azry
limited to only one-l}EIf the special allowapce or a minimum of 2.5 7
percent on 7 percent loans or 0.5 percent on 9 percent loans.

Because our existing bonds have a 9V-percent interest rate and
because ¢he maximum return that we have been receiving in

. recent quarters s only 9% percent, you can see-that we are operat-
ing on a very siim nlargin. As a matter of fact, when we consider
our servicing costs, we actually lose money on those post-October 1,
1980 loans. e

10 .
Q . v !

‘.r : ’ L




102

-

This has the effect of redu ing the margin in our overall portfo-

lio and on those loans for »yﬁich we receive the full spedial allow-

ance. T

Permitting only Sallie Mae to provide loan consolidation exacer-
bates this problem for us. As you might suppose, lenders tend to
hold on to loans during the in-school period whert the servicing cost
1s smallest and to sell loans just before they go into repayment
whep servicing costs increase to their maximum. It has already
happened that upon our agency, purchasing loans about te go into
repayment, and incurring the costs of initiating repayment terms,
and setting up the repayment,acﬁgity, we find that Sallie Mae
pays off the loan to a consolidation agreement. The startup” costs,
which we have borne and which Might have been amortized over
the life of the loan, have instead beey incurred without the possi-
bility of being met through future income. ¥

This would not happen if we also could offer a consolidation op-
portunity to our borrowers.

The second reason for concern is the clear intention of providing

" debt consolidation only for the higher cost loan plus the expecta-
tion that those borrowers most likely to use that opportunity would
be those with the higher obligations and therefore the greatest dif-
ficulty in paying the higher monthly costs. )

If Sallie Mae or any other secondary market purchases principal-

» ly our higher average loan obligations, we will be left with a lower
average -loan portfolio. Since loan servicing costs are roughly the
same irrespective of the dollar size of the debt, our smaller average
portfolio whicl? ¢learly cause our unit costs to be higher and fur-
ther limit our ability to operate in a sound financial manner.

We have felt that the extension of loan consolidation to the State
agencies—some have felt, rather, thgt the extension of this privi-
lege to State agencies would somehow increase costs to the Federal

-+ Government. Some of this expectajion is based at least partially on
a mistaken assumption that the Federal Government woul(i, be

™ pa%ing administrative costs twice for the same loan. _
his would not be trtie in our case at least since it is not our
guarantee agency but our secondary market that would be doing
the consolidating and that agency receives no administrative cost

&+ allowance othef than the income derived in the same fashion as
any other holder of loans, banks or Sallie Mae included.

Also, insurance of new loans made to consolidation of old loans

-should be handled for the States the same as handled for Sallie
Mae, through direct insurance by the Secretary.

One point of advantage th#t might be considered in determining
the desirability of extending the consolidation serviceto State. .
agencies is the fact that secondary market programs are already in
touch with the borrower directly at the time repayment begins. To ,
the gxtent that consolidation is needed and is important, all bor-
rowers for whom the option might prove advantageous should be
equally informed about its availability.

Because of our immediate and direct contact with the debtor,
both at repayment time and at various times throu%hout the repay-
ment period, ong whq needs to avail him or herself of the opportu-
nity wouldn’t need to depend on advertisements or secondhand in-
formation. We would incfude consolidatign information for all who

.
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had loans falling within the eligible limits and especially for those
evidenced difficulties in handling a debt of a given size.
These then are my‘concerns—to maintain a consolidation pro-
. gram for the benefit of those who need an easing of the burden and
! thereby prevent default; second, to allow State agencies which are
" either direct lenders or secondary markets to share the opportunity
' to dffer, consolidation without cost increases to us over which we
have no control; and finally, to permit all borrowers to become
equally familiar with the opportunity to ease their debt burden
through consolidation and to do so at those times in the repayment
cycle when it is most advantageous to them. ‘
Thank you for this opportunity and I shall be happy to answer
any questions. .
Mr. GunpErsoN. Thank you. o
You have probably been)hearing the bells ringing- during yoyr
testimony. What that indicz}tes is we have a vote in progress on the
floor of the House. What we are¢ going to do is temporarily recess
this hearing so that we can go and record our votes and come back
as soon as we can. -
If the panel will just stay informal at the table, we will recon-
vene as soon as we get back.
[Brief recess.] :
[Prepared statement of John Madigan follows:]

PREPARED STATEMENT ofF JounN E. Manican, Execurive DIRECTOR, RHODE ISLAND
Hicuer EDUCATION ASSISTANCE AUTHORITY AND RuODE IsLanD STUDENT Loan Avu-
THORITY .

. Mr. Chairman and Members of the Subcommittee, I am grateful to have this op-
. gor‘tunit{] to address the matter of student loan consolidation and the possibility of
aving the opportunity for such loan consolidating extended to state agencies, par-
ticularly those agencies engaged in the business of providing student loan secondary
markets for their local lenders. I have had the opportunity to read the statement
provided to the Subcommittee by Mr. Morton Henig of the General Accounting
Office, and in fa®, had the op rtunity to express some of my views to members of
Mr. Henig’s staff, by phone, during the development of that report. I concur with
many of his findings. :

First of all, let me say that I believe loan consolidation is an important activity in
both easing the burden on students who may have incurred substantial debt, and in
avoiding defaults in'those cases where students have not reached the earnings po-

¢ tential they hoped for when they thcurred such debt. I would certainly not want to
. see the consolidation privilege eliminated by failing to extend authorization for the
program beyond Auﬁust of 1983. While I wish to address the need to expand eligibil-
ity to the states rather than have only SLMA authorized to operate this important
P function, I feel like the person who appeared before Solomon in a dispute over the
rightful parentage of a child—it would be better to lose the right of parentage than
to have the child die. Happily, tonsolidation, unlike humans, can be divided
amongst the contenders and the splitting could provide renewed health and vigor

for the program. . ‘

Rhode Island has been operating a secondary market since late 1981. We have
contracted with our local lenders for the purchase ofssome 100 million dollars of stu-
dent loans. We must assume that our lenders have committed these loans to us be-
cause they see advantages in working in the local market that they do not see in
the SLMA market—advantages of local investment, strengthening the local econo-
‘my, more flexibility in, the size and timing of purchases or other tangibles that
appear beneficial to them. I know you are aware that for many of these loan pur-

. chases we do not receive the full special allowance. Loans made October 1, 1980, or
after, and purchased with tax ‘exempt bond issues are limited to only one-half the
special allowgnce, or a minimum of 2.5 percent on 7 percent loans andy.5 percent on
9 percent loans. Because our bonds have 9% percent interest rate and because the
maximum return we have been receiving in recent quarters is only 9% percent, you

+ can see we are operating on a very slim margin. As a matter of fact, when we con-
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sider our servicing costs. we may actually lose money on those post October 1, 1980
loans, which has the effect of reducing the margin even on those loans for which we
receive the full special allowance.

Permitting only SLMA to provide loan consolidation exacerbates this problem for
us. As you might suppose, lenders tend to hold onto loans during the in-school
period when the servicing cost is'smallest, and to sell loans just before they go into
repayment, when servicing cost increase to their maximum. It has already hap
pened, that upon purchasing loans about to go into repayment, and incurring the
cost of initiating repayment terms and setting up a collection activity, we find that
SLMA pays off the loan in a consolidation agreement. The costs which we had borne
and which might have been amortized over the life of the loan have instead been
incurred without the possibility of being met through future income. This would not
happen if we also could offer a consolidation opportunity to our borrowers.

A second réason for concern is the clear intention' of providing debt’ consolidation
for the higher cost loans only, plus the expectation that those borrowers most likely
to use the opportunity would be those with higher obligations and therefore, the
greatest difficulty in paying the higher monthly costs If SLMA, or any other sec-
ondary market purchases, principally, our highest average loan obligations, we will
be left with a lower average loan portfolio. Since loan servicing costs are roughly
the same irrespective of the dollar size of the debt, our smaller average portfolio
would clearly cause our unit cost to be higher and further limit our ability to oper-
ate 1n a sound financial manner. Some have felt that the extension of loan consoli-
dation to state agencies would some how increase costs to the federal government.
Some of this expectation is based, at least partially, on a mistaken assumption that
the féderal government would be paying administrative costs twice for the same
loans. This does not appear to be true in dur case at least. It is not our guarantee
agency, but our secondary market agency that would be doing the consolidating.
That agency receives no administrative cost allowance other than the income de-
rived in the same fastion as any other holder of loans, mcluding SLMA . Also, insur-
ance of new loans made to consolidate old loans should be handled by the States the
same as handled by SLMA-- cither direcet insurance by the Secretary or where feasi- »
ble, by insurance through a State guarantee agency. While th the latter case, and
under present rules, there would be additional administrative cost allowgnces by the
federal government, such payments would also be made if SLMA used a guarantee
agency to provide insurance. S

One point of advantage that might He considered in determining the desirability
of extending the consolidation privilege to state agencies, is the fact that secondary
market programs are already in touch with the borrower directly at the time repay-
ment begins To the extent that consolidation is needed and is important, all bor-
rowers for whom the option might prove advantageous should be equally informed
about its availability. Because of our immediate and direct contact with the debtor,
both at repayment time and at various times throughout the repayment period, one
who needs to avail himself or herself of the opportunity wouldn’t need to depend on
ads or second hand information. We would include consolidation information for all
who had loans falling within the eligible limits, and certainly for those who evi-
denced difficulties in handling a debt of a given size.

These then are my concerns:  ° . . )

To maintain a consolidation program for the benefit of those who need an easing
of the burden and therefore to prevent defaults. ’

To allow gtate agencies which are either direct lenders or-secondary markets to
share the opportunity to offer consolidation cost increases over which the agency
would have no control. .

Finally to permit all borrowers to become equally familiar with the opportunity to
ease their debt burden through consolidation and to do so at those times in the re-
payment cycle when it is most advantageous to them. I thank you for this opportu-
nity. I shall be happy to respand to any questions. :

Mr. SimonN. Mr. Nicholson, executive director of the Indiana Sec-
ondary Market for Educational Loans.

STATEMENT OF ROY A. NICHOLSON, EXECUTIVE IJIRECTOR,
INDIANA SECONDARY MARKET FOR EDUCATION LOANS, INC.

Mr. NicHoLsoN. Mr. Chairman and members of the subcommit-
tee, I am pleased to have the opportunity to testify on the student

’
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loan consolidation issue. 1 will summarize my testimony and ask
that the entire statement be placed in thggrecord.

Mr. SimonN. It will be, as will all the others, if they have not al-
ready. \ 2

[Prepared statement of Roy Nicholson follows:]

Pregaren StatemeyTt oF Rov A, Nicvorson, Execunve Direcror, INDiANA
SeconpaArRY MARKET FOR Epucanon Loans, Inc.

Mr. Chairman and members of the Subcommittee, my name is Roy Nicholson. I
am the Executive Director of the Indiana Secondary Market for Education Loans,
Inc. (Indiana Secondary Market). I am pleased to have the opportunity to testify on
the student loan consolidation issue. o

{

Pl BACKGROUND

The Indiana Secondary Market is a not-for-profit corporation which was author-
1zed by the Indiana General Assembly in 1980 and in the sanc¢ year was designated
by the Governor of Indiana to serve as j‘he state secondary market for education
loans. o

The creation of the Indiana Secondary Market resulted from tindings and recom-
mendations of a Task Force appointed in 1979 by the Governor of Indiana. The Task
Force was comprised of prominent representatives of the state government, indus-
try, and the education and financial communities of Indiana. The Task Force .was
charged with determining whether the then current delivery mechanism for educa-
tion loans was sufficient to mect the demz}nds of the 1980°s and beyond. The Task
Force accurately forecasted the rapidly escalating demand for education loans, and
further determined that the supply of loans would not be sufficient to meet that
demand. The Task Foree recommended the creation of a state secondary market
which wonld provide lLiquidity ?Ad thereby encourage and enable lendegs to satisfy
the growing demand for loans.{ ‘

The Indiana Secondary Market has met the challenge. We have been fully oper-
ational since August 1981. We have purchased 43,730 loans totaling greater than
$85 million. We have entered into loan purchase commitments totaling $130 million
with approximately one-third of the active originators of student loans in Indiana.
Those - lenders account for approximately 70 percent of the annual student loan
volume in Indiana. Wep- have also introduced an ALAS/PLUS Purchase Program
and a Lender of Last Resort Program. To the best of my knowledge, all qualified
applhicants are able to obtain’ student loans in Indiana. Indiana lenders have in-
creased their annual volume of guaranteed student loans from $30 million in 1979
to a current rate of approximately $122 million per year.

We have successfully financed our loan purchgse program by issuing tax-exempt
debt during the ~peri<x¥ of time in which the tax-exempt debt market was at its all
time worst. During the same period of time unemployment rates have been at the
hi;fhc:st level in forty years and yet we have been able to maintain a default rate
below 2 percept of loans in repayment.

We offer a service which stugonts, families, schools, and lenders of Indiana need
and desire. Given our success in becoming operational and growing under recent dif-
ficult conditions, we are optimistic that we will be able to continue to provide vital
support in the future. :

P

EXTENDING CONSQIIDATION

| The Indiana Secondary Market strongly supports the consolidation of student
oans. .

The key elements of loan consolidation are (1) the ability of the consolidating
party to act un behalf of a student borrower ts aggregate his/her student loan in-
debtedness under one promissory note, and (2) more importantly, the ability to pro-
vide such borrowers with a repaymenti arrangement at more favorable terins, par-
ticularly a longer repaynjent schedule and therefore lower monthly payraents.

The loan consolidation piogram represents a logical change in the evolution of the
Guaranteed Student Loan Program {GSLP] since 1565. Annual and cumulative loan
limits as well as the cos{ of-borrowing as evidenced by the.interest rate payable by
the borrower and the imposition of an originatign fee have increased dramatically,
however, the maximum repayment term of ten years has not changed.

Eight years ago, a borrower who had accumulated the maximum amount of guar-
anteed student foan deb. ($10,000) would be required to make monthly payments of
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$116.11 for ten years. Today, the horrower who incurs the maximum GSL debt .

($25,000) would have o make monthly payments of $316.69 for ten years, almost
three times as much. Obviously, the addition of ALAS/PLUS debt would significant-

- ly increase the monthly repayment obligation. Under the loan consolidation pro-

ram, the monthly payment on a 20 year schedule would be a more manageabhle

193.82 and even lower on a graduated payment basis. ’

‘There has been a trend in the last {gw years in the face of governmental budget
constraints on one hand and rapidly escalating costs of education on the other hand
to impose an increasingly large share of the burden on the student in the form of
loans. -Ina%nuch as the goal is to collect the loans, it inakes no sense to blindly en-
force unredsonable, inflexible and outdated repayment terms Whl(‘h are more apt to
precipitate a default or bankruptcy .

AUTHORIZING STATE SECONDARY MARKETS AND DIRECT LENDERS TO S‘,&HOUDATE LOANS

" The present network of direct lenders and secondary markets, including both
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state secondary markets and the Student Loan Marketing Association [Sallie Mae},
represents a system of support for students, families, schools and lenders which has
been eminently successful in ensuring an adequate flow of capital into higher educa-
tion during a period of rapid increase in demands on the GSLP.

Few would deny that private lenders could not hawve satisfied the tremendous
demand for student loans without the active support of the network of secondary
markets and direct lenders.

As the holder of student loan accounts of approximately 24,000 borrowers, the In-
diana Secondary Market is frequently requested to consolidate
student borrowers. We routinely contact the other holder or holders

stances where the other lehder is willing to deliver the promissory note fortsale and
in the event that the other loans are guaranteed by the Indiana guaranty agency.
With loan consolidation authority we could take initiative on behalf of the borrower
lo pay off any loan made under the Higher Education Act of 1965 and execute a
new note with the borrower. We could also of course lengthen the repayment period
for larger debts. .

We have the interest and -ability to implement a loan consolidation program on
behalf of borrowers served by us. The authorization to consvlidate loans however is
not simply a matter of being able to provide a valuable service to borrowers to help
them avoid a default aor bankruptcy situation. In fact, the viability of inany second-
ary markets and direct lenders is threatened by the coritinued operation of the loan
consolidation program in its present form.

To date, the Indiana Secondary Market has been able to purchase all student
loans at par, thereby creating no disincentives to lenders who make small balance
loans. The average outstanding principal balance of loans in our portfolio is $3,200.
Given that servicing costs are approximately equal on small and large balance ac-
counts and that revenues vary directly with account balance, we lgse money on each
small balance account. The problem is aggravated by the fact that account balances
decrease during repayment wRile operating costs, including wages, rents, costs of
supplies and correspondence,”are increasing. It is imperative that we have a suffi-
cient number of larger balance accounts which generate surpluses to offset the
logses on the smaller accounts.

Under the current loan consolidation program, Sallie Mae has removed from aur-

portfolio $425,000 in loans with an average indebtedness of $6,250, approximately
twice the size of our average loan account. Given the relatively high cost of borrow-
ing in the tax-exempt market at this time and the fact that we receive only one-half
the special allowance for most loans in our portfolio, the present loan consolidation
program operated by Sallie Mae poses a threat to our continued viability. Our abili-
ty to repay our outstanding bonds and to secure additional capital coulJbe jeopard-
ized if a large portion of high indebtedness accounts were taken from our portfolio.

At the very YO ast, if we are unable to offer a comparable consolidation program
we will be forced to establish certain minimums with respect to loan sizes eligible
for sale. This will have the unfortunate effect of discouraging lenders from making
smaller loans and may cause serious hardships for vocational and commuter stu-
dents in Indiana.

On the other hand, we are in a position to implement loan consolidation as an
additional service to complement our present services to borrowers and lenders. Our
success in encouraging lender participation in the GSLP is evidenced by the fact
that in less than two years we ﬁave developed working relationships with 157 Indi-
ana lenders which account for approximately $85 million of GSLoans per year. Qur
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#
ability to operate a responsihle secondary market is further evidenced by a default
rate of less than 2 percent.

% . LEGISLATIVE CHANGES

I recommend that the authority to consolidate loans be extended beyond August
1. 1983 and that state-designated not-for profit secondary markets and direct lend-
ers. as well as Sallie Mae, be authorized to participate in a loan consahdation pro-
gram. The existing network of secondary *markets and direct lenders has served all
parties extemely well The continued strength and viability of the current system
requires a shared responsibility for loan consolidation. Salhie Mae and the state-des-
ignated entities together can best effect the maximum benefits of the loan consohda-
ion program. Loan consoligation reduces the incidence of default and bankruptcy,
and represents a logical change in the evolution of the GSLP. '

I retommend that the interest rate for consolidated loans nat be set at 7 percent
which is presently the case, hut rather be determined for each consolidation by

‘averaging on @ dollar weighted basis the interest rates on the loans being consoli-

dated and rounding the resulting average to the next highest whole per cent. For
example, a borrower with $10,000 of 7 percent GSloans and $6,000 of 12 percent
ALAS loans would have a weighted average rate of 84875 percent and would receive
a consolidated loan at 9 percent. The borrower who avails himself of lower monthly
payments should not also enjoy the benefit of a windfail reduction in the interest
rate as may occur under the present loan cansolidation program.

I recommend that the minimums for determining eligibility for consolidation be
eliminated, so long as the length of repayment periods 18 determined by aggregatg,
loan amounts. For example, under the current program if a horrower owes two lend-
ers $2.000 each, his or her loans are not eligible for consolidation because of the
$5.000 fioor. The Indiana Secondary Market would like to be able to act on behalf of
the borrower in that case to consolidate his loans irito one $4,000 account. The ber-
rower would nevertheless be required to repay the debt within the current ten year
maximum period

Finally, I recommend that consideration be given to reducing the level of special
allowance payments made by tht Federal government with respect to consolidated
loans. I believe that loan consolidation, including extended repayment periods, is a
necessary change to assist in controlling default and bankruptcy claims, and repre-
sents fair and reasonable treatment of individual borrowers who have been required
to carry an increasing share of the rising costs of education. I understand that ex-
tending repayment periods increases the government's liability for special allowance
payments Recognizing the conflict hetween the need to offer extended repayments
on one hand and the increased cost ta the Federal government on the ather, as well
as the “profitability” of consolidated loans, I would support a reduction of the level
of special allowance payments on consolidated loans.

Thank you.

Mr. NicHorLson. Thank you.

The Indiana Secondary Market has successfully financed its loan
purchase programs by issuing tax-exempt debt under extremely dif-
ficult market conditions. During the same period of time unemploy-
ment rates have been at record levels and yet, we Have been able
to maintain a default rate below 2 percent of loans in repayment.
We offer a service which the citizens of Indiana need and desire.

The Indiana Secondary Market strongly supports the consolida-
tion of student loans. The board of directors of the National Coun-
cil of Higher Education Loan Programs is also on record in favor of
extending loans consolidation authority to its members.

The loan consolidation program represents a logical step in the
evolution of the guaranteed student loan program. Annual and cu-
mulative loan limits as well as the cost of borrowing, payable by
the student borrower have increased dramatically. However, if the
maximum repayment period of 10 years had not been changed.

Today the student who borrows the maximum amount has
monthly payments almost three times the size as the student who
borrowed the maximum 8 yearsfago. There has been a trend in
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recent years in the face of govgrmmend budget constraints on one
and, #and rapidly escalating costs of edupgtion on'the other hand,
to imgose an increasingly large share of tfie burden on the student
in the form of loans.

Inasmuch as the goal is to collect the lohns, it makes no sense’to
enforce unreasonalfle and inflexible repaymgent terms which are
more apt to precipitate a default or a banktuptcy. .

From the perspective of the Indiana $€condary et, the au-
thority to consolidate loans is not simp}f a mg&t’erp “being able to
provid);: a valuable service to borrowefs to hélp them avoid a de-
fault or a 'bankruptcy. In fact, the futdre viability of many second-
ary -magkets and direct londei"s’ﬁnay be threatened by the contin-
ued operation of the loan- consolidation program in  its present
form. ) .

.To date, the rvlngiana Secondary Market has been able to pur-
chase all student loans at. par thereby creating no disincentives.to
small lenders who wish to make small balance loans. The average
outstanding principle balance of loans in our portfolio is $3,200.
Given that servicing costs are approximately equal on small and
large balance accounts’ and that revenues vary directly with ac-.
count balance we lose money on each small balancé account.

It i1s imperative therefore that wé have a sufficient number of
larger balance accounts in order to generate surpluses to offSet the
losses on the smaller accbunts.

Under the current loan consolidatipn program Sallie Mae has re-
moved from our portfolio $425,000 in loans with an average indebt-
edness of $6,250, almost twice the size of our average loan account.
Given the relatively high cost of borrowing in the tax-exempt
market at this time and the fact that we receive on one-half the .
special allowance for most of the loans in our portfolio, the present
loan consolidation program could threaten our ability to repay our
outstanding bonds and to acquire additional capital. ,

If we are unable to offer a comparable consolidation program, we
will be forced to establish certain dollar minimums with. respect to
loans eligible for sale. This will save the ¢onsdlidation program.

Third, I recommend that the minimums for determining eligibil-
ity for consolidation be eliminated as long as the length of the re-’
payment period is determined by the aggreg.?te loan amounts.

For example, under the present program if a borrower owes two
lenders $2,000 each, his or her loans are not eligible for consolida-
tion because ol the $5,000 floor. The Indiana Secondary Market
would like to be able to act on behalf of thattborrower to consoli-
date his or her loans. into one $4,000 account. The borrower would
nevertheless be required to repay that debt within the current 10-
yvear maximum period. _

Fourth, I recommend that consideration be given to reducing the
level of special aliowance payments with respect to consolidated
loans. I believe that loan consolidation is necessary to assist in con-
trotling default and bankruptcy claims. I also understand that ex-
tending repayment periods increases the government’s liability for
special allowance payments.

Recognizing the conflict between the need to offer extended re-
payments on one hand and the increased cost to the Federal Gov-
ernment on the other, as well as the profitability of consolidated
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loans, 1 would sui)port a reduction of the special allowance pay-
ments on consolidated loans. ~
Thank you.

Mr. Simon. We thank you.

Our final witness on panel is Mr. Douglas R. Seipelt, the director
of the Colorado guaranteed studént loan program. N

[Prepared statement of Douglas Seipelt follows:)

Prerarebd STATEMENT OF Doucras R. Serpert, Directron, Cororapo GUARANTEED
STUBENT LOAN PROGRAM

Mr. Chairman and Members of the Committee, I am Douglas R. Seipelt, Director
of the Colorando Guaranteed Student Loan Program. ] thank you for the invitation
to speak today on the issue of loan consoli?ation in the Guaranteed Student Loan
Program. :

- At first glance, the issue of loan consolidation is simple. It should work to allow a
- holder of loans to assist students who are heavily indebted to one or more lenders to
spread out their length of repayment and to consolidate payments when they owe
~ more than on¢ lender. That’s where the simple part ends and the complexity of the
- Guaranteed Student Lean system takes over. Issues of interest rates, terms, guaran-
tors, lenders, secondary markets, and divislon of state and federal responsibilitics
complicate the proceedings. .

From a guarantpr’s perspective, the terms of the present Sallie Mae consolidation
system are straightforward. The current guarantor of record is replaced with a fed-
eral guarantee and my agency canceds the loan and I have no further responsibil-
ities. It 1s clear, simple, and t6 date has been acceptable to Colorado residents.

But, on the other hand, as the number of students facing repayment problems
grows, other entities such as the secondary market in my st.aya?'zmd individual lend-
ers who hold these students loans are asking why they are not allowed the privilege

’ of consolidating at least their own loans. The sccondary marlfet also asks why
\ should they not have the same eligibilities as SalligyMae under Higher Educa-
) tion Act since they are structured to perform thé& same function ¢n a statewide
basis. My lenders and the state secondary market are concerngd with issues of*loan
management, portfolio costs, customer liaison and cultivatioms In addition, Sallie
Mae is perceived as having an unfair market advantage in this area. -
In the long term, these issues affect lender and holder decisions as to profita¥ility,
restrictions on new loans, and overall participation, thus they cannot be ignored.
As Sallie Mae indicated & little over two weeks ago, in related Congressional testi-
mony, they do not wish to maintain a monopoly in the field of loan consolidation.
The GAO study related that numerous state secondary markets were both request-
ing this authority and capable of administering it. These twe [acts make me believe,
that within estal)J’lished national standards, state figencies and statewide secondary
markets should be granted loan consolidation authority. .
However, this decision oh the part of the Congress, would, create some questions
that would have to be answered. )
1. How would my and other agencies be compensated for the additional length of
guarantee commitment (student fees)?
2. Existing bond issues set limits on the types ol loans that can be purchased and
. terms of repayment. Would all new or special bond financing be required to offer
) loan consolidation?
( 3. Could statewide consolidators move across state cr guarantee agency bound-
aries to purchase loans?

4. Would my or other agencies receive additional federal administrative allow-
ances to manage the “new loan”? .

5. If a state did not participate in loan consolidation, who would be eligible to
offer this service to students in that state, Sallie Mae, other secondary markets,
other state agencies? - -

6. Would the students in Colorado receive the same consolidation benefits and eli-
gibilities as students who consolidate with Sallie Mae or in other states?

Assuming suitable answers to these questions and others which might surface are
forthcoming, Congress should extend loan cgnsolidation to the states to create parity
with Sallie Mae. )

This suggestion though does not solve the problem of national or statewide lend-
ers who wish to hold their GSL loans. They should not be asked or forced to sell
them to Sallie Mae or state consolidators when they wish to maintain their relation-
ship with the students who have high balance debts.
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Keeping in mind the original legislative intent, I propose fhe following idea to
help these lenders. ' b )
To understand this recommendation; we must note the distinction between “con-
solidation” and extended reépayment terms. I propose that the GSL statutory repay-
ment language be extended to 15 years for certain students. This gives existing hold-
ers the option of performing the stated goal of debt management without utilizing
the full component packagt of “loan consolidation’; while maintaining their market «
share. The following could be the parameters for such a change: .
1. Qurrent holders (lenders) cou?d offer students a repayment plan with a 15
damortization if the student’'s GSL debt exceeded $7,500.
2, The interest rate for the extended period would remdih at the stated GSh
rowing rate, or if long term budgetary costs prohibited the Congress from rfai
ing the T percent'or Y percent rate, the rate could be increased to 9 perc
pereent for the extended berfefits. . - t.
3. Existing lenders or secondary markets could purchase all other GSL loans of
the student guaranteed by a single guarantor to meet the dollar minimut of $7,600.
4. The OPTIONS package of Sallie Mae for NDSL, FISL, and GSL mi%es would
still be available but only to eligible loan consolidators. '
- . Extension of the repayment terms does indrease special allowance costs to the
Federal Govérnment. f{owever, I believe that increase is not as substantial today;
special allowance costs-are less than default costs; special allowance rates are down,
/ as a result of lower national interest costs; and a mihimum balance combined with "
potentially raising the interest rate should overcome past opposition. This move
would kéep GSL loans with their existing lenders and potentially lessen the overall
demarfd for students utilizing the-loan consolidation program.

To reiterate, I recommend (1) we extend the “loan consolidation” capabilities of
-the Higher Education Act to guarantors and statewide secondary markets: and, (2)
propose legislation that would extend the length of repayment for selected GSL bor-
rowers to allow national and statewide lenders to maintain their portfolios as they
deem appropriate.

I thank you for your time and consideration and would welcome your comments
or questions. : :

STATEMENT O-F DOUGLAS R. SEIPELT, DIRECTOR, COLORADO
GUARANTEED STUDENT LOAN PROGRAM ‘

Mr. SerpeLT. Mr. Chairman and members of the committee, I.
thank you for the invitation to be before you today. Rather than
reading my testimony, I would request that it be entered in the -
record—— :

Mr. Simon. It will be. .

' Mr. SeipeLT [continuing]. And try to respond to some of the gen- . -
eral comments that my colleagues here have made rather than
going through my prepared text.

I bekeve the issue of loan consolidation is out in front of us for
some very good reasons. There are some major concerns that I as a
guarantor in the State of Colorado have and also the lenders in my
grogran’x in Colorado and also the direct secondary market in the

tate of Colorado.

The issues that have been brought in front of you this morning
concerning the repayment problems of students, the problems of
bond indentures as they relate to potential payoffs, as Mr. Borde
has indicated, the prob{em of lenders not being able to consolidat
debt{with students that they have are all important issues in the
program that loan consolidation brings to bear as it relates to the
issue) of whether Sallie Mae is the only loan consolidator in the
counfry and should that extension be granted to States’ guarantor
agéncies and secondary markets? . »

I 'think | would like to draw your attention back to just a little -
history orf loan consolidation which many of you well know. The
issue of lpan consolidation arose, in my opinion, for two reasons.
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No. 1, the issue of students who were indebting themselves to a
number of different programs, the natjgnal direct or national d
fense student loan in the old days, the guaranteed student loan and
the federally insured student loan program.

There was an issue amongst many students and Members of Con-
gress that.students were getting into so many programs that the
issue of their repayment terms and privileges could become an
1ssue for potential grr?aults or the ability to repay. So the issue of
loan consolidation then was created to solve that problem.

As an offshoot to that, and one of the considerations that I would
like to put in front of you today, was that at the time we were
making that deciSion, you were also making the decision concern-
ingﬁan 1ssue of thHe indebtedness level of students under the guaran-

ed student ldan .program. We had, at that point in time, in-
creased the debt limit of a student capable of borrowing on a
yearly basis and also the aggregate limits to the extent that today
we have students under the GSL only capable of borrowing a maxi-
mum of $12,500 as an undergraduate and $25,000 as a graduate
student.

So the issue of thé students’ ability to repay that in a 10-year re-
payment program under the concept of the current guaranteed stu-
dent loan program was very v1v1dp in many people’s minds at the
point in time that we made the decision of {oan consolidation as an
eligibility for debt repayment.

T think that the dilemma that I have had trying to address the
pohcy question of whether the States are granted, quote, unquote,

‘the privilege of loan consolidation” versus the issue of extended
repayment benefits in the guaranteed student loan component. of
that issue has been difficult for me because I do not have another
vehicle in which to really address the issue.

The only way that the problem of the guaran ed student loan
“component of this issue in terms of the high debt balance of stu-
dents and also the issue of my secondary market as it relates to
debt that they have incurred under the program to purchase guar-
anteed student loans and the’issue of lenders in my State as it re-
lates to their ability t¢ maintain rapport and customer relationship
with students who they have lent their funds to, who the i,lf wish to
continue having a rapport with those students through the repay-
ment process comes to %ear

That is why my testimony has related that as long as the only

vehicle for this discussion in terms of trying to solve the concerns.

of the Colorado lenders in the‘secondary market relates to the
_issue of extending repayment benefits'under the guaranteed stu-
dent loan program so that students have the ability to consolidate
that debt, ?beheve the issue then should be that the State of Colo-
rado and other lenders under our program and State agencies do
need to have the benefits of loan consolidation.

But I would also draw your attention back to the dlSCUSSlOIl that
we had in those days about’extended repayment benefits in the

aranteed student loan program. One o? the issues that we ad-

ressed—we did not, as you will remember, feel that it was impor-
tant at that point in time to extend the repayment benefits because
of the Federal costs in the outyears as 1t relates to the costs of the
special allowance.
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At that point in tilne we were looking at special allowance rates

* which were almost equal to the cost of the direct subsidy. Special

allowance at that time was 7%, 8, 82 percent, 9 percent, as it re-
lated to the 7 or 9 percent consideration of the direct subsidy.

Therefore, the outyear costs and the budgetary costs for extend-
ing repayment terms in the guaranteed student loan program were
quite significant. I believe at this point in time that I am not sure
that that budgetary constraint is still there, as it relates to the
issue of extended repayment benefits in the guaranteed student
loan progran.

Therefore, my recommendation is that I believe that we must
have a vehicle to address the concerns of the secondary market in
my State and the lenders in my State. I do not believe, that those

..two qntities should be precluded from continuing a/felationship
~with students who they have lent to under their college degree as
it relates to their repayment privileges and not be forced or other-
wise to gell that loan off to a loan consolidator whether it be the

I think it’s imPbctant that we also, at the same time, address the
policy question of' exfending consolidation benefits to the States,
that we address the concern of extended repayment benefits in the
privileges of the gaaranteed student loan program as one compo-
nent of the issue of loan consolidation as it relates to NDSL, feder-
ally insured loans, potentially ALAS loans and also the guaranteed
student loan component. - o

In my paper I have given you some recommendations as it re-
lates to that and I would like just for a second to go through those.

I believe that the issue for my lenders, at least the direct lenders
in my State, the commercial lenders, that issue would be solved if
we were to grant them the condition of extended repayment bene-
fits under. some constrdined lending requirements such as the exs
tended repayment benefits would be. for g 15-year period under the
guaranteed student loan program and that we commit those repay-
ments to only students who have a consolidated GSL_debt of at.
least a $7,500 loan amount. b

I believe also that to address the concernj-1 personally believe
that the interest rate as it relates to the consideration of special
allowance today could remain the same for this extended repay-
ment benefit, but if it was the consensus of the Congress that for
budgetary constraint that that cost was too great to offer these ex-
tended repayment benefits, then 1 would propose.that we do then
raise the interest rate for the consolidated repayment loan under
GSL to a figure of 9 percent for 7 percent loans or a figure of 11
percent for 9 percent loans and there is nothing magic about those
two numbers. . _ ' .

I think those two numbers would be set as it relates to the budg-
etary constraints or the cost to the Federal Government under the
special gllowance program. ) .

Bah (’th’i«n »that at that same time if you were then to grant the con-

+  solidation benefitto.the State of Colorado or the secondary market
" in the State of Coloradd that the needs of Colorado residents as it
relates to consolidating NDSL’s, FISL's and GSL’s could well be
met, but the other factors of lenders in my State who wish to main-

~
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tain their relationship and customer rapport with their lenders
would also be solved at the same time. .

I think also, at least in the State of Colorado, what you would
find is that the need of loan consolidation as an entity would be
lessened because the major component in my State of indebtedness
is in the GSL faction of fhis equation not in cross referencing a
number of two or three or four different other programs.

With that, Mr. Chairman, I would be more than happy to answer
any questions you might have.

Mr. Sion. Thank you very much. ,

L.et me just make a few comments as I sense where we are.

No. 1, as an accommodation and a convenience for those who
have borrowed, this is a desirable thing, but probably not a high
priority thing from the viewpoint of the Federal Government.

No. 2, on the cost factor, I have a hard time getting hold of any-

thing. Is this going 'to cost the Federal Government $2 million, $80
million? I don’t know. That is a concern.:
. No. 3 goes beyond the accommodation ‘factor. To what extent,
when we have consolidation do we help institutions to make money
available to other students through NDSL repayment? To what
extl,ent are we encouraging the lenders, the banks, to stay in the
field?

I don’t know whether the gentleman from Citibank who testified

"is still here.

Mr. BikrLEN. T am. -

Mr. Simon. If you don’t mind pulling up a chair and if I can call
on you again—I wonder if you would comment on those general
kind of categories and specifically, I would be interested in what
you think the perspective is, not only of Citibank, but for banking
institutions’ attitude toward this whole question. Maybe if I can
refer thig to you first. fg

Mr. BikLEN. Yes. I think I can speak for most of the other lend-
ers. As I indicated earlier, I have spoken to a number of other lend-
ers on this subject and I think there is a real concern, given that
lenders cannot offer this particular product or service, that they
are put in a position of really competing unfairly. What we find
happening is that we are losing our high balance loans. The fact
remains that those loans cost us the same to service as any other
loan does. That is a real concern to us.

I think complementing that is the fact that we lenders have had
experience in consolidating loans, given that any time you make
more than one loan to an individual you have to consolidate those
loans into one when they go into repayment and you negotiate a
new repayment schedule and so forth.

So this is not entirely new although this would be a somewhat
different process. The other point I made—earlier was that I think
in an administrative sense that having the lenders participate in
this program I think would ease the burden on students. There
would be no need necessarily to bring in an additional party that
would have to purchase the loans. One of the lenders that a{read
have them would simply buy the rest of them. So you wouldn’t
have to bring in another party and it would just be a lot simpler to
effect.

Mr. Simon. All right.
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A»v comments from any of the others on my reactions here?

Mr. Mapican. If I might, Chairman Simon.

Mr. SimoN. Yes.

Mr. Mabican. I understand what you mean wkgh you say this is
a matter of accommodation and probably not a matter of high pri-
ority to the Federal Government, but if I might have you consider
some of the extreme cases. We happen to be in Rhode Island, a
direct lender in the HEAL program, and we have a number of stu-
dents who are going into a variety of health professions institu-
tions. .

One of our greatest concerns recently has been students to whom
we have been advancing as much as $10,500 a year to attend veteri-
nary school. They are graduating with a $20,000-plus debt, not to
mention other debts thqy may have incurred either in GSL or
NDSL in undergraduate school or even in their veterinary program
for costs other than direct tuition. We have students graduating
with $60,000 worth of debt and the typical starting salary for a new
veterinary is about $18,000. -

It seems to me that we have to express concern for the ability of
those students to meet that kind of obligation and consider 4t some-
thing more than an accommodation. It becomes a necgessity, I
think, to avoid the excessive costs that might be incurred in bank-
ruptcy and other kinds of default. Many of these studepts, their
first contact is to say, “I have a big probleln and I havé, to have
graduated repayment,” and we are attempting to deal wi\h that.

But I think the fact that we offer the program and that sudents
take advantage of it in anticipation of some great capacity fo repay
and then to find out that this hasn’t occurred and that ey need
help becomes something that has to be of considerabl& social con-
cern.

Mr. SkrpeLT. Mr. Chairman, I would like to follow up on Mr. Bik-
len’s comment. My testimony and my proposal is directly related to
the structure of the State of Colorado as it relates to the lending
community. I have concerns for the secondary market in the State
of Colorado because they are a purchaser of student loans as it re-
lates to liquidity in the State of Colorado. . .

On the other hand, my secondary market in Colorado is n'bt a
direct lender. All of the loans madé in Colorado, almost $300 mil-
lion to date in the last 3 years, are direct loans made by lenders in
the State of Colorado, about 225 individual lenders. Over 80 per-
cent of that paper is still held in those lenders’ portfolios. Most of
those lenders that do not sell to the secondary market in Colorado
have participated in the program because it is a customer relation-
ship program.'lt is a program that they utilize to both cross-sell
other lender services in relationship to other loans, deposits,
‘demand deposits and other things, that they have visualized the
guaranteed student loan program as part of a generalized credit
package to an individual and a family. .

“Therefore, it is very important to them if their consideration,
-both from a cost factor and a participation factor, is whether or not-
they can maintain that graduate -student’s indebtedness after the
student has gotten out o%rschool and goes into repayment. If they
cannot maintain that account for the next 10 or 12 years in the re-
payment status and potentially make other loans and other credit
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and other banking relationships available to that customer then
they, I feel, are not totally willing to participate on ‘the front end
in making that loan in the first place.

So 1 have some considerable concern about their eligibility to
partlclpate in this, quote, unquote, “loan consolidation mecha-
nism.

Mr. NicHoLsoN. Mr. Chairman, I would like to comment on your
first two points as well and tie them together. The matter of loan
consolidation or extension of repayment as a cénvenience, I want
to concur with m;\colleagues that it really is pmnore than a matter
of convenience. In the long run, the Federal Gpvernment is apt to
save money, not lose money by avoiding’ the|defaults that come
with forcing repayments into a 10-year period.

From day one of the program, 1965——

Mr. Simon. If I may interrupt. One of my concerns here is that it
looks to me like maybe we are helping tl}';e students wh¢ are not
likely to default anyway. Those who have defaulted are not going
to get consolidation. Is that correct?

Mr. NicHOLSON. Yes.

Mr. SiMoN. Those who have defaulted are not. So what we are
doing is that we are taking the low-risk student and providing as-
sistance?

Mr. NicHoLsoN. There is an argument, Mr. Chairman, that the
high indebtedness students are more apt to repay their loans, that
the default rate on those loans is lower. I think that’s documented.

On the other hand, there are many students—and we have expe-
rienced this situation—who have graduated owing a lot of money
and simply cannot repay it within the 10-year period. In 1976, the
" most you could borrow in this program was $10,000. Now in GSL
alone you can borrow $25,000. Now your payments will be three
times gs high. It will be over $300 a month as soon as you leave
school and enter your base period.

So I think there’s a need. But there is also very definitely a cost
to the Federal Government. On a 10- ear repayment on a $20,000
the Federal Government will pay $3,000 in spemal allowance over a
10-year period on a $20,000 loan. Now if that $20,000 worth of loans
18 consolidated for 20 years and extended for 20 years, the special
allowance payments would be five times as much; it would be over
$15,000. So there is a very real cost to the Federal Government of
this program. -

I would like to suggest that that cost is greater than it needs to
be. I think that there is a need for loan consolidation and recogniz-
ing that need, I think that there ought to be a concession made on
the part of those people who think there is a need, recognizing the
budget problems of the Federal Government, that the special allow-
ance on consolidated accounts be reduced.

The Indiana Secondary Market is able to operate in the black
buying accounts that average $3,200. Sallie Mae is able to generate
handsome profits buying accounts that average $5,000. The ac-
counts that we are talking about here are averaging well over
$10,000. There is a profit potential there that can be reduced with-
out creatin% significant disincentives for those of us who wish to
consolidate loans on behalf of students.

Mr. SiMoN. Yes?

ok
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Mr. Bornpen. Mr. Chairman, I, too, would 1ike to make some com-
ments. | don’t think that anyone else has addressed the relation-
ship of the educational institutions and the possibility t®rough loan
consolidations of, in effect, prepaying NDgLs and putting more
money into circulation in the institutions.

I did, in fact, talk with a person at one of our major institutions
n Kentucky yesterday on this particular point. To his credit, I
guess, he called me rather than me calling him. The point he was
making is that he can not cover his servicing costs on NDSI, at the
3-, 4-, and 5-percent incomes and he, therefoxe 1s very interested in
mnnmg some sorial security number sdrts with us for us to tell
him which of those borrowers have (GSL’s so that 'he can then send
lists of names to Sallie Mae.

| explained to him that we rathex like those high balance GSl.'s
because they make it possible for us t& make those low- bd]dnC(‘
loans available to his students. '

We could do this. We could identify a of peop who are eligi-
ble for consplidation and probably need LOIlSOlldd ion but it’s eco-
nomically not a very good decision for us.tp créam our own portfo-
lios of the high-balance loans.

So there is a great interest on the campus in that area of consoli-

"dation.

On a couple of other points that you mentioned, the cost factar, 1
agree that it 1s very difficult to get a hold on that but would again
refer to the table on page 4 of my remarks. While it’s difficult to
get a hold on the cost of setup, the cost of advertisement, acquisi-
tion, it’s not too difficult to get a hold on the cost by which special
allowances increase when a loan is consolidated out of a portfolio
that has been financed in the tax-exempt market.

We get half the special allowance; the non-tax-exempt, people get
a full special allowance. So certainly, to the extent that we are
losing accounts, the special allowance is going up substantldlly cut
rently. -

I think if the Justification for the progrdm 1s to have an impact
on defaults, we ought to simply require the people who are 60, or
perhaps even more days delinquent, be eligible for consolidatfon as
well. I recognize there are some difficulties in that, but certainly I
think those difficulties can be managed. I am sure that we could
manage 60-day delinquent consolidation in Kentucky.

Finally, you addressed the issue of whether this would help keep
lenders in. I agree with the gentleman from Citicorp that it would,
because they are very, very aware of servicing costs and they know
that if large volumes of loans get consolidated out, that their serv-
icinig costs may not be met on those lower balance loans

So I think you hit three very excellent points with respect to thls
i1ssue and it seems to me that it’s solvabF bv extending it and by
making the law much more specific.

Mr. SiMoN. One final question,

A couple of you touched on the need in commenting. I wonder if
the other three of you—if I can pull ypu in as a witness again here,
Mr. Biklen—to what extent is tElS really a need or to what extent
is this simply an accommodation that maybe we ought to make,
but it is not a hlgh priority item if the costs are going to be a major
factor here?

122 i




117

Mr. BikLeN. To the extent that it is a need, I think it's difficult .
to comment on that. We have seen our sales of these things picking
up dramatically in the last two months, I would say. I would at-
tribute that primarily to the advertising campaign that has been
-going on. ‘

In the sense of what is the need out there—and I think this
really gets back to how does all of this really tie to the default rate.
Would these people pay regardless of whether or not they could do
this program? I don’t know the answer to that. The only thing I
could suggest—and I don’t know if this information is available,
but as I said earlier, if it were possible to determine at what point
are these loans being consolidated, at what point in repayment are
they being consolidated and get a fix on that—are they 1 year into
" repayment, are they 2 years or whatever, and then you could tom-
pare that to, if it was available again, the history of defaults that
" have occurred in the normal GSL and NDSL programs up to that
point in repayment. Then we could get an assessment of what is
really the impact of this program on defaults and, until we know
that, I don’t think you can really make the judgment of what is the
need for this program. '

Mr. SimoN. Any further comments?

Mr. SkipELT. Mr. Chairman, I believe that the need in this con-
text is sort of like a moving freight train. The statistics to date as
it relates to the Sallie Mae loan consolidation numbers are really
insignificant as it relates to the total portfolio that is setting out
there in the guaranteed student loan program, the NDSL and/or
potentially in the ALAS/PLUS component.

I believe though that the circumstances that we are seeing that
the gentleman from Indiana proposed is that as we cpntinué
through the cohorts of the guaranteed student loan program
through the next 3 to 5 years of the massive amount of loans that
we put under guarantee in this program, as those loans become
due and payable in the repayment sequence, the need for a struc-
tured extended repayment, extended potential payoff, students will
increase dramatically, because, as we—just over the last 2 years
from the guarantee agency perspective, we have increased the av-
erage debt per student by over $1,500 per student. That is quite sig-
- nificant in less than a 2-year time period. What we are seeing is
that due to the cost of education and other related student aid pro-
grams, that debt burden of students is rising and they must contin-
ue to borrow as their higher education costs continue. So I believe
that the issue may not be as grave and needy today, but in the
next 2 or 3 or 5 years, it will increase dramatically.

Mr. Simon. That’s a good point.

Mr. Mapigan. Chairman Simon.

Mr. Simon. Yes? -

Mr. MapiGan. There is one other area too that has not been
brought up in any testimony so far and that is the problem of po-
tential consolidation for parent loans, which, of course, is a rela-
tively new program. But here is a situation where parents make
consecutive loans for 4 years in a row up to a maximum of $3,000
and find that these obligations are accumulating each with its own *
separate repayment period and potentially with different interest
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rates, we already have some parents, of course, who borrowed at 14
percent and then made additional loans at 12 percent.

It may be important to consider the need in that particular area
for potential consolidation as well.

Mr. BorDEN. Mr. Chairman, with respect to the need for consoli-
dation issue, I tend to agree completely with Doug’s statements
that the future need may be greater than the current need.

However, it’s one of those kinds of issues where you almost need
to legislate good judgment on the part of the people offering to con-
solidate because we see a lot of cases where students may have
only $4,000 or $5,000 in loans and they need an extended repay-
ment period because they either haven’t completed the educational
program or they are simply in an occupation which won’t support
those kinds of repayments.

But it’s a two-edged sword to the extent that you raise that
$5,000 threshold, you are, in effect, limiting theconsolidation pro-
gram to the doctors, the lawyers, graduate students, who have
probably gone through the programs and completed many of them
and have the highest capability to pay.

To the extent you lower that threshold, you are, in effect, encour-
aging extensive increases in special allowance payments that would
be due from the Federal Government. So, I just sympathize with

the fact that'it is a problem as to how you solve that dilemma. But

subjectively, and baséd upon our "experience, with about $179 mil-
lion in student loans in Kentucky, we see a lot of people who have
a need to consolidate some extended and reduced repayment terms,

Thank you.
. Mr. SiMoN. We thank you.

I am going to call on Mr. Penny in a moment, but we may want
to get back to you. We are going to have to move rapidly on this
now and make some decisions soon.

. %r. Penny.

r. PENNY. Mr. Chairman, this may have been covered while I
was gone, but I am curious about the competition between all the
lenders for consolidating loans and whether that is going to result
in the circumstance where Sallie Mae is no longer going to partici-
pate in the consolidation at all, if we open it up to private lenders
and to direct lenders, to States who might be direct lenders.

Mr. Nicnorson. If I may, 1 would like to comment on that.”

My colleague from Citibank isn’t going to like to hear me say
this, but I don’t think that-it would be’a good idea to extend con-
solidation to all lenders. Lenders would be then highly motivated
to take in as many large balance accounts as they can, because, as
I said, large balance accounts are profitable accounts.

That will, leave those of us who don’t have a choice but to buy
student:loans in jeopardy. We will be left with the smaller balance
accountg. We are not in a position of the banks, where if we can’t
operaté in the black or break even at what we do, then we can't go
out and make car loans or second mortgages. We are in this one
business because basically the Congress has put us there.

We offer a valuable service to citizens of the States. To allow
banks, as well as Sallie Mae, as well as State secondary markets all
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to compete in this programyl think, would be detrimental to the
future of the program as we know it and of its recent success.

Mr. BorpeN. I think one way to perhaps limit that competition is
to incorporate a requirement that, the first attempt at consolida-
- tion be made by an entity which is a holder of one of the loans to
be consolidated. One of the benefits of this is that you substantially’
reduce the cost of data collection in convysion to the consolidated
loan. -

Another thing is.that if you are dealing with secondary markets
or direct lenders, you could require that at the point the loan is
made, there be a d);sclosure as to the capability or the availability
of consolidation by that particular lender.

I would then say that if you have a borrower who is eligible that
no other consolidation agent holds a loan for that, that person
ought to have the capability to go directly to Sallie Mae.

Mr. PENNY. Thank you. )

Mr. SerpeLt. Mr. Chairman, could I make one response to that?

I believe, Mr. Penny, that my testimony speaks directly to the
issue that Roy just raised. I personally do not believe that it:is good
public opinion to offer the quote, unquote, “loan consolidation
mechanism” to over 1,500 entities in this country as it relates to all
the potential lenders—State secondary markets, State agencies °
themselves. ‘

On the other hand, due to the points that I made before, I thmk
we need to be very careful not to put the lenders, the lenders them-
selves who put up the money in tﬁe first place, many of which hold
their loans through repayment, into an untenable situation that
‘they cannot compete with the secondary market in Colorado or the
secondary market in Indiana or Kentucky or otherwise, because
the issue for them is extended repayment benefits on loans that
they wish to hold, not the issue of, quote, unquote, “loan consolida-
tion.” So I think we have to be careful not to forget where the
funds come from in the first place. )

Mr. BikLEN. Yes. I would echo what Doug just said. In terms of
your original question, “What might this do to Sallie Mae?”’ I still
think that there would be a need for Sallie Mae to the extent that
they would be making consolidations that might run across guaran-
tor lines, that would run acrosg NDSL—I gon’t believe they are
consolidating HEAL loans now*but I think you would still find
that type of need. .

A?ain, in reflecting on what Doug just said, I think what we are
really talking about is if the lender has a loan with them, to allow
us to make the consolidation, too. I think that’s the basic issue.
Otherwise, you are at a tremendous competitive disadvantage and -
you would really have some questions about the program.

Mr. MApIGAN. If I might comment briefly also.
- We are really not so interested, at least from my point of view,
in competing as we are in protecting ouxselves against loss. If we
suffer loss, we are in a real difficult sitis{jon. As Mr. Nicholson

pointed out, we cannot get into other markets. So once those high
* dollar average loans are gone or once we put loans up in repay-
‘ment at startup cost and then have those loans bought immediate-
ly, we suffer real substantial loss and we have to protect ourselves

against that.
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Mr. PENNY. I have no further questions. ,

Mr. Simon. | think minorijy counsel has some questions. Mr.
Dean? '

Mr. DeaN. I would like to ask the panel to comment on a state-
ment made by Mr. Fox earlier. ‘ B .

On page 20 of his testimony he says, “We do not believe that the

. concept of a weighted average interest rate is a viable one.” Mr.
N:qgoe's on to say, “If weighted rates were applied, the number of
permutations in combinations of monthly payments would be infi-
" nite, and the borrower could not be informed up front of the new
payméent schedules until after the new promissory notes were gen-

erated.” )

That’s the first thing I would like you to comment on. The
second one is, “It would be extremely .difficult to accurately gener-
ate afid control the Government interest billing if weighted rates
are reported to and must be validated by the Department of Educa-
tion.”

If each of you could comment on both of those, whether you
agree or disagree with Mr. Fox, and if you do disdgree, why you
don’t think these are problems with the weighted raﬁ.

Mr. BorpeN. I believe that if you permitted averaging to two or
three decimal places, that certainly 'you would have a great deal of
problems. But if you average and then round up to the nearest in-
teger, there should be no problem. In fact, the great majority would
be 7-, 8-, or 9-percent loans and we are going to have all of those
anffway. There might be some tens if we have HEAL loans in-
volved, and possibly it could go up to 11. But so long as you keep it
in that direct relationship of a full-integer interest rate—and the
rounding-up would also have the benefit of reducing special allow-
ance costs for the Government—it seems to me that both Sallie
Mae and the Department of Education have 'demonstrated a capa-
bility to handle special allowance billings on that basis. It’s just
adding a couple of other categories.

Mr. Nicnorson. I can’t improve on what my colleague from Ken-
tucky has said. I think he has said it very well.

Mr. DEAN. Please comment on the fact that the borrower will not
know the monthly schedule until after the note is issued: Again, it
would be a weighted average and the borrowers wouldn’t know
how much the consolidation amount would be until they got the
original notes from the holders. '

Mr. BorpeN. I don’t really understand that point because when
you get the information on the student loans to be consolidated, it’s
a relatively simple matter to then run that through the machine
and see wl?x'at the total amount to be paid off would be and what
the repayments would be on a monthly basis. It may create an in-
tervening step that would add some expense. You get the informa-

' tion in and then you send back to the borrower and say, “If you
choose to consolidate, these will be the terms, conditions, and re-
payment rates for such a consolidation or these are the options
that you have with respect to that.”

So 1t seems to me that that should be a problem.

Mr. DEAN. As I understand this—you wouldn’t be able to know
exactly what the repayment amount would be because you don’t
know what the balance is if a loan has been in repayment for 6 *

4
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months. Let’s say that one is a 7-percent loan ana then you have a
couple of 12 percent loans at various other stages. You wouldn’t be
able to tell the student, depending on how you were going to deter-
mine the weighted average, either the interest rate that they were
going to be paying or the monthly payment on it. This is because
you wouldn’t know what the balance was until after you had al-
ready sent notice to the holders of those notes and those notes had
come in.

Mr. BorpeN. I think that’s the equivalent of closure on a bond
issue where you are refinancing other debt. You have to pick a
point in time at which the consolidation would occur and you reach
that agreement or you state that date to the borrower and to the
other holders of obligations for the borrower and then you settle up
with tZe prior holders as a part of the closure mechanism.

It's ing that many of us have been through and I continue
to think that it's not an insurmountable difficulty.

Mr. NicHorsoN. What Mr. Fox has said is correct with respect to
the 1dea that you would average out to two or three decimal places.
The picture is changed entirely when you talk in terms of rounding
up to the nearest whole percent. With respect to the difficulty for
the Federal Government to audit bills, again, he’s entirely correct
in saying that that would be nearly impossible for them tg do, if we
were talking about rounding out to one or two or three decimal
places. It’s not true if we are talkmg about rounding up to the
whole integer.

Mr. DEAN. You would probably double or even triple the number
of different interest rates that would be in a portfolio for billing a
special allowance.

Mr. NicHoLsoN. Yes; that’s possible.

Mr. BikLEN. I think that what he might be getting at there is the
fact that if you ‘have one rate or two rates and you know what
those rates are going in, an individual would know what their out-
standing was and it would be very simple to calculate—based upon
the repayment term—what the monthly payments were to be.

On the other hand, if you were going to come up with—if you
were going to start averaging rates, you would not be able to refer
to a simple table. You would have to go through this weighted av-
erage calculationg I think that is what he was getting at there.

Mr. MADIGAN. I might just make the point also that our second-
ary market already purchases loans in repayment and we do have
the capacity for determining what the balance would be.

Mr. DEAN. Let me ask one last question.

Do you see problems with interfacing a weighted average interest
rate on these loans with the graduated repayment program? I un-
derstand that would be extremely complex and be nearly 1mgossr
ble to implement. Do you think that you could.implement this?

Mr. NicHowsoN. Yes, Mr. Dean, I do. Once the rate has been es-
tablished at 8 or 9 or 7 or 10, then the matter of applying the grad-
uated repayment formula is the same whether we are talking
about a 7-percent loan in the first place or an 8 or a 9. That's what
computers are for. [Laughter.]

Mr. Mapican. We work with a servicer and I checked with him
specifically to see what kind of problems he would have. Let me
say up front that he admitted that it is a very difficult problem to,
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solve initially, but it is a matter of solving how to program it and
once it is programed it no longer becomes a difficult problem.

Mr. BorpeN. Maybe the report language ought to specify that
Sallie Mae ought to share that technology with the guarantee
agency. [Laughter.]

Mr. SiMon. We thank you very much for your testimony.

We may very well be.-getting back to you for your reaction to
what we will be putting together.

Thank you very much. The hearing stands adjourned.

[Whereupon, at 11:49 a.m., on June 8, 1983, the subcommittee
was adjourned.| ° '
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